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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS

FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX

Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2015-06-12 | Complaint | JA1-JA31
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS - Douglas

McEachern I JA32-JA33
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS - Edward Kane I JA34-JA35
2015-06-18 | Amended AQOS - Ellen Cotter I JA36-JA37
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS - Guy Adams I JA38-JA39
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS - Margaret Cotter I JA40-JA41
2015-06-18 | Amended AQOS - RDI I JA42-JA43
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS — Timothy Storey I JA44-JA45
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS — William Gould I JA46-JA47
2015-08-10 | Motion to Dismiss Complaint I JA48-JA104
2015-08-20 | Reading International, Inc.

("RDI")'s Joinder to Margaret

Cotter, Ellen Cotter, Douglas

McEachern, Guy Adams, & I JA105-JA108

Edward Kane ("Individual

Defendants") Motion to Dismiss

Complaint
2015-08-28 | T2 Iflamtlffs Ver1f1€3d Shareholder I JA109-JA126

Derivative Complaint
2015-08-31 | RDI's Motion to Compel

Arbitration ! JA127-JA148
2015-09-03 In.dw}dual Defer}dants Motion to I JA149-JA237

Dismiss Complaint
2015-10-06 | Transcript of 9-10-15 Hearing on

Defendants' Motion to Dismiss &

Plaintiff Cotter Jr. ("Cotter Jr.")'s L1 JA238-JA256

Motion for Preliminary Injunction
2015-10-12 | Order Denying RDI's Motion to

Compel Arbitration 11 JA257-]A259
2015-10-19 8rder Rgz Motion to Dismiss I JA260-JA262

omplaint

2015-10-22 | First Amended Verified Complaint I JA263-JA312
2015-11-10 | Scheduling Order and Order

Setting Civil Jury Trial, Pre-Trial
Conference and Calendar Call

II

JA313-JA316
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS

FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2016-02-12 | T2 Plamjaffs First Amended 1 JA317-JA355
Complaint
2016-02-23 | Transcript of 2-18-16 Hearing on
Motion to Compel & Motion to II JA356-JA374
File Document Under Seal
2016-03-14 | Individual Defendants' Answer to
Cotter's First Amended Complaint Il JA375-JA396
2016-03-29 | RDI's Answer to Cotter, Jr.'s First
Amended Complaint 11 JA397-JA418
2016-03-29 | RDI's Answer to T2 Plaintiffs' First
Amended Complaint 11 JA419-JA438
2016-04-05 | Codding and Wrotniak's Answer
to T2 Plaintiffs' First Amended IT JA439-JA462
Complaint
2016-06-21 | Stipulation and Order to Amend
Deadlines in Scheduling Order Il JA463-JA468
2016-06-23 | Transcript of 6-21-16 Hearing on
Defendants' Motion to Compel & IT JA469-]A493
Motion to Disqualify T2 Plaintiffs
2016-08-11 | Transcript of 8-9-16 Hearing on
Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment, Motion to IL I | JA494-JASIS
Compel & Motion to Amend
2016-09-02 | Cotter Jr.'s Second Amended
Verified Complaint 1 JAS19-JAS75
2016-09-23 | Defendant William Gould III, 1V,
(”Gould”)'s MS] V, VI ]A576']A1400
2016-09-23 | MIL to Exclude Expert Testimony
of Steele, Duarte-Silva, Spitz, VI JA1401-JA1485
Nagy, & Finnerty
2016-09-23 | Individual Defendants' Motion for JA1486-JA2216
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 1)
Sy . O VI, VII, (FILED
R Pt Temnation | VIf X | UNDER sEat
JA2136A-D)

MS]J No. 1)




JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX

Date

Description

Vol. #

Page Nos.

2016-09-23

Individual Defendants' Motion for
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 2)
Re: The Issue of Director

Independence ("Partial MSJ No. 2")

IX, X

JA2217-TA2489

(FILED
UNDER SEAL
JA2489A-HH)

2016-09-23

Individual Defendants' Motion for
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 3)
On Plaintiff's Claims Related to the
Purported Unsolicited Offer
("Partial MSJ No. 3")

X, XI

JA2490-JA2583

2016-09-23

Individual Defendants' Motion for
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 4)
On Plaintiff's Claims Related to the
Executive Committee ("Partial MSJ
No. 4")

XI

JA2584-JA2689

2016-09-23

Individual Defendants' Motion for
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 5)
On Plaintiff's Claims Related to the
Appointment of Ellen Cotter as
CEOQO ("Partial MSJ No. 5")

XI, XII

JA2690-JA2860

2016-09-23

Individual Defendants' Motion for
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 6)
Re Plaintiff's Claims Re Estate's
Option Exercise, Appointment of
Margaret Cotter, Compensation
Packages of Ellen Cotter and
Margaret Cotter, and related
claims Additional Compensation
to Margaret Cotter and Guy
Adams ("Partial MSJ No. 6")

XII, XIII,
XIV

JA2861-JA3336

2016-09-23

Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment ("MPS]")

X1V, XV

JA3337-JA3697

2016-10-03

Order Granting Cotter Jr.'s Motion
to Compel Production of
Documents & Communications Re
the Advice of Counsel Defense

XV

JA3698-JA3700




JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOILOGICAIL INDEX

Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2016-10-03 | Order Re Cotter Jr.'s Motion to

Permit Certain Discovery re XV JA3701-JA3703

Recent "Offer"
2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to MIL to Exclude XV JA3704-JA3706

Expert Testimony
2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual

Defendants' Partial-MSJ No. 1 XV JA3707-JA3717
2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual

Defendants' Partial MS] No. 2 XV JA3718-JA3739
2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual XV

Defendants' Partial MS] No. 3 JA3740-JA3746
2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual XV

Defendants' Partial MS] No. 4 JA3747-JA3799
2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual XV

Defendants' Partial MS] No. 5 JA3800-JA3805
2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual XV, XVI )

Defendants' Partial MSJ No. 6 JA3806-JA3814
2016-10-13 | Individual Defendants' Opposition XVI )

to Cotter Jr.'s MPSJ JA3815-]JA3920
2016-10-13 | RDI's Joinder to Individual

Defendants' Opposition to Cotter XVI JA3921-JA4014

Jr.'s MPS]
2016-10-13 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to Gould's XVI JA4015-JA4051

MS]J
2016-10-13 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to Partial XVI, )

MSJ No. 1 XVII JA4052-JA4083
2016-10-13 | Cotter, Jr.'s Opposition to Partial E

MS]J No. 2 XVII | JA4084-JA4111
2016-10-13 | Cotter, Jr.'s Opposition to Partial )

MS] No. 6 XVII | JA4112-JA4142
2016-10-17 | Cotter Jr.'s Appendix of Exhibits JA4143-JA4311

ISO Opposition to Individual XVII (FILED

Defendants Partial MS] No. 1 XVIII UNDER SEAL

JA4151A-C)




JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX

Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2016-10-17 | Cotter Jr.'s Appendix of Exhibits

ISO Opposition to Individual XVII | JA4312-JA4457

Defendants' Partial MSJ No. 2
2016-10-17 | Cotter Jr.'s Appendix of Exhibits i

ISO Opposition to Gould's MSJ] XVIL | JA4458-JA4517
2016-10-21 | Individual Defendants' Reply ISO

of Partial MSJ No. 1 XVIII | JA4518-JA4549
2016-10-21 | Individual Defendants' Reply ISO XVIII,

Partial MS] No. 2 Xix_ | JA4550-JA4567
2016-10-21 | RDI's Reply ISO Individual

Defendants' Partial MSJ No. 1 XIX JA4568-JA4577
2016-10-21 | RDI's Reply ISO Individual )

Defendants' Partial MSJ No. 2 XIX JA4578-JA4588
2019-10-21 | RDI's Consolidated Reply ISO

Individual Defendants' Partial MS] XIX JA4589-JA4603

Nos.3,4,5& 6
2016-10-21 | RDI's Reply ISO Gould's MSJ XIX JA4604-]A4609
2016-10-21 | Gould's Reply ISO MSJ XIX JA4610-JA4635
2016-10-21 | Declaration of Bannett ISO Gould's

Reply ISO MS] XIX JA4636-]A4677
2016-10-21 | Individual Defendants' Reply ISO

Partial MS] Nos. 3, 4, 5, and 6 XIX | JA4678-JA4724
2016-10-26 | Individual Defendants' Objections

to Declaration of Cotter, Jr.

Submitted in Opposition to Partial XIX JA4725JA4735

MSJs
2016-11-01 g/}‘ar}scrlpt of 10-27-16 Hearing on XIX, XX | JA4736-JA4890

otions

2016-12-20 | RDI's Answer to Cotter Jr.'s

Second Amended Complaint XX JA4891-JA4916
2016-12-21 | Order Re Individual Defendants'

Partial MSJ Nos. 1-6 and MIL to XX JA4917-]A4920

Exclude Expert Testimony
2016-12-22 | Notice of Entry of Order Re Partial

MS]J Nos. 1-6 and MIL to Exclude XX JA4921-JA4927

Expert Testimony
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX

Date

Description

Vol. #

Page Nos.

2017-10-04

First Amended Order Setting Civil
Jury Trial, Pre-Trial Conference,
and Calendar Call

XX

JA4928-JA4931

2017-10-11

Individual Defendants' Motion for
Evidentiary Hearing Re Cotter Jr.'s
Adequacy as Derivative Plaintiff

XX

JA4932-JA4974

2017-10-17

Gould's Joinder to Motion for
Evidentiary Hearing re Cotter Jr.'s
Adequacy as Derivative Plaintiff

XX

JA4975-JA4977

2017-10-18

RDI's Joinder to Motion for
Evidentiary Hearing re Cotter Jr.'s
Adequacy as Derivative Plaintiff

XX

JA4978-JA4980

2017-11-09

Individual Defendants'
Supplement to Partial MSJ Nos. 1,
2,3,5,and 6

XX

JA4981-JA5024

2017-11-21

RDI's Joinder to Individual
Defendants' Supplement to Partial
MSJ Nos. 1,2,3,5 &6

XX

JA5025-JA5027

2017-11-27

Transcript of 11-20-17 Hearing on

Motion for Evidentiary Hearing re
Cotter Jr.'s Adequacy & Motion to
Seal

XX

JA5028-JA5047

2017-11-28

Individual Defendants' Answer to
Cotter Jr.'s Second Amended
Complaint

XX, XXI

JA5048-JA5077

2017-12-01

Gould's Request For Hearing on
Previously-Filed MS]J

XXI

JA5078-JA5093

2017-12-01

Cotter Jr.'s Supplemental
Opposition to Partial MS] Nos. 1 &
2 & Gould MSJ

XXI

JA5094-JA5107

2017-12-01

Declaration of Levin ISO Cotter
Jr.'s Supplemental Opposition to
Partial MSJ] Nos. 1 & 2 & Gould
MSJ

XXI

JA5108-JA5118




JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS

FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2017-12-01 | Cotter Jr.'s Supplemental
Opposition to Partial MS]J Nos. 2 & XXI JA5119-JA5134
5 & Gould MS]J
2017-12-01 | Declaration of Levin ISO Cotter
Jr.'s Supplemental Opposition to )
Partial MS] Nos. 2 & 5 & Gould XXL 1 JAS135-JA5252
MSJ
2017-12-01 | Cotter Jr.'s Supplemental
Opposition to Partial MSJ Nos. 2 & XXI JA5253-JA5264
6 & Gould MSJ
2017-12-01 | Declaration of Levin ISO Cotter
Jr.'s Supplemental Opposition to )
Partial MS] Nos. 2 & 6 & Gould XXT | JA5265-]A5299
MSJ
2017-12-01 | Cotter Jr.'s Supplemental XXI
Opposition to Partial MS] Nos. 2 & XXIi JA5300-JA5320
3 & Gould MSJ
2017-12-01 | Declaration of Levin ISO Cotter
Jr.'s Supplemental Opposition to R
So-Called MSJ Nos. 2 & 3 & Gould XXII JA5321-JA5509
MSJ
2017-12-04 | Individual Defendants' Reply ISO
Renewed Partial MSJ Nos. 1 & 2 XXIL | JA5510-JA5537
2017-12-04 Sfoltl/[lgj s Supplemental Reply ISO XXII | JA5538-JA5554
2017-12-05 | Declaration of Bannett ISO Gould's XXII,
Supplemental Reply ISO MSJ xxi | JA5955JA5685
2017-12-08 | Joint Pre-Trial Memorandum XXIII | JA5686-JA5717
2017-12-11 | Transcript of 12-11-2017 Hearing
on [Partial] MS]Js, MILs, and Pre- XXIIT | JA5718-JA5792
Trial Conference
2017-12-19 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion for
Reconsideration of Ruling on XXIII
Partial MSJ Nos. 1, 2 & 3 and XXTV JA5793-JA5909

Gould's MSJ on OST ("Motion for
Reconsideration")




JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS

FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX

Date

Description

Vol. #

Page Nos.

2017-12-26

Individual Defendants' Opposition
to Cotter Jr.'s Motion For
Reconsideration

XXIV

JA5910-JA5981

2017-12-27

Gould's Opposition to Cotter Jr.'s
Motion for Reconsideration

XXIV

JA5982-JA5986

2017-12-27

Declaration of Bannett ISO Gould's
Opposition to Cotter Jr.'s Motion
for Reconsideration

XXV,
XXV

JA5987-JA6064

2017-12-28

Order Re Individual Defendants'
Partial MSJs, Gould's MSJ, and
MILs

XXV

JA6065-JA6071

2017-12-28

Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Stay on OST

XXV

JA6072-TA6080

2017-12-29

Notice of Entry of Order Re
Individual Defendants' Partial
MS]Js, Gould's MSJ, and MIL

XXV

JA6081-JA6091

2017-12-29

Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Rule 54(b)
Certification and Stay on OST

XXV

JA6092-JA6106

2017-12-29

Transcript of 12-28-17 Hearing on
Motion for Reconsideration and
Motion for Stay

XXV

JA6107-JA6131

2018-01-02

Individual Defendants' Opposition
to Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Rule 54(b)
Certification and Stay

XXV

JA6132-JA6139

2018-01-03

RDI's Joinder to Individual
Defendants' Opposition to Cotter
Jr.'s Motion for Rule 54(b)
Certification and Stay

XXV

JA6140-JA6152

2018-01-03

RDI's Errata to Joinder to
Individual Defendants' Opposition
to Motion for Rule 54(b)
Certification and Stay

XXV

JA6153-JA6161

2018-01-03

RDI's Motion to Dismiss for
Failure to Show Demand Futility

XXV

JA6162-JA6170

2018-01-03

Cotter Jr.'s Reply ISO Motion for
Rule 54(b) Certification and Stay

XXV

JA6171-]S6178




JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS

FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2018-01-04 | Order Granting Cotter Jr.'s Motion
for Rule 54(b) Certification XXV | JA6179-]A6181
2018-01-04 | Notice of Entry of Order Granting
Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Rule 54(b) XXV | JA6182-JA6188
Certification
2018-01-04 | Order Denying Cotter Jr.'s Motion
for Reconsideration and Stay XXV | JA6189-JA6191
2018-01-04 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Motion JA6192-]A6224
for Judgment as a Matter of Law (FILED
XXV | UNDER SEAL
JA6224A-F)
2018-01-05 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to RDI's
Motion to Dismiss for Failure to XXV | JA6225-JA6228
Show Demand Futility
2018-01-05 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to
Defendants' Motion for Judgment XXV | JA6229-JA6238
as a Matter of Law
2018-01-05 | Declaration of Krum ISO Cotter
Jr.'s Opposition to Motion for XXV | JA6239-JA6244
Judgment as a Matter of Law
2018-01-05 | Transcript of 1-4-18 Hearing on
Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Rule 54(b) XXV | JA6245-JA6263
Certification
2018-01-08 | Transcript of Hearing on Demand
Futility Motion and Motion for XXV | JA6264-JA6280
Judgment
2018-01-10 | Transcript of Proceedings of 01-8-
18 Jury Trial-Day 1 XXV | JA6281-JA6294
2018-02-01 | Cotter Jr.'s Notice of Appeal XXV | JA6295-JA6297
2018-04-18 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Compel XXV,
(Gould) XXVI JA6298-JA6431
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS

FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOILOGICAL INDEX

Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2018-04-23 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Omnibus JA6432-JA6561

Relief on OST

XXVL | i rR AL
XXVII
JA6350A;
JA6513A-C)

2018-04-24 | Gould's Opposition to Cotter Jr.'s

Motion to Compel XXVII | JA6562-]A6568
2018-04-24 | Gould's Declaration ISO

Opposition to Motion to Compel XXVIL | JA6569-JA6571
2018-04-24 | Bannett's Declaration ISO Gould's

Opposition to Motion to Compel XXVIL | JA6572-JA6581
2018-04-27 | Cotter Jr.'s Reply ISO Motion to

Compel (Gould) XXVII | JA6582-]A6599
2018-04-27 | RDI's Opposition to Cotter's

Motion for Omnibus Relief XXVIL | JA6600-]A6698
2018-05-03 | Transcript of 4-30-18 Hearing on

Motions to Compel & Seal XXVIL | JA6699-JA6723
2018-05-04 | Second Amended Order Setting

Jury Trial, Pre-trial Conference, XXVII | JA6724-JA6726

and Calendar Call
2018-05-07 | Transcript of 5-2-18 Hearing on XXVII,

Evidentiary Hearing XXVIIl | 1A6727-JA6815
2018-05-11 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to RDI's

Motion for Leave to File Motion XXVIIL | JA6816-JA6937
2018-05-15 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Motion XXVIII

to Compel Production of Docs re XXIX ” | JA6938-JA7078

Expert Fee Payments on OST
2018-05-18 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to Motion

to Compel Production of Docs re XXIX | JA7079-JA7087

Expert Fee Payments
2018-05-18 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Pre-

Trial Memo XXIX | JA7088-JA7135
2018-05-18 | Cotter Jr.'s Pre-Trial Memo XXIX | JA7136-JA7157
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS

FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2018-05-24 | Transcript of 05-21-18 Hearing on
Adams and Cotter sisters' Motion XXIX | JA7158-JA7172
to Compel
2018-06-01 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Motion
for Summary Judgment XXIX | JA7173-JA7221
("Ratification MSJ")
2018-06-08 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Compel on XXIX,
OST XXX, |JA7222-JA7568
XXXI
2018-06-12 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Relief Based
on Noncompliance with Court's
May 2, 2018 Rulings on OST XXXL | JA7569-]A7607
("Motion for Relief")
2018-06-13 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to
Ratification MS] XXXI | JA7608-JA7797
2018-06-13 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to RDI's XXXI,
Demand Futility Motion xxxi | JA7798-]A7840
2018-06-15 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Reply
ISO of Ratification MS] XXXIL | JA7841-]A7874
2018-06-18 | RDI's Combined Opposition to
Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Compel & XXXII | JA7875-JA7927
Motion for Relief
2018-06-18 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Joinder
to RDI's Combined Opposition to XXXII,
Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Compel & xxxi | JA7928-JA8295
Motion for Relief
2018-06-18 | Gould's Joinder to RDI's
Combined Opposition to Cotter
Jr.'s Motion to Compel & Motion XXXIL | JA8296-JA8301
for Relief
2018-06-18 | Cotter Jr.'s Reply ISO Motion for XXXIII,
Relief Re: 05-02-18 Rulings xxx1y | JA8302-]A8342
2018-06-20 | Transcript of 06-19-18 Omnibus
Hearing on discovery motions and | XXXIV | JA8343-JA8394

Ratification MSJ
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2018-07-12 | Order Granting In Part Cotter Jr.'s
Motion to Compel (Gould) & XXXIV | JA8395-JA8397
Motion for Relief
2018-07-12 | Order Granting in Part Cotter Jr.'s
Motion for Omnibus Relief & XXXIV | JA8398-JA8400
Motion to Compel
2018-08-14 | Findings of Fact and Conclusions XXXIV | JA8401-JA8411
of Law and Judgment
2018-08-16 | Notice of Entry of Findings of Fact
and Conclusions of Law and XXXIV | JA8412-JA8425
Judgment
2018-08-24 | Memorandum of Costs submitted
by RDI for itself & the director XXXIV | JA8426-JA8446
defendants
2018-08-24 | RDI's Appendix of Exhibits to XXXIV,
Memorandum of Costs XXXV, | JA8447-JA8906
XXXVI
2018-09-05 | Notice of Entry of SAO Re Process
for Filing Motion for Attorney's XXXVI | JA8907-JA8914
Fees
2018-09-05 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Retax Costs XXXVI | JA8915-JA9018
2018-09-07 | RDI's Motion for Attorneys' Fees XXXVI,
y Vi | JA9019-JA9101
2018-09-12 Egloi Motion for Judgment in Its XXXVII | JA9102-JA9107
2018-09-13 | Cotter Jr.'s Notice of Appeal XXXVII | JA9108-JA9110
2018-09-14 | RDI's Opposition to Cotter Jr.'s
Motion fc? Retax Costs XXXVIL | JA91T1-JA9219
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix ISO Opposition to | XXXVII,
Motion to Retax ("Appendix") Part | XXXVIII, | JA9220-JA9592
1 XXXIX
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 2 XXXIX, | JA9593-
XL, XLI | JA10063
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 3 XLI, JA10064-
XLIL - A 10801
XLIII
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 4 XLIII, | JA10802-
XLIV | JA10898
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix Part 5 XLIV, |JA10899-
XLV | JA11270
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 6 XLV, |JA11271-
XLVI | JA11475
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 7 XLVI,
XLVII, |JA11476-
XLVII, |JA12496
XLIX, L
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 8 JA12497-
L, LI, LII TA12893
2018-09-14 | Suggestion of Death of Gould LI JA12894-
Upon the Record ’ JA12896
2018-09-24 | Cotter Jr.'s Reply to RDI's Opp'n to LI JA12897-
Motion to Retax Costs JA12921
2018-09-24 | Cotter Jr.'s Appendix of Exhibits JA12922-
ISO Reply to RDI's Opposition to LII, LIII JA13112
Motion to Retax Costs
2018-10-01 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to RDI's LI JA13113-
Motion for Judgment in its Favor JA13125
2018-10-02 | Transcript of 10-01-18 Hearing on LI JA13126-
Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Retax Costs JA13150
2018-11-02 | Cotter Jr.'s Letter to Court LI JA13151-
Objecting to Proposed Order JA13156
2018-11-02 | Cotter Jr.'s Errata to Letter to JA13157-
Court Objecting to Proposed LIII JA13162
Order
2018-11-06 | Order Granting in Part Motion to JA13163-
Retax Costs & Entering Judgment LIII JA13167
for Costs ('Cost Judgment")
2018-11-06 | Notice of Entry of Order of Cost LI JA13168-
Judgment JA13174
2018-11-16 | Order Denying RDI's Motion for LI JA13175-
Attorneys' Fees JA13178
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS

FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOILOGICAL INDEX

Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.

2018-11-06 | Order Denying RDI's Motion for LIII JA13179-
Judgment in Its Favor JA13182

2018-11-20 | Notice of Entry of Order Denying LI JA13183-
RDI's Motion for Attorneys' Fees JA13190

2018-11-20 | Notice of Entry of Order Denying JA13191-
RDI's Motion for Judgment in Its LIII JA13198
Favor

2018-11-26 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion for
Reconsideration & Amendment of LI JA13199-
Cost Judgment, for Limited Stay of JA13207
Execution on OST

2018-11-30 | RDI's Opposition to Cotter Jr.'s
Motion for Reconsideration and LI JA13208-
Response to Motion for Limited JA13212
Stay of Execution on OST

2018-11-30 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Joinder
to RDI's Opposition to Cotter Jr.'s JA13213-
Motion for Reconsideration and LIII JA13215
Response to Motion for Limited
Stay of Execution

2018-12-06 | Order Re Cotter Jr.'s Motion for
Reconsideration & Amendment of LI JA13216-
Judgment for Costs and for JA13219
Limited Stay

2018-12-06 | Cotter Jr.'s Notice of Appeal from LI JA13220-
Cost Judgment JA13222

2018-12-07 | Notice of Entry of Order Re Cotter
Jr.'s Motion for Reconsideration & LIII JA13223-
Amendment of Cost Judgment JA13229
and for Limited Stay

2018-12-14 | Cotter Jr.'s Notice of Posting Cost LI JA13230-
Bond on Appeal JA13232

15




JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

ALPHABETICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2018-06-18 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Joinder
to RDI's Combined Opposition to XXXII, | JA7928-
Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Compel & XXXIII | JA8295
Motion for Relief
2018-11-30 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Joinder
to RDI's Opposition to Cotter Jr.'s JA13213-
Motion for Reconsideration and LIII JA13215
Response to Motion for Limited
Stay of Execution
2018-01-04 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Motion JA6192-
for Judgment as a Matter of Law JA6224
FILED
XXV | (NDER
SEAL
JA6224A-F)
2018-06-01 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Motion JA7173-
for Summary Judgment XXIX JA7221
("Ratification MSJ")
2018-05-15 | Adams and Cotter gisters' Motion XXVIIL, | JA6938-
to Compel Production of Docs re XXIX | JA7078
Expert Fee Payments on OST
2018-05-18 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Pre- XXIX JA7088-
Trial Memo JA7135
2018-06-15 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Reply xxxqp | JA7841-
ISO of Ratification MS] JA7874
2015-06-18 | Amended AQOS - Douglas
McEachern 5 I JA32-]JA33
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS - Edward Kane I JA34-JA35
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS - Ellen Cotter I JA36-JA37
2015-06-18 | Amended AQOS - Guy Adams I JA38-JA39
2015-06-18 | Amended AQS - Margaret Cotter I JA40-JA41
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS - RDI | JA42-JA43
2015-06-18 | Amended AQOS — Timothy Storey I JA44-JA45
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS — William Gould I JA46-JA47
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

ALPHABETICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2018-04-24 | Bannett's Declaration ISO Gould's XXVII JA6572-
Opposition to Motion to Compel JA6581
2016-04-05 | Codding and Wrotniak's Answer JA439-
to T2 Plaintiffs' First Amended II JA462
Complaint
2015-06-12 | Complaint I JA1-JA31
2016-10-17 | Cotter Jr.'s Appendix of Exhibits XVIII JA4458-
ISO Opposition to Gould's MSJ JA4517
2016-10-17 | Cotter Jr.'s Appendix of Exhibits JA4143-
ISO Opposition to Individual JA4311
Defendants' Partial MSJ No. 1 XVIL (FILED
XVIII UNDER
SEAL
JA4151A-C)
2016-10-17 | Cotter Jr.'s Appendix of Exhibits JA4312-
ISO Opposition to Individual XVIII JA4457
Defendants' Partial MSJ No. 2
2018-09-24 | Cotter Jr.'s Appendix of Exhibits JA12922-
ISO Reply to RDI's Opposition to LII, LIII JA13112
Motion to Retax Costs
2018-11-02 | Cotter Jr.'s Errata to Letter to JA13157-
Court Objecting to Proposed LIIT JA13162
Order
2018-11-02 | Cotter Jr.'s Letter to Court LI JA13151-
Objecting to Proposed Order JA13156
2018-04-23 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Omnibus JA6432-
Relief on OST JA6561
(FILED
Xxvii | UNDER
JA6350A;
JA6513A-C)
2016-09-23 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Partial XIV. XV JA3337-
Summary Judgment ("MPS]") ’ JA3697
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

ALPHABETICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2018-11-26 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion for
Reconsideration & Amendment of LI JA13199-
Cost Judgment, for Limited Stay of JA13207
Execution on OST
2017-12-19 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion for
Reconsideration of Ruling on
Partial MS] Nos. 1,2 & 3 and >><(>><<111\1/ }ﬁgggg'
Gould's MSJ on OST ("Motion for
Reconsideration")
2018-06-12 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Relief Based
on Noncompliance with Court's xxx| | JA7569-
May 2, 2018 Rulings on OST JA7607
("Motion for Relief")
2017-12-29 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Rule 54(b) XXV JA6092-
Certification and Stay on OST JA6106
2018-04-18 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Compel XXV, | JA6298-
(Gould) XXVI | JA6431
2018-06-08 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Compel on XXIX, JA7222-
OST XXX, JA7568
XXXI
2018-09-05 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Retax Costs XXXV] }ﬁgg%g—
2017-12-28 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Stay on OST XXV JA6072-
JA6080
2018-02-01 | Cotter Jr.'s Notice of Appeal XXV JA6295-
JA6297
2018-09-13 | Cotter Jr.'s Notice of Appeal XXXVII }ﬁg%(l)g-
2018-12-06 | Cotter Jr.'s Notice of Appeal from LI JA13220-
Cost Judgment JA13222
2018-12-14 | Cotter Jr.'s Notice of Posting Cost LI JA13230-
Bond on Appeal JA13232
2018-01-05 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to JA6229-
Defendants' Motion for Judgment XXV JA6238

as a Matter of Law
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

ALPHABETICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2016-10-13 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to Gould's XVI JA4015-
MSJ JA4051
2018-05-18 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to Motion JA7079-
to Compel Production of Docs re XXIX A7087
Expert Fee Payments J
2016-10-13 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to Partial XVI, | JA4052-
MSJ No. 1 XVII | JA4083
2018-06-13 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to xxx] | JA7608-
Ratification MSJ JA7797
2018-06-13 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to RDI's XXXI, | JA7798-
Demand Futility Motion XXXII | JA7840
2018-10-01 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to RDI's LI JA13113-
Motion for Judgment in its Favor JA13125
2018-05-11 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to RDI's XXVIII JA6816-
Motion for Leave to File Motion JA6937
2018-01-05 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to RDI's JA6225-
Motion to Dismiss for Failure to XXV JA6228
Show Demand Futility
2018-05-18 | Cotter Jr.'s Pre-Trial Memo XXIX JA7136-
JA7157
2018-06-18 | Cotter Jr.'s Reply ISO Motion for XXXIII, | JA8302-
Relief Re: 05-02-18 Rulings XXXIV | JA8342
2018-01-03 | Cotter Jr.'s Reply ISO Motion for xxy |JA6171-
Rule 54(b) Certification and Stay ]S6178
2018-04-27 | Cotter Jr.'s Reply ISO Motion to XXVII JA6582-
Compel (Gould) JA6599
2018-09-24 | Cotter Jr.'s Reply to RDI's Opp'n to LI JA12897-
Motion to Retax Costs JA12921
2016-09-02 | Cotter Jr.'s Second Amended 10 JA519-
Verified Complaint JA575
2017-12-01 | Cotter Jr.'s Supplemental A5094
Opposition to Partial MS] Nos. 1 & XXI } A51 07-

2 & Gould MS]J
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

ALPHABETICAL INDEX

Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.

2017-12-01 | Cotter Jr.'s Supplemental
Opposition topIEartial MSJ Nos. 2 & ;8(% }ﬁgggg_
3 & Gould MS]

2017-12-01 | Cotter Jr.'s Supplemental JA5119-
Opposition to Partial MSJ Nos. 2 & XXI JA5134
5 & Gould MS]

2017-12-01 | Cotter Jr.'s Supplemental JA5253-
Opposition to Partial MS]J Nos. 2 & XXI JA5264
6 & Gould MSJ

2016-10-13 | Cotter, Jr.'s Opposition to Partial xvi | 1A4084-
MSJ No. 2 JA4111

2016-10-13 | Cotter, Jr.'s Opposition to Partial XVII JA4112-
MSJ No. 6 JA4142

2017-12-27 | Declaration of Bannett ISO Gould's
?ppositior} to Cotter Jr.'s Motion >§(>§R,/’ }ﬁgggi_

or Reconsideration

2016-10-21 | Declaration of Bannett ISO Gould's XIX JA4636-
Reply ISO MSJ JA4677

2017-12-05 | Declaration of Bannett ISO Gould's | XXII, | JA5555-
Supplemental Reply ISO MSJ XXHII | JA5685

2018-01-05 | Declaration of Krum ISO Cotter JA6239-
Jr.'s Opposition to Motion for XXV JA6244
Judgment as a Matter of Law

2017-12-01 | Declaration of Levin ISO Cotter
Jr.'s Supplemental Opposition to XXI JA5108-
Partial MSJ Nos. 1 & 2 & Gould JA5118
MS]

2017-12-01 | Declaration of Levin ISO Cotter
Jr.'s Supplemental Opposition to XXI JA5135-
Partial MS] Nos. 2 & 5 & Gould JA5252
MSJ

2017-12-01 | Declaration of Levin ISO Cotter
Jr.'s Supplemental Opposition to XXI JA5265-
Partial MSJ Nos. 2 & 6 & Gould JA5299

MS]
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

ALPHABETICAL INDEX

Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.

2017-12-01 | Declaration of Levin ISO Cotter
Jr.'s Supplemental Opposition to xxp | JAS321-
So-Called MSJ Nos. 2 & 3 & Gould JA5509
MSJ

2016-09-23 | Defendant William Gould I, IV, | JA576-
("Gould")'s MSJ V, VI | JA1400

2018-08-14 | Findings of Fact and Conclusions xxx1y | JA8401-
of Law and Judgment JA8411

2017-10-04 | First Amended Order Setting Civil JA4928-
Jury Trial, Pre-Trial Conference, XX JA4931
and Calendar Call

2015-10-22 | First Amended Verified Complaint I JA263-

JA312

2018-04-24 | Gould's Declaration ISO XXV JA6569-
Opposition to Motion to Compel JA6571

2017-10-17 | Gould's Joinder to Motion for JA4975-
Evidentiary Hearing re Cotter Jr.'s XX JA4977
Adequacy as Derivative Plaintiff

2018-06-18 | Gould's Joinder to RDI's
Combined Opposition to Cotter xxxirp | JA8296-
Jr.'s Motion to Compel & Motion JA8301
for Relief

2017-12-27 | Gould's Opposition to Cotter Jr.'s XXIV JAS5982-
Motion for Reconsideration JA5986

2018-04-24 | Gould's Opposition to Cotter Jr.'s XXVII JA6562-
Motion to Compel JA6568

2016-10-21 | Gould's Reply ISO MS] XIX JA4610-

JA4635

2017-12-01 | Gould's Request For Hearing on XXI JA5078-
Previously-Filed MS]J JA5093

2017-12-04 | Gould's Supplemental Reply ISO xxqp | JAS538-
of MSJ JA5554

2017-11-28 | Individual Defendants' Answer to JA5048-
Cotter Jr.'s Second Amended XX, XXI JA5077

Complaint
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

ALPHABETICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2016-03-14 | Individual Defendants' Answer to I JA375-
Cotter's First Amended Complaint JA396
2017-10-11 | Individual Defendants' Motion for JA4932-
Evidentiary Hearing Re Cotter Jr.'s XX JA4974
Adequacy as Derivative Plaintiff
2016-09-23 | Individual Defendants' Motion for JA1486-
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 1) JA2216
Re: Plaintiff's Termination and VI VII (FILED
Reinstatement Claims ("Partial VIIL IX UNDER
JA2136A-D)
2016-09-23 | Individual Defendants' Motion for JA2217-
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 2) JA2489
Re: The Issue of Director (FILED
Independence ("Partial MSJ No. 2") IX, X UNDER
SEAL
JA2489A-
HH)
2016-09-23 | Individual Defendants' Motion for
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 3) JA2490-
On Plaintiff's Claims Related to the X, XI JA2583
Purported Unsolicited Offer
("Partial MSJ No. 3")
2016-09-23 | Individual Defendants' Motion for
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 4) JA2584-
On Plaintiff's Claims Related to the XI JTA2689
Executive Committee ("Partial MS]
No. 4")
2016-09-23 | Individual Defendants' Motion for
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 5) JA2690-
On Plaintiff's Claims Related to the | XI, XII JTA2860

Appointment of Ellen Cotter as

CEO ('"Partial MSJ No. 5")
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

ALPHABETICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2016-09-23 | Individual Defendants' Motion for
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 6)
Re Plaintiff's Claims Re Estate's
Option Exercise, Appointment of
Margaret Cotter, Compensation XII, XIII, | JA2861-
Packages of Ellen Cotter and XIV JA3336
Margaret Cotter, and related
claims Additional Compensation
to Margaret Cotter and Guy
Adams ("Partial MSJ No. 6")
2015-09-03 | Individual Defendants' Motion to I JA149-
Dismiss Complaint JA237
2016-10-26 | Individual Defendants' Objections
to Declaration of Cotter, Jr. XIX JA4725-
Submitted in Opposition to Partial JA4735
MSJs
2017-12-26 | Individual Defendants' Opposition JA5910-
to Cotter Jr.'s Motion For XXIV
Reconsideration JAS981
2018-01-02 | Individual Defendants' Opposition JA6132-
to Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Rule 54(b) | XXV JA6139
Certification and Stay
2016-10-13 | Individual Defendants' Opposition XVI | JA3815-
to Cotter Jr.'s MPSJ JA3920
2016-10-21 | Individual Defendants' Reply ISO v | JA4518-
of Partial MSJ No. 1 JA4549
2016-10-21 | Individual Defendants' Reply ISO XVIII, | JA4550-
Partial MSJ No. 2 XIX JA4567
2016-10-21 | Individual Defendants' Reply ISO JA4678-
Partial MSJ Nos. 3, 4, 5, and 6 XIX JA4724
2017-12-04 | Individual Defendants' Reply ISO XXII JA5510-
Renewed Partial MS] Nos. 1 & 2 JA5537
2017-11-09 | Individual Defendants' JA4981-
Supplement to Partial MS] Nos. 1, XX JA5024

2,3,5,and 6
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

ALPHABETICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2017-12-08 | Joint Pre-Trial Memorandum XXIII JA5686-
JA5717

2018-08-24 | Memorandum of Costs submitted JA8426-
by RDI for itself & the director XXXIV JTA8446
defendants

2016-09-23 | MIL to Exclude Expert Testimony JA1401-
of Steele, Duarte-Silva, Spitz, VI JA1485
Nagy, & Finnerty

2015-08-10 | Motion to Dismiss Complaint I JA48-JA104

2018-08-16 | Notice of Entry of Findings of Fact
and Conclusions of Law and XXXIV JA8412-
Judgment JA8425

2018-11-20 | Notice of Entry of Order Denying LI JA13183-
RDI's Motion for Attorneys' Fees JA13190

2018-11-20 | Notice of Entry of Order Denying JA13191-
RDI's Motion for Judgment in Its LIII JA13198
Favor

2018-01-04 | Notice of Entry of Order Granting JA6182-
Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Rule 54(b) XXV JA6188
Certification

2018-11-06 | Notice of Entry of Order of Cost LI JA13168-
Judgment JA13174

2018-12-07 | Notice of Entry of Order Re Cotter
Jr.'s Motion for Reconsideration & LI JA13223-
Amendment of Cost Judgment JA13229
and for Limited Stay

2017-12-29 | Notice of Entry of Order Re JA6081-
Individual Defendants' Partial XXV JA6091
MSJs, Gould's MS]J, and MIL

2016-12-22 | Notice of Entry of Order Re Partial JA4921-
MSJ Nos. 1-6 and MIL to Exclude XX JA4927
Expert Testimony

2018-09-05 | Notice of Entry of SAO Re Process JA8907-
for Filing Motion for Attorney's XXXVI JA8914

Fees
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

ALPHABETICAL INDEX

Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.

2018-01-04 | Order Denying Cotter Jr.'s Motion XXV JA6189-
for Reconsideration and Stay JA6191

2018-11-16 | Order Denying RDI's Motion for LIII JA13175-
Attorneys' Fees JA13178

2018-11-06 | Order Denying RDI's Motion for LI JA13179-
Judgment in Its Favor JA13182

2015-10-12 | Order Denying RDI's Motion to I JA257-
Compel Arbitration JA259

2018-01-04 | Order Granting Cotter Jr.'s Motion xxy | 1A6179-
for Rule 54(b) Certification JA6181

2016-10-03 | Order Granting Cotter Jr.'s Motion
to Compel Production of XV JA3698-
Documents & Communications Re JA3700
the Advice of Counsel Defense

2018-07-12 | Order Granting in Part Cotter Jr.'s JA8398-
Motion for Omnibus Relief & XXXIV JA8400
Motion to Compel

2018-07-12 | Order Granting In Part Cotter Jr.'s JA8395-
Motion to Compel (Gould) & XXXIV JA8397
Motion for Relief

2018-11-06 | Order Granting in Part Motion to JA13163-
Retax Costs & Entering Judgment LIII JA13167
for Costs ("Cost Judgment")

2018-12-06 | Order Re Cotter Jr.'s Motion for
Reconsideration & Amendment of LI JA13216-
Judgment for Costs and for JA13219
Limited Stay

2016-10-03 | Order Re Cotter Jr.'s Motion to JA3701-
Permit Certain Discovery re XV JA3703
Recent "Offer"

2016-12-21 | Order Re Individual Defendants' JA4917-
Partial MSJ Nos. 1-6 and MIL to XX JA4920

Exclude Expert Testimony
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

ALPHABETICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2017-12-28 | Order Re Individual Defendants' JA6065-
Partial MSJs, Gould's MS]J, and XXV JA6071
MILs
2015-10-19 | Order Re Motion to Dismiss I JA260-
Complaint JA262
2016-12-20 | RDI's Answer to Cotter Jr.'s XX JA4891-
Second Amended Complaint JA4916
2016-03-29 | RDI's Answer to Cotter, Jr.'s First I JA397-
Amended Complaint JA418
2016-03-29 | RDI's Answer to T2 Plaintiffs' First 1 JA419-
Amended Complaint JA438
2018-08-24 | RDI's Appendix of Exhibits to XXXV, JA8447-
Memorandum of Costs XXXV, JA8906
XXXVI
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix ISO Opposition to | XXXVII, JA9220-
Motion to Retax ("Appendix") Part | XXXVIII JA9592
1 , XXXIX
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 2 XXXIX, |JA9593-
XL, XLI | JA10063
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 3 XLI, JA10064-
XLII,
LI JA10801
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 4 XLIII, |JA10802-
XLIV | JA10898
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix Part 5 XLIV, |JA10899-
XLV |[JA11270
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 6 XLV, JA11271-
XLVI [ JA11475
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 7 XLVI,
XLVII, |JA11476-
XLVIII, |JA12496
XLIX, L
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 8 JA12497-
PP L, LL LI | 1215893

26




JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

ALPHABETICAL INDEX

Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.

2018-06-18 | RDI's Combined Opposition to JA7875-
Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Compel & XXXII JA7927
Motion for Relief

2019-10-21 | RDI's Consolidated Reply ISO JA4589-
Individual Defendants' Partial MSJ XIX JA4603
Nos.3,4,5&6

2018-01-03 | RDI's Errata to Joinder to
Individual Defendants' Opposition xxy | JA6153-
to Motion for Rule 54(b) JA6161
Certification and Stay

2016-10-13 | RDI's Joinder to Individual JA3921-
Defendants' Opposition to Cotter XVI JA4014
Jr.'s MPSJ

2018-01-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual
Defendants' Opposition to Cotter xxy |JA6140-
Jr.'s Motion for Rule 54(b) JA6152
Certification and Stay

2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual XV JA3707-
Defendants' Partial-MSJ No. 1 JA3717

2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual XV JA3718-
Defendants' Partial MSJ] No. 2 JA3739

2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual XV JA3740-
Defendants' Partial MSJ No. 3 JA3746

2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual XV JA3747-
Defendants' Partial MSJ No. 4 JA3799

2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual XV JA3800-
Defendants' Partial MSJ No. 5 JA3805

2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual XV, XVI | JA3806-
Defendants' Partial MSJ No. 6 JA3814

2017-11-21 | RDI's Joinder to Individual JA5025-
Defendants' Supplement to Partial XX JA5027
MSJ Nos. 1,2,3,5&6

2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to MIL to Exclude XV JA3704-
Expert Testimony JA3706
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

ALPHABETICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2017-10-18 | RDI's Joinder to Motion for JA4978-
Evidentiary Hearing re Cotter Jr.'s XX JA4980
Adequacy as Derivative Plaintiff
2018-09-07 | RDI's Motion for Attorneys' Fees XXXVI, [JA9019-
XXXVII | JA9101
2018-09-12 | RDI's Motion for Judgment in Its JA9102-
Favor 5 XXXVIL 749107
2015-08-31 | RDI's Motion to Compel I JA127-
Arbitration JA148
2018-01-03 | RDI's Motion to Dismiss for XXV JA6162-
Failure to Show Demand Futility JA6170
2018-11-30 | RDI's Opposition to Cotter Jr.'s
Motion for Reconsideration and LI JA13208-
Response to Motion for Limited JA13212
Stay of Execution on OST
2018-09-14 | RDI's Opposition to Cotter Jr.'s XXXVII JA9111-
Motion to Retax Costs JA9219
2018-04-27 | RDI's Opposition to Cotter's xxvyp | 1A6600-
Motion for Omnibus Relief JA6698
2016-10-21 | RDI's Reply ISO Gould's MS] XIX JA4604-
JA4609
2016-10-21 | RDI's Reply ISO Individual XIX JA4568-
Defendants' Partial MSJ No. 1 JA4577
2016-10-21 | RDI's Reply ISO Individual XIX JA4578-
Defendants' Partial MSJ] No. 2 JA4588
2015-08-20 | Reading International, Inc.
("RDI")'s Joinder to Margaret
Cotter, Ellen Cotter, Douglas JA105-
McEachern, Guy Adams, & I JA108
Edward Kane ("Individual
Defendants") Motion to Dismiss
Complaint
2015-11-10 | Scheduling Order and Order JA313-
Setting Civil Jury Trial, Pre-Trial II JA316

Conference and Calendar Call
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

ALPHABETICAL INDEX

Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.

2018-05-04 | Second Amended Order Setting JA6724-
Jury Trial, Pre-trial Conference, XXVII JA6726
and Calendar Call

2016-06-21 | Stipulation and Order to Amend I JA463-
Deadlines in Scheduling Order JA468

2018-09-14 | Suggestion of Death of Gould LI JA12894-
Upon the Record ’ JA12896

2016-02-12 | T2 Plaintiffs' First Amended I JA317-
Complaint JA355

2015-08-28 | T2 Plaintiffs' Verified Shareholder I JA109-
Derivative Complaint JA126

2015-10-06 | Transcript of 9-10-15 Hearing on
Defendants' Motion to Dismiss & L1 JA238-
Plaintiff Cotter Jr. ("Cotter Jr.")'s ’ JA256
Motion for Preliminary Injunction

2016-02-23 | Transcript of 2-18-16 Hearing on JA356-
Motion to Compel & Motion to I JA374
File Document Under Seal

2016-06-23 | Transcript of 6-21-16 Hearing on JA469-
Defendants' Motion to Compel & I JA493
Motion to Disqualify T2 Plaintiffs

2016-08-11 | Transcript of 8-9-16 Hearing on
Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Partial 10 JA494-
Summary Judgment, Motion to ’ JA518
Compel & Motion to Amend

2016-11-01 | Transcript of 10-27-16 Hearing on XIX. XX JA4736-
Motions ! JA4890

2017-11-27 | Transcript of 11-20-17 Hearing on
Motion for Evidentiary Hearing re XX JA5028-
Cotter Jr.'s Adequacy & Motion to JA5047
Seal

2017-12-11 | Transcript of 12-11-2017 Hearing JA5718-
on [Partial] MSJs, MILs, and Pre- XXIII JA5792

Trial Conference
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

ALPHABETICAL INDEX

Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.

2017-12-29 | Transcript of 12-28-17 Hearing on JA6107-
Motion for Reconsideration and XXV JA6131
Motion for Stay

2018-01-05 | Transcript of 1-4-18 Hearing on JA6245-
Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Rule 54(b) XXV JA6263
Certification

2018-01-08 | Transcript of Hearing on Demand JA6264-
Futility Motion and Motion for XXV JA6280
Judgment

2018-01-10 | Transcript of Proceedings of 01-8- xxy |JA6281-
18 Jury Trial-Day 1 JA6294

2018-05-03 | Transcript of 4-30-18 Hearing on XXVII JA6699-
Motions to Compel & Seal JA6723

2018-05-07 | Transcript of 5-2-18 Hearing on XXVII, | JA6727-
Evidentiary Hearing XXVIIT | JA6815

2018-05-24 | Transcript of 05-21-18 Hearing on JA7158-
Adams and Cotter sisters' Motion XXIX JA7172
to Compel

2018-06-20 | Transcript of 06-19-18 Omnibus JA8343-
Hearing on discovery motions and | XXXIV JA8394
Ratification MS]J

2018-10-02 | Transcript of 10-01-18 Hearing on LII JA13126-
Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Retax Costs JA13150
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1 e At arcconvened supposcd special mecting of the RDI Board of Directors May 29, 2015,

2 EC told the RDI board that she and MC had reached a resolution of their disputes with
3 Plaintiff. No vote regarding termination of Plaintiff was then had.
4 e Plaintiff, EC and MC thereafter failed to resolve their disputes.
5 e EC called another supposed special board meeting for June 12, 2015. At the meeting, three
6 of five outside dircctors, namely, Adams, Kane and McEachern, voted to terminate
7 Plaintiff as President and CEO. Storey and Gould voted against termination.
& o Defendant Adams in May and June 2015 (and for some time previously, as well as since
9 then) relied on companies controlled by EC and MC for a majority of his recurring income.
10 e Defendant Kane had a five-decade, close personal and quasi-familial relationship with
] 11 James J. Cotter, Sr. (“JJC, Sr.””); Kane believed he knew what JIC, Sr.’s wishes were
?._; 12 regarding a fundamental dispute between Plaintiff, on one hand, and EC and MC on the
21 o 13 other hand, regarding whether MC alone or MC together with Plaintiff was to be trustee(s)
E g 14 of a voting trust which would hold approximately seventy percent of the voting stock of
%f g 15 RDI; Kane’s view was that JJC, Sr.’s wishes were that MC alone be the trustee.
% gb 16 Thus, defendants lacked disinterestedness and independence, either generally or with
% 3 17 || respect to the particular challenged actions (here, the decisions to threaten Plaintiff with

18 || termination and to terminatc him). Plaintiff has rebutted the presumption that the business
19 || judgment rule applies, and the burden shifts to the individual director defendants to demonstrate
20 || the entire fairness of both their process and the result (measured objectively) reached.

21 Here, defendant Adams lacked independence because he was dependent on EC and MC for

22 || a majority of his income, including at the time he took the challenged actions. Additionally, he

23 || lacked disinterestedness with respect to the challenged action(s) because, he and his financial

24 || benefactors, EC and MC, personally stood to gain while other RDI shareholders would not.

25 Defendant Kane generally lacked independence because of (1) his five-decade relationship
26 || with JJC, Sr.; (2) his view that he knew what Sr.’s wishes were regarding a critical item in dispute
27 || between Plaintiff and EC and MC, who would be the trustee(s) of the voting trust; (3) his view

28 || that it was the wishes of JIC, Sr. that MC alone be the trustee of that voting trust; and (4) his
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I || insistence that Plaintiff accede the demands of EC and MC or be terminated. Likewise, Kane

2 || lacked disinterestedness with respect to the subject decisions, including for the same reasons.

3 The individual defendants cannot satisfy the entire fairness test with respect to the

41| “process” by which they threatened and effected Plaintiff’s termination. Nor can they demonstrate

5 || the objective fairness of threatening him with termination unless he resolved disputes with MC

and EC on terms satisfactory to the two of them and terminating him when he failed to do so.
Where, as here, director defendants cannot satisfy their burden of demonstrating the entire

fairness of the challenged conduct, the challenged conduct may be avoided by the corporation or

o o0 1 D

by its sharcholders. That is exactly the relief Plaintiff seeks hereby, which RDI and he are entitled
10 || to receive, namely, an order that declares the decision to terminate Plaintiff as President and CEO

11 {| of RDI as void or voidable and, to the point, of no force or effect.

12 ] 1I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY OF AND THE CLAIMS MADE IN THIS CASE

13 Plaintiff’s SAC states four claims, for breach of the fiduciary duty of care, breach of the
14 [| fiduciary duty of loyalty, breach of the fiduciary duty of candor and disclosure, and aiding and
15 ]| abetting breach of fiduciary duty.

16 The SAC alleges a wrongful course of conduct by the director defendants to seize control
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17 || of RDI in order to further their personal financial and other interests, in derogation of their
18 || fiduciary duties. (SAC, 9 1.) The SAC alleges an ongoing course of conduct, including (1)
19 (| threatening Plaintiff with termination if he did not settle trust and estate disputes on terms

20 || satisfactory to EC and MC and terminating him when he failed to do so (SAC, 4 4, 72-94); (2)

21 || activating and repopulating an executive committee and forcibly “retiring” Tim Storey, to secure

22 || their control of RDI and eliminate the participation of Plaintiff and Storey as directors (SAC, 99 8,
23 || 99,127-134); (3) misusing RDI’s corporate machinery, including through Kane and Adams as

24 || members of the RDI Board of Directors Compensation Committee authorizing the exercise of a

25 || supposed option to acquire 100,000 shares of RDI Class B voting stock (SAC, 99 10, 102-108); (4)
26 || stacking the RDI Board of Directors with persons whose sole “qualification” to be an RDI director
27 || was personal friendship with a Cotter family member (SAC, 4 11, 121-134); (5) manipulating

28 [| RDI's SEC disclosures and annual sharcholders meetings to disguisc and cffectuate their
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1 || entrenchment scheme (SAC, 4912, 13, 101-135 and 136); (6) manipulating and aborting a CEO
2 || search process to ensure that EC was selected (SAC, Y 14, 13-147); (7) looting the Company,

3 || including by employing MC in a highly compensated senior executive position for which she had
4 1| no prior experience or professional qualifications (SAC, 99 15, 148-153) and, most recently, by

5 || rejecting third-parties’ Offer to purchase all the outstanding stock of RDI at a price well in excess
of the price at which it traded in the market, without taking any action to determine what was in
the best interests of RDI and its sharcholders other than EC and MC (SAC, 44| 16, 154-162).

Plaintiff’s claims all arise from an ongoing course of conduct, aptly described as

o o0 1 D

entrenchment, not from a scries of unrelated, onc-off, coincidental actions as they are framed in
10 || the Interested Director Defendants® MSJs.

11][ 1. RESPONSE TO FACTUAL ASSERTIONS

12 The Director Defendants portray Plaintiff’s appointment as CEO as some accident
13 || occasioned by JJC, Sr.’s death. In reality, JJC, Sr. intended Plaintiff to succeed him. In a memo
14 || to the compensation committee dated January 16, 2009, JJIC, Sr. expressly suggested JIC succeed

15 ]| him. (Appendix Ex. [1] JCOTTER0145336).)

16 The Director Defendants devote a section of their brief to discussing an invented argument
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17| they call “Significant Problems with Plaintiff’s Managerial Skills Become Obvious.” (Defs.” Mot.
18 || for Summ. J. No. 1 at p. 5:17.) This theme, and the flimsy evidence taken out of context to

19 (| support it, contradicts what at lecast some directors actually felt at the time, that is, before they had
20 [| a motive to retroactively color their statements and give testimony that serve their present

21 || litigation goals. For example, Director Kane proclaimed in a June 8, 2015 email to JIC that “there

22 || is no one more qualified to be the CEO of this company than you.” (Appendix Ex. [2]

23 || (JCOTTER009286).) A day earlier, Kane said “I want you to be CEO and run the company for
24 (| the next 30 years or more.” (Id.) And, these statements came in the midst of the meetings that led
25 || to Plaintiff’s ouster. So, contrary to the spin Defendants give the evidence, no uniform body of
26 || evidence shows that Plaintiff’s managerial style caused concern for the directors. This remains a

27 || sharply disputed point incapable of resolution through a summary process.

28
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1 Director Defendants mischaracterize Director Storey’s feeling regarding Plaintiff’s work as
2 || CEO. They claim “Storey concluded that Plaintiff ‘needs to make progress in the business and
3 || with Ellen and Margaret [Cotter] quickly, or the board will need to look to alternatives to protect

41| the interests of the company.” (Defs.” Mot. Summ. J. at p. 8:27-9:1.)

5 First, this ambiguous statement does not explicitly reflect any desire by Director Storey to
0 || terminate Plaintiff. Dircctor Storey subsequently expressed his approval of Plaintiff’s work.

7 || Specifically, Storey’s notes from May 21, 2015, say that “none of the steps [Plaintiff] proposes to
& || take or has in fact taken are unusual or untoward.” (Appendix Ex. [5] (TS0000061).) Storey then
91| added “[o]ther than from Margaret or Ellen, . . . T haven’t heard of any material negativity from

10 [| any other executive as to the CEOs requirements.” (Id.) Storey recognized the particular

11 [| governance challenges Plaintiff faced in his sisters. (Id.) Despite all this, Storey concluded that
12 [| “progress has been made in a number of respects,” and cautioned that “the resolution need not

13 [| necessarily be removal of the CEO . . . it could be the removal of the other executives—or all of
14 || them.” (Id. at -62—-63; see also Appendix Ex. [3] (WG Dep. Ex. 61) (discussing progress).)

15 Once again, the evidence shows a factual dispute concerning the mindset of RDI directors

16 || as to Plaintiff’s termination.
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17 The Defendants portray the May 21, 2015 meeting as a natural progression of events—*a
18 || months-long effort to address and alleviate ongoing conflicts.” (Defs’ Mot. Summ. J. No. 1 at 6—
19 (| 8.) In reality, on Tuesday May 19, 2015, EC distributed an agenda for a RDI board of directors
20 || meeting on Thursday, May 21, 2015. (Appendix Ex. [6] (EC Dep. Ex. 339).) The first agenda

21 || item was “Status of President and CEO.” (Id.) This subject had not been previously addressed at

22 || an RDI Board of Directors meeting. Indeed, a draft agenda a few days earlier made no mention of
23 || the subject. (Appendix Ex.[ 7] (EC Dep. Ex. 338.) Storey wrote in a May 20, 2015 email to

24 (| Director Gould that “T am only assuming the matter before us is a resolution to immediately

25 || remove the CEO—that isn’t clear from the agenda, or any direct comment made to me by any

26 || party.” (Appendix Ex. [ 8] (TS0000073).) The Defendants have attempted to obscure the official
27 || record of the May 21, 2015 board meeting, producing the fictional minutes in redacted form,

28 || which excise the advice of counsel. (Appendix Ex. [9] (GA000003864).)
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1 The evidence does not support Defendants’ argument that JJC was fired after a deliberate,
2| regular, and lawful process. (See Defs.” Mot. Summ. J. 9:27-10:2.) Rather, Plaintiff was
3 || threatened with termination if he failed to resolve disputes with his sisters on their terms, and then

4 || terminated when Kane, Adams, and McEachern voted to terminate him.

5 On June §, 2015, JJC advised EC and MC that he could not accept their lawyers’

0 || settlement document. MC responded that she “would notify the board that you are unwilling to
7| take our offer despite your acceptance to most of it last week.” (JJC Dec. at 9 18; Appendix Ex.
8[| [12] (MC Dep. Ex. 327); Appendix Ex. [13] (MC 5/13/16 Dep. Tr. at 368:13-369:22); see also
9 (| Appendix Ex. [13] (MC 5/12/16 Dep. Tr. 271:22-279:7); Appendix Ex. [14] (Dep. Ex. 156);.)

10 On Junc 10, 2015, EC transmitted an email to all RDI board members stating, among other
11 || things, that “we would like to reconvene the Meeting that was adjourned on Friday, May 29™, at
12 (| approximately 6:15 p.m. (Los Angeles time.)” (JJC Dec. at 9 19).

13 When the tentative agreement did not come to fruition, Kane resumed his advocacy toward
14 (| Plaintiff, including on June 11, 2013, stating: “I do believe that if you give up what you consider
15 || “control’ for now to work cooperatively with your sisters,” Kane admonished, “you will find that

16 || you will have a lot more commonality than you think.” (Appendix Ex. [15] (Kane Dep. Ex. 306 at
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17 (| p. EK 00001613).) “Otherwise,” Kane threatened, “you will be sorry for the rest of your life, they
18 || and your mother will be hurt and your children will lose a golden opportunity.” (I/d.) Tellingly,
19 || Kane also wrote that JJC, Sr. gave MC the right to vote the B stock to force them to work together,
20 || and that trying to change that would be a “nonstarter.” (Appendix Ex. 15 Kane Dep. Ex. 306).)

21 || Kane testified repeatedly that Plaintiff’s failure to accede to his sisters’ settlement demands cost

22 || him his job. (Appendix Ex. [ 16] (Kane 5/2/16 Dep. Tr.194-195 (testifying that he told JIC to

23 || “take [the settlement offer]. . .. You’re going to get terminated if you don’t.”).

24 On Friday, June 12, 2015, a supposed RDI board of directors special meeting was

25 || convened. Adams and Kane (and McEachern) voted to terminate JJC (as did MC and EC). Storey
26 || and Gould voted against terminating JJC as President and CEO. (JJC Dec. at 4 20; Appendix Ex.
27 || [16] (Kane 5/2/16 Dep. Tr. 191:25-192:12, 193:3-194-10); Appendix Ex. [ 4] (Storey 2/12/16

28 || Dep. Tr. 139:22-140-11); see also Appendix Ex. [17] (TS 8/3/16 Dep. Tr. 75:4-76:16 and 81:22-

-6- 2010586508 10

JA4063




1| 82:6).) In January 2016, EC was made permanent President and CEO of RDI. (JJC Dec. at  21).
2 Adams, MacEachern, and Kane predetermined their vote before any actual deliberations—
3 || and they did so over the protests of other directors, who felt railroaded into a foregone outcome.

41| Prior to May 19, 2015, each of Adams and Kane (and McEachern) communicated to EC and/or

5 || among themselves their respective agreement to vote as RDI directors to terminate JJC as
President and CEO of RDI. (Appendix Ex. [30] (EC 6/16/16 Dep. Tr. 175:17-176:8); Appendix
Ex. [4] (Storcy 2/12/16 Dep. Tr. at 96:5-91:4, 98:21-100:8, 100:14-101:11); Appendix Ex. 9
(Adams 4/28/16 Dep. Tr. at 98:7-17; 98:18-99:22); Appendix Ex. [21] (Adams 4/29/16 Dep. Tr.

o o0 1 D

378:15-370:5); see also Appendix Ex. [18] (TS 8/31/16 Dep. Tr. 66:22-67:20) and Appendix Ex.
10 (| [19] (Dep. Ex 131).) During their planning prior to the May 21 meeting, Kane on May 18, 2016
11 || sent an email to Adams in which Kane agreed to second the motion for JCI’s termination, if

12 || necessary:

13 See if you can get someone else to second the motion [to terminate Plaintiff]. If
the vote is 5-3 [ might want to abstain and make 1t 4-3. If it’s needed I will vote.
14 It’s personal and goes back 51 years. If no one else will second it I will.

15 || (Appendix Ex. [28] (Dep. Ex. 81 at GA00005500).)

16 Gould and Storey objected that the non-Cotter directors had not employed a proper process
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17 || regarding terminating JJC and requested that the non-Cotter directors meet before the May 21

18 || meeting. Gould warned they could “face possible claims for breach of fiduciary duty if the Board
19 || takes action without following a process.” (Appendix Ex. [23] (Gould Dep. Ex. 318).) Storey

20 || used the term “kangaroo court,” and noted, “[A]s directors we can’t just do what a shareholder [,

21 || meaning EC and MC,] asks.” * (Appendix Ex. [24] (Kane Dep. Ex. 116).) Kane responded they

22 || did not need to meet, stating “the die is cast.” (Appendix Ex. [25] (EK Dep. Ex. 117 at

23 || TS000069).)

24 The supposed special board meeting on May 29 commenced, and Adams made a motion to
25 || terminate Plaintiff as President and CEO. In response, Plaintiff questioned Adams’ independence

26 || and/or disinterestedness. (JJC Dec. at 9§ 15). The meeting eventually was adjourned until 6:00 PM.
27

* Gould and Storey also were of the view that the ombudsman process was to continue into June 2016, at which time
28 Storey would report further and the five would determine next steps. (Appendix Ex. [17] (TS 8/3/16 Dep. Tr. 33:12-
36:16 and 37:15-38:20).)
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1 || Plaintiff was told that he needed to resolve his disputes with his sisters or suffer termination. (/d.)

2 Defendants have wrongfully insisted that Plaintiff resign as Company director. For
3 || example, on June 15, 2016 EC declared that Plaintiff’s unlawful termination “obligates you to
41| resign immediately from the board of Directors,” which requirement, EC argued, was an
5 || obligation of Plaintiff’s employment contract. (Appendix Ex. [26] (Jun 15, 2016 Letter).) RDI’s
SEC Form 8-K dated June 12, 2015 repeated this false claim. (Appendix Ex. [27] (Ellis Dep. Ex.
347).) Gould, who drafted Plaintiff’s employment contract, testified that this was not required: I

drafted the contract . ... And it did say in there he would resign. But what we intended that to

o o0 1 D

mean was his position as president.” (Appendix Ex. [20] (Gould 6/8/16 Dep. Tr. 244:16-246:6.)
10 {| Gould communicated the wrongfulness of EC’s position to the Board, to RDI’s in-house attorney,
11 || and to EC—but EC sent the letter in question and caused the erroncous SEC filing. (/d.)

12 1IV. ARGUMENT

13 A. Director Defendants’ Fiduciary Duties.

14 The power of directors to act on behalf of a corporation is governed by their fiduciary

15 || relationship to the corporation and to its shareholders. Shoen v. SAC Holding Corp., 137 P.3d
16 || 1171, 1178 (Nev. 2006) (citations omitted). Generally, those duties are described as the duty of
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17 || care and the duty of loyalty. (/d.) The duty of good faith may be viewed as implicit in the duties
18 || of care and loyalty, or as part of a “triumvirate” of fiduciary duties. See In re BioClinica, Inc.

19 || Shareholder Litig., No. CV 8272-VCG, 2013 WL 5631233, at *5 (Del. Ch. Oct. 16, 2013);

20 || Brookstone Partners Acquisition XVI, LLC v. Tanus, No. CIV.A. 7533-VCN, 2012 WL 5868902,
21 || at *2 (Del. Ch. Nov. 20, 2012).

22 1. The Duty of Care

23 The duty of care typically is described as requiring directors to act on an informed basis.
24 || Schoen, 137 P.3d at 1178. Whether directors acted on an informed basis “turns on whether the

25 || directors have informed themselves “prior to making a business decision, of all material

26 || information reasonably available to them.” Smith v. Van Gorkom, 488 A. 2d 858, 872 (Del. 1985)
27 || (quoting Aronson v. Lewis, 473 A. 2d 805, 812 (De¢l. 1984). Due care thus is a function of the

28 || decision-making process, not the decision. See, e.g., Citron v. Fairchild Camera & Instrument
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1| Corp., 569 A. 2d 53, 66 (Del. 1989). This necessarily raises “[t]he question [of] whether the
2 || process employed [in making the challenged decision] was either rational or employed in a good
3 || faith effort to advance the corporate interests.” In re Greater Se. Cmty. Hosp. Corp. I, 353 B.R.

41| 324, 339 (Bankr. D.D.C. 2006).

5 2. The Duty of Loyalty
6 The director’s duty of loyalty requires that directors “maintain, in good faith, the
7| corporation’s and its sharcholders’ best interests over anyone ¢lse’s interests.” Schoen, 137 P.3d at
8 [| 1178 (citations omitted). The duty of loyalty was described in Guth v. Loft as follows:
9 “Corporate officers and directors are not permitted to use their position of
trust and confidence to further their private interests. While technically not
10 trustees, they stand in a fiduciary relation to the corporation and [to] its
shareholders. A public policy, existing through the years, and derived from
11 a profound knowledge of human characteristics and motives, has
S established a rule that demands of a corporate . . . director, peremptorily and
E 12 inexorably, the most scrupulous observance of his duty [of loyalty], not
3 only affirmatively to protect the interests of the corporation committed to
2o 13 his charge, but also to refrain from doing anything that would work injury
x 9 to the corporation [or its sharcholders] . . . The rule that requires an
8q 14 undivided and unselfish loyalty to the corporation demands that there shall
2a be no conflict between duty and sclf-interests.”
s> 15
s % Guth v. Loft, 5 A.2d 503, 510 (Decl. 1939).
o5 16
E > The terms “loyalty” and “good faith,” arc “words pregnant with obligation” and
A 17
“[d]irectors should not take a seat at the board table prepared to offer only conditional loyalty,
18
tolerable good faith, reasonable disinterest or formalistic candor.” In re Tyson Foods, Inc.,
19
Consol. Shareholder Litig., 2007 WL 2351071, at *4 (Del. Ch. Aug. 15, 2007).
20
5 3. The Duty of Disclosure
“Whenever directors communicate publicly or directly with shareholders about the
22
corporation’s affairs . . . directors have a fiduciary duty to shareholders to exercise due care, good
23
faith and loyalty.” Malone v. Brincat, 722 A.2d 5, 10 (Del. 1998). “Sharcholders are entitled to
24
rely upon the truthfulness of all information disseminated to them by the directors [of the
25
corporation].” Id. at 10-11. When directors communicate with stockholders, they must do so with
26
“complete candor.” In re Tyson Foods, Inc., No. CIV.A. 1106-CC, 2007 WL 2351071, at *3 (Del.
27
Ch. Aug. 15, 2007).
28
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10
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19
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4. Directors’ Fiduciary Duties Are Owed to All Shareholders, Not Just the
Controlling Shareholder(s)

Directors owe all stockholders, not just the stockholders who appointed them, “an
uncompromising duty of loyalty.” In re Trados Inc. S’Holder Litig., 73 A.3d 17, 36 (Del. Ch.
2013). Under some circumstances, it is a breach of loyalty for dircctors not to act to protect the
minority stockholders from a controlling stockholder. Louisiana Mun. Police Emp. Ret. Sys. v.
Fertitta, 2009 WL 2263406, at *8 (Del. Ch. July 28, 2009) (finding that the failure to act in the
face of a controlling stockholder’s threat to the corporation and its minority stockholders
supported a reasonable inference that the board of directors breached its duty of loyalty).

B. The Business Judgment Rule Is a Rebuttable Presumption, Rebutted Here

The business judgment rule is a rebuttable presumption that “in making a business decision
the directors of a corporation acted on an informed basis, in good faith, and in the honest belief
that the action was taken in the best interests of the company.” See, e.g., In Re Walt Disney Co.
Derivative Litig., 906 A.2d 27, 52 (Decl. 2006) (quoting Aronson v. Lewis, 473 A.2d 805, 812 (Del.
1984)). In Nevada, the business judgment rule is codified in NRS § 78.138.3, which provides that
“[d]irectors and officers, in deciding upon matters of business, arc presumed to act in good faith,
on an informed basis and with a view to the interests of the corporation.”

The business judgment rule typically is articulated as consisting of four elements: (i) a
business decision, (ii) disinterestedness and independence, (iii) due care, and (iv) good faith.
Roselink Investors, L.L.C. v. Shenkman, 386 F. Supp. 2d 209, 2016 (S.D.N.Y. 2004) (citations
omitted). The presumptions of the business judgment rule are rebutted where any of the four
elements is absent. /d. at 216-17. Here, at least each of the last three elements is absent.

With respect to disinterestedness and independence, because two (Gould and Storey) of the
five non-Cotter directors voted against termination, Plaintiff need only show that on¢ of the three
directors who voted to terminate Plaintiff had an interest in the challenged conduct or lacked
independence from others (here EC and MC) who had an interest in the challenged conduct.

There is no disputc that, as to at lecast any matters of disagreement between EC and MC
and JJC, MC and EC lack disinterestedness and lack independence. The Interested Director

Defendants admit that in their summary judgment motions, including as follows:
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The Individual Defendants, for the purposes of this motion [regarding “director

independence”], do not contest the independence of Ellen and Margaret Cotter as

RDI directors with respect to the transactions and, or corporate conduct at issue---

which are addressed in the Individual Defendants’ other, contemporancously-filed

summary judgment motions.

(“Individual Defendants’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (No. 2) Re: the Issue of
Director Independence” at p. 14, fn. 2.)
1. Individual Defendants’ Lack of Disinterestedness

With respect to disinterestedness, because the business judgment rule presumes that
directors have no conflict of interest, the business judgment rule does not apply where “directors
have an interest other than as directors of the corporation.” Lewis v. S.L. & E., Inc., 629 F.2d 764,
769 (2d Cir. 1980). This is because “[d]irectorial interest exists whenever divided loyaltics are
present . . .7 Rales v. Blasband, 634 A. 2d 927, 933 (Decl. 1993) (internal citations and quotations
omitted). Thus, a director must be disinterested in the challenged conduct in particular and, as a
general matter, otherwise independent. Beam, 845 A.2d at 1049.

As the Interested Director Defendants acknowledge, EC and MC lack disinterestedness
with respect to the challenged actions, starting with the threat to terminate Plaintiff unless he
resolved the California Trust Action and other matters on terms satisfactory to EC and MC, and
continuing thereafter with the termination of him on account of his failure to do so.

The same is true, for largely the same reasons, for defendant Kane, who 1s called “Uncle
Ed” by EC and MC and who, by his contemporancous conduct demonstrated that he acted as
“Uncle Ed” throughout to effectuate what he thought were JJC, Sr.’s wishes, and not as a
disinterested RDI director exercising disinterested business judgment.

Likewise, Adams admittedly picked sides in a family dispute. He also demonstrated his
lack of disinterestedness by, among other things, vigorously pursuing the EC and MC agenda,
starting with the termination of Plaintiff, to further his own interest (including to be interim CEQ)

and to protect the interests of EC and MC, on whom he is financially dependent.’

For such reasons, among others, EC, MC, Kane, and Adams each lack disinterestedness

> Plaintiff does not concede that McEachern was disinterested and/or independent. Because Plaintiff can prevail on
this Motion without showing McFEachern to have lacked disinterestedness or independence, he chooses not to address
McEachern.
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1 || with respect to the challenged action of threatening Plaintiff and terminating Plaintiff. For that
2 || reason alone, each is not entitled to the presumptions of the business judgment rule in connection

3 || with their actions to threaten Plaintiff and to terminate him as President and CEQO of RDI.

4 2. Individual Defendants’ Lack of Independence

5 Independence, as used in the context of an element of the business judgment rule, requires
0 || a director to engage in decision-making “based on the corporate merits of the subject before the

7 || board rather than extrancous considerations or influences.” Gilbert v. El Paso, Co., 575 A.2d

8[| 1131, 1147 (Del. 1990); Rales, 634 A.2d at 936. “Directors must not only be independent, [they
91| also] must act independently.” Telxon Corp. v. Meyerson, 802 A.2d 257, 264 (Del. 2003).

10 || Assessing directorial independence “focus[es] on impartiality and objectiveness.” In Re Oracle
11 || Corp. Derivative Litig., 824 A.2d 917, 920, 938 (Del. Ch. 2003) (quoting Parfi Holding AB v.

12 || Mirror Image Internet, Inc., 794 A.2d 1211, 1232 (Del. Ch. 2001), rev'd in part on other grounds,
13 [| 817 A.2d 149 (Del. 2002); see Cede & Co. v. Technicolor, Inc., 634 A.2d 345, 362 (Del. 1993)

14 || (“We have generally defined a director as being independent only when the director’s decision is
15 || based entirely on the corporate merits of the transaction and is not influenced by personal or

16 || extraneous considerations”) modified in part on other grounds, 636 A.2d 956 (Del. 1994).
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17 “Independence is a fact-specific determination made in the context of a particular case.
18 || The Court must make that determination by answering the inquiries: independent from whom and
19 [| independent for what purpose?” Beam, 845 A.2d at 1049-50.

20 Independence is lacking in situations in which a corporate fiduciary derives a
benefit from the transaction that 1s not gencrally shared with the other sharcholders.

21 In situations in which the benefit is derived by another, the issue is whether the

79 [corporate fiduciary]’s decision resulted from that director being controlled by
another.” Orman v. Cullman, 794 A.2d 5, 25 n.50 (Del. Ch. 2002) (explaining the

23 distinction between interest and independence). Control may exist where a
corporate fiduciary has close personal or financial ties to or is beholden to another.

24

o Id. A close personal friendship in which the director and the person with whom he or she

» has the questioned relationship are “as thick as blood relations” would likely be sufficient

- to demonstrate that a director is not independent. In re MEFW S’ Holders Litig., 67 A.3d

- 496, 509 n.37 (Del. Ch. 2013).

Similarly, a director who is financially beholden to another person, such as a controlling
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1 || stockholder, is not independent of that person. In re Emerging Commc'n, Inc. S’Holders Litig.,
21| 2004 WL 1305745, at *33 (Del. Ch. May 3, 2004). The Court of Chancery has found that
3 || directors who derive a substantial portion of their income from a controlling stockholder are not
4 1| independent of that stockholder. /d. at *34. “In such circumstances, a director cannot be expected
5 || to exercise his or her independent business judgment without being influenced by the . . . personal
conscquences resulting from the decision.” Beam v. Stewart, 845 A.2d 1040, 1049 (Decl. 2004)
(quoting Rales v. Blasband, 634 A.2d 927, 936 (Decl. 1993)).

Here, the conduct of EC, MC, Kane, and Adams to extort Plaintiff into resolving trust and

o o0 1 D

cstate disputes on terms dictated by EC and MC are squarely and unequivocally cfforts to obtain
10 [| personal benefits for EC and MC not shared with other RDI sharcholders. Kane’s personal

11 || relationship with JIC, Sr., Kane’s view that JJC, Sr. intended MC control the Voting Trust, and

12 [| Kane’s actions to make that happen, among other things, demonstrate his lack of independence.

13 || As shown by his own sworn testimony in his Los Angeles Superior Court divorce proceeding and
14 ]| in this case, Adams as a general matter is not independent of EC and MC, because he is financially
15 || dependent upon income he receives from companies that EC and MC control. For such reasons,

16 || among others, each of Kane and Adams (and MC and EC) lacked independence and therefore are
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17 || not entitled to the presumptions of the business judgment rule.
18 3. Individual Defendants’ Lack of Good Faith
19 The element of good faith requires the director to act with a “loyal state of mind.”

20 || Hampshire Group, Ltd., v. Kuttner, 2010 WL 2739995, at *12 (Del. Ch. July 12, 2010). The

21 || concept of good faith is particularly relevant in cases in which there is a “controlling sharcholder

22 || with a supine or passive board.” In Re Walt Disney Co. Derivative Litig., 907 A.2d 693, 761

23 || n.487 (Del. Ch. 2005), aff’d, 906 A.2d 27 (Del. 2006). In such cases, “[g]ood faith may serve to
24 || fill [the] gap [between a fiduciary duties of care and loyalty] and insure that the persons entrusted
25 || by shareholders to govern [the] corporations do so with an honesty of purpose and with an

26 || understanding of whose interests they are there to protect.” /Id.

27 Here, in threatening plaintiff with termination and terminating him when he failed to

28 || succumb to the threats, Adams and Kane demonstrated unwavering loyalty—to MC and EC—not
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1 || to RDI by its other sharcholders. Adams and Kane contemporancously evidenced this, including
2 || by their own emails to one another and, as to Kane, to Plaintiff. (Appendix Ex. [28] (Dep. Ex. 81
3 || at GA00005500); Appendix Ex. [29] (Adams Dep. Ex. 85 at GA00005544-45; see also Appendix
411 Ex.[17] (TS 8/3/16 Dep. Tr. 65:12-66:20).) They diligently pursued and protected the interests of
5 || EC and MC, not the interests of RDI and its other shareholders.

4. Individual Defendants Failed To Exercise Due Care
Even had EC, MC, Kane, Adams, and McEachern acted in good faith and in a manner

that each reasonably could have believed to be 1n the best interests of RDI in taking the actions

o o0 1 D

complained of herein, which was not the case, they failed to engage in a process to decide and act
10 {| on an informed basis in view of the nature and importance of the decisions made. Indeed, the lack
11 || of process was contemporancously memorialized by each of directors Storey and Gould. Storey
12 || referred to a “kangaroo court,” and Gould predicted that they all would be sued for breaching

13 || their fiduciary duties. (Appendix Ex. [23] (Gould Dep. Ex. 318); Appendix Ex. [24] (Kane Dep.
14 [| Ex. 116).) Adams and Kane acknowledged that their conduct entailed picking sides in the family
15 [| dispute to threaten Plaintiff with termination and thereafter to carry out the termination threat after

16 || Plaintiff declined succumb to the coercion. (Appendix Ex. [ 29] (Adams Dep. Ex. 85 at
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17 [| GA00005544-45; see also Appendix Ex. [17] (TS 8/3/16 Dep. Tr. 65:12-66:20).) The result was
18 || that his termination was a fait accompli determined by EC, MC, Kane, Adams, and McEachern
19 [| prior to the first (May 21, 2015) supposed special RDI Board of Directors mecting at which the
20 || subject was raised. (Appendix Ex. [24] (Kane Dep. Ex. 116); Appendix Ex. 8 (TS0000073);

21 || Appendix Ex. [30] (EC 6/16/16 Dep. Tr. 175:17-176:8); Appendix Ex. [4] (Storey 2/12/16 Dep.

22 || Tr. at 96:5-91:4, 98:21-100:8, 100:14-101:11); Appendix Ex. [31] (Adams 4/28/16 Dep. Tr. at
23 [| 98:7-17; 98:18-99:22); Appendix Ex. [21] (Adams 4/29/16 Dep. Tr. 378:15-370:5); see also

24 || Appendix Ex. [18] (TS 8/31/16 Dep. Tr. 66:22-67:20) and Appendix Ex. [19] (Dep. Ex 131).)
25 || This conduct and the lack of process alone constitutes a breach of the duty of care.

26 C. Defendants Must and Cannot Satisfy the Entire Fairness Standard

27 “If the shareholder succeeds in rebutting the presumption of the business judgment rule,

28 [| the burden shifts to the defendant directors to prove the ‘entire fairness’ of the transaction.”
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McMullin v. Brand, 765 A.2d 910, 917 (Del. 2000). Horwitz v. SW. Forest Indus., Inc., 604
F.Supp. 1130, 1134 (D. Nev. 1985), which defendants cite for the platitude that the business
judgment rule applies to claims of breach of fiduciary duty against a director, is not to the contrary
and does not address circumstance of where, as here, the plaintiff has rebutted the presumption of
the business judgment rule.* In Shoen v. SAC Holding Corp., 122 Nev. 621, 137 P.3d 1171
(2006), the Nevada Supreme Court adopted the entire fairness doctrine, citing Oberly v. Kirby, 592
A.2d 445, 469 (Del. 1991). Id. at 640 n. 61, 137 P.3d at 1185 n. 61 Under that doctrine, when a
transaction 1s c¢ffected or approved by directors with an interest therein, “[t]he interested directors
bear the burden of proving the entire fairness of the transaction in all its aspects, including both the
fairness of the price and the fairness of the directors’ dealings.” Oberly, 592 A.2d at 469; accord
Reis v. Hazelett Strip-Casting Corp., 28 A.3d 442, 459 (Del. Ch. 2011) (“Once entire fairness
applies, the defendants must establish to the court's satisfaction that the transaction was the
product of both fair dealing and fair price.”) (quotation omitted).

Under the entire fairness test, “[d]irector defendants therefore are required to establish to
the court’s satisfaction that the transaction was the product of both fair dealing and fair price.”
Cinerama, Inc. v. Technicolor, 663 A.2d 1156, 1163 (Del. 1995) (quoting Cede & Co. v.
Technicolor, 634 A.2d 345, 361 (Del. 1993). Thus, a test of entire fairness is a two-part inquiry
into the fair-dealing, meaning the process Ieading to the challenged action and, separately, the end
result. In re Tele-Commec 'ns Inc. Shareholders Litig., 2005 Del. Ch. LEXIS 206, at *235, 2005
WL 3642727, at *9 (Del. Ch. Sept. 29, 2005).

The Motion makes no mention of this standard. In addition the Motion does not discuss the
“omnipresent specter” that the Defendants were acting primarily in their own interests or for
entrenchment purposes. Unocal Corp. v. Mesa Petroleum Co., 493 A.2d 946, 954 (Decl. 1985); see
also eBay Domestic Holdings, Inc. v. Newmark, 16 A.3d 1, 36 (Del. Ch. 2010).

* Citing NRS §§ 78.139 and 78.140, the Interested Director Defendants in a footnote (Motion at 20, fn. 5) posit that
“an ‘entire fairness’ review can be triggered only” under the particular circumstances addressed by those two statutory
provisions. NRS § 78.139 concerns the duties of directors in circumstances where there is a change or potential
change of control of the corporation and NRS 78.140 1s Nevada’s version of the standard statutory modification of the
common law principal that all interested director transactions are void. By their terms, on their face, those two
statutory provisions do not speak to circumstances other than those described above. Understandably, no authority is
cited for the obviously unsupported and erronecous conclusion proffered in that footnote.
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The entire fairness requirement entails “exacting scrutiny” to determine whether the
challenged actions were entirely fair. Paramount Commc’ns, Inc. v. QVC Network Inc., 637 A.2d
34,42 n.9 (Del. 1994). Under the entire fairness standard, the challenged action itself must be
objectively fair, independent of the beliefs of the director defendants. Geoff v. Il Cindus.Inc., 902
A.2d 1130, 1145 (Del. Ch. 20006); see also Venhill Ltd. P'ship ex rel. Stallkamp, No. CIV.A. 1866-
VCS, 2008 WL 2270488, at *22 (Del. Ch. June 3, 2008). “The fairness test therefore is “an
inquiry designed to assess whether a self-dealing transaction should be respected or set aside in
equity.” Venhill, 2008 WL 2270488 at *22.°

Here, Defendants cannot carry their burden of proving the entire fairness of their actions in
threatening to terminate and terminating Plaintiff as President and CEO of RDI. They cannot
carry their burden of demonstrating the entire fairness of the “process” leading to the termination
threats and the termination. They cannot carry their burden of showing that the threatened
termination and the termination were objectively fair, independent of the personal beliefs of any or

all of Kane, Adams, McEachern, EC and MC.°

> First, invocation of Nevada’s exculpatory statute, NRS 78.138.7, misapprehends the function of the statute, which is
to limit monetary liability and recovery, not to serve as a means by which the legal sufficiency of a fiduciary duty
claim 1s assessed. Emerald Partners v. Berlin, 787 A.2d 85, 92 (Del. 2001) (*a Section 102(b)(7) provision does not
operate to defeat the validity of a plaintiff’s claim on the merits,” but “it can operate to defeat the plaintiff’s ability to
recover monetary damages.”)

Second, even if the exculpatory statute were properly invoked, which it is not, it has no application where, as
here, duty of loyalty (and disclosure) claims also are made. McMillan v. Intercargo Corp., 768 A.2d 492, 501 n. 41
(Del. Ch. 2000) (the exculpatory statute does not apply to breaches duty of loyalty because “conduct not in good
faith, intentional misconduct, and knowing violations of law” are “quintessential examples of disloyal, 1.¢., faithless,
conduct”). Here, the complained of or challenged conduct also and obviously entails breaches of the duty of loyalty
(and disclosure). Orman v. Cullman, 794 A.2d 5, 41 (Del. Ch. 2002) (plaintiff pleaded a breach of the duty of
loyalty claim where 1t “pled facts which made it reasonable to question the independence and disinterest of a
majority of the Board that decided what information to include in the Proxy Statement”); O 'Reilly v. Transworld
Healthcare, Inc., 745 A.2d 902, 914-15, 920, n.34 (Del. Ch. 2014) (“right complaint alleges or pleads facts
sufficient to support the inference that the disclosure violation was made in bad faith, knowingly or intentionally, the
alleged violation implicates the duty of loyalty” and is relevant to the availability of the exculpatory provisions of
section 102(b)(7)): In re Wheelabrator Techs., Inc. Sh. Litig., 1992 Del. Ch. LEXIS at *41 n.18, 1992 WL 212595,
at *12 n.18 (Del. Ch. Sept. 1, 1992) (§102(b)(7) did not require dismissal where the plaintiffs pleaded that “the
breach of the duty of disclosure wasn’t intentional violation of the duty of loyalty”).
® The Interested Director Defendants apparently intend to defend their decision to terminate JJC under NRS
78.138.2(b) by asserting rcliance on counsel. (See Motion at 19:17 (“utilized the services of outside counsel”) and
Motion at p. 20, fn 4) (“the fact that the RDI Board utilized both the Company’s outside counsel and its own counsel,
separately retained, when evaluating Plaintiff”s performance and its duties 1s further evidence of the exercise of
protected business judgment.”) However, the Interested Director Defendants have failed to produce any documents
concerning advice from counsel and, at their depositions, invariably refused to disclose such information on the
grounds that it 1s privileged. As the Court previously ruled (and admonished counsel for the Interested Director
Defendants), they cannot have it both ways. Plaintiff respectfully submits that the Court cannot consider the claimed
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First, as to the process, the evidence shows that EC, MC, Kane, Adams, and McEachern
had communicated and agreed, prior to the May 19, 2015 agenda EC distributed that listed “status
of President and CEQ” as the first item, to vote to terminate Plaintiff as President and CEO of
RDI. It is undisputed that there had been no prior discussion at RDI board meeting of the possible
termination of Plaintiff as President and CEQO. There also is no dispute that, at the time, both
Directors Storey and Gould objected to the lack of process. Storey used the term “kangaroo
court.” Gould obscrved that all of the directors could be sued for breaching their fiduciary duties.
In short, the “process” leading to the threat to terminate Plaintiff if he did not resolve trust and
cstate disputes with MC and EC and to terminate him all was set in privatec communications
among EC, MC, Kane, Adams and McEachem prior to the supposed May 21 board meeting.

What followed at the two-part supposed May 29, 2015 board meeting was that Plaintiff
was told that the meeting would be adjourned until 6:00 p.m. that evening and that he had until
then to resolve the disputes he had with his sisters and that, 1f he failed to do so, the vote would
proceed and he would be terminated. No honest or colorable argument can be made that what
amounted to attempted extortion constitutes a process that meets the entire fairness standard.

Of course, the termination vote did not occur on May 29, 2015 because a tentative
resolution had been struck by Plaintiff with his sisters. When that resolution did not come to
fruition, EC convened another supposed special board meeting on June 12, 2015 and the
threatened termination vote was held. Kane, Adams and McEachern (and EC and MC) cach voted
to terminate Plaintiff as President and CEO and the “process” concluded. Thus, the “process”
consisted of sccret machinations and agreements, attempted extortion and exccution on the
cxtortion threat. No conceivable interest of RDI or its sharcholders persuasively or honestly can
be argued in an unavailing effort to prove that the “process” was entirely fair.

Likewise, the end result, whether the threatened termination of Plaintiff if he did not
resolve disputes with his sisters on terms satisfactory to the two of them, the termination of him
after he failed to do so, or both, is not a result the individual defendants can demonstrate was

objectively fair. There is nothing objectively fair about attempted extortion. Nor is there anything

reliance on counsel in connection with the Motion or any other Motion brought by the Interested Director Defendants.
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objectively fair about executing on an extortion threat when it fails to bring about the conduct
sought. The individual defendants cannot satisfy their burden of showing that the end result, the
termination of Plaintiff after he failed to resolve disputes with this sisters on terms satisfactory to
the two of them, was objectively fair.

D. The Interested Director Defendants’ Efforts to Avoid Having Their Actions As
Fiduciaries Evaluated As Such Is Mistaken, and Damning
The Defendants devote the first two sections of their “ARGUMENT” (Motion at 14:6-

17:9) to arguments that effectively assert that the actions of the directors of RDI in threatening to
terminate JJC and then terminating him when he did not acquiesce to their threats are actions that
ought not be analyzed as the actions of directors as fiduciaries. In support, they cite inapposite
cases concerning, for example, termination of an employee (an operating manager). (See Motion at
14: 13-14, citing Ingle v. Gilmore Motor Sales, Inc., 73 N.Y.2d 183, 190 (1989) and holding that
“the law of employment relations”™ should be the exclusive applicable legal construct where the
plaintiff also 1s the terminated person (See Motion at 14:15-18 (citation omitted).) This is a
different version of the same argument the Court rejected previously in denying the motion by
RDI to stay this case and compel arbitration. Indeed, the interested director defendants invocation
of RDI’s bylaws—rather than JJC’s employment agreement (Motion at 15:14-21)—tacitly
acknowledges that the conduct at issue here is that of defendants as directors, not RDI as the
employer. In this regard (only), their citation to Klassen v. Allegro Dev. Corp., C.A. Case No.
8262-VCL, 2013 WL 5967028, at *15 (Del. Ch. Nov.7, 2013) for the proposition that “[o]ften it is
said that a board’s most important task is to hire, monitor, and fire the CEO[,]” unintentionally
points up what is at issuc here, namely, whether the Director defendant breached fiduciary duties
in threatening to terminate and terminating the CEO of RDI.’

In short, these arguments arc damning because they show that the Interested Director
Defendants are desperate to avoid analysis of their actionable conduct as fiduciaries.

E. The Interested Director Defendants’ “Economic Harm” Argument Is

7 The interested director defendants cite Klassen for the proposition that “Directors need not give a CEQ advance
notice of a plan to remove him at a regular board meeting.” (Motion at 21;6.) Here, however, the supposed board
meeting was a special meeting first convened on May 21, 2016, following a May 19, 2016 E-mail from EC that
attached an agenda that included a purposcfully vague and misleading agenda item entitled” status of president and
CEO.”
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Erroneous, as a Matter of Law

The Individual Director Defendants assert that, to avoid summary judgment, Plaintiff must
produce “cognizable evidence” showing “that the breach [of fiduciary duty] proximately caused
the damages” claimed incurred by the Company. For that proposition, they cite Brown v. Kinross
Gold U.S.A., Inc., 531 F. Supp. 2d 1234, 1245 (D. Nev. 2008). (Motion at 14:18-24.) The
Individual Director Defendants also assert that, to sustain a fiduciary duty claim, there must be
“cognizable evidence” of “economic harm suffered” by the Company resulting from the alleged
breaches of fiduciary duty, citing a federal district court case from Colorado and an Arizona state
court case. (Motion at 22:13-21.)

The Individual Director Defendants’ “economic harm’ argument is mistaken as a matter of
law and 1s 1n reality a disguised exercise at question-begging. The Individual Director Defendants
argue that their complained of conduct 1s governed by the business judgment rule. However,
Plaintiff has introduced evidence sufficient to rebut the presumptions of the rule and require the
Individual Director Defendants to satisfy the entire fairness test, as to which they bear the
burden. Part of that burden is to show that the challenged result was entirely fair. The Individual

? 66

Director Defendants’ “economic harm” argument, therefore, begs the question of what is the
standard by which the Individual Director Defendants’ conduct is to be assessed.

The Delaware Supreme Court in Cede & Co. v. Technicolor, Inc., 634 A.2d 345 (Del.
1993), modified 636 A.2d 956 (Del. 1994), concluded that a requirement that a plaintiff show
proof of loss “may’” be “good law” in a tort action secking to recover damages for negligence, but
that such a requirement does not apply to a breach of fiduciary duty claim where the issue is the
appropriate standard of review of the director defendants’ challenged conduct. /d. at 370. The
Delaware Supreme Court explained that that is the proper rule of law because “[t]he purposc of a
trial court’s application of an entirc fairness standard of review to a challenged business
transaction is simply to shift to the defendant directors the burden of demonstrating to the court
the entire fairness of the transaction .” Id. at 369.

In a subsequent decision in the same case, the court emphasized that “[t]o inject a

requirement of proof of injury into the [business judgment] rule’s formulation for burden shifting

-19- 201058650810

JA4076




o
o
D
@
X
]
A
>
2
<
o
[%g]
o
<
o
S
T
Ee)
| -
©
2
o
I
on
o
o
&n

Las Vegas, NV 89169-5996

o o0 1 D

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

purposes is to lose sight of the underlying purpose of the rule.” Cinerama, Inc. v. Technicolor,
Inc., 663 A.2d 1156, 1166 (Del. 1995). Explaining further, the Delaware Supreme Court stated
that “[t]to require proof of injury as a component of the proof necessary to rebut the business
judgment presumption would convert the burden shifting process from a threshold determination
of the appropriate standard of review to a dispositive adjudication on the merits.” /d.

Separately and, contrary to the “cconomic harm” argument proffered by the Individual
Director Defendants in most—if not all—of their MSJ’s, the Delaware Supreme Court has made
clear that the courts may “fashion any form of equitable and monctary relicf as may be
appropriate.” Technicolor, 663 A.2d at 1166 (quoting Technicolor, 634 A.2d at 371).

Here, the Individual Director Defendants’ repeated crroncous reliance on an imaginary
“economic harm” requirement ignores the nature of this action, which is for breach of fiduciary
duty—an action in equity in which equitable rclief may be sought and obtained.

Here, the prayer for relief in Plaintiff’s SAC includes several requests for equitable relief,
relating both to the termination of Plaintiff and to subsequent actions of the Individual Director
Defendants to entrench themselves in control of the Company. Such relief may be sought and
secured by way of a breach of fiduciary duty claim.

“A general common law presumption is that a director’s or officer’s conflict of interest
can result in the voiding of a transaction.” Keith Paul Bishop & Jeffrey P. Zucker, Bishop and
Zucker on Nevada Corporations and Limited Liability Companies, § 8.16, 8-44 (2013). The
Nevada Supreme Court in Kendall v. Henry Mountain Mines, Inc., stated that directorial conflicts
arc such that the challenged action of the directors “may be avoided by the corporation or its
stockholders.” 78 Nev. 408, 410-11, 374 P.2d 889, 890 (1962) (quoting Marsters v. Umpqua
Valley Oil, Co.,90 P. 151, 153 (Or. 1907).

Here, as demonstrated above, the decisions of Kane and Adams to terminate Plaintiff as
President and CEO of RDI, after he failed to acquiesce to their threats to terminate him if he did
not resolve trust and estate litigation with EC and MC on terms satisfactory to the two of them,
was a decision with respect to which each of Kane and Adams lacked both disinterestedness and

independence, and with respect to which cach failed to act independently. Instead, cach simply
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1 || picked sides in a family dispute and power struggle as it suited their own quasi-familial, financial
2 || and/or other personal interests, as well as the personal interests of EC and MC. The decision to
3 || remove Plaintiff as President and CEO of RDI raises exactly the sort of conflicts and conflicted

41| decision-making and consequence that “may be avoided by the corporation or its stockholders.”

5 That 1s particularly so given the nature of the decision and the nature of subsequent actions
0 || taken to the same end. The subsequent actions include the cffective dismantling of RDI’s Board

71| of Directors, including by the creation of the EC Committee populated by EC and MC and the two
8 [| individuals most personally and financially beholden to them, Kane and Adams, and the

91| usurpation of the authority of RDI’s Board of Directors. That is even more true given the

10 {| misleading public disclosure, both by commission and omission, caused by EC and those other

11 || defendants who act at her behest and direction. All of these actions constitute ongoing breaches of
12 (| fiduciary duty, and each and all of them were undertaken to usurp management and control of the
13 | Company, in derogation of the interests of all RDI shareholders other than EC and MC. Those

14 || type of actions constitute or give rise to irreparable injury. See Vanderminden v. Vanderminden,
15 (| 226 A.D.2d 1037, 1041 (1996) (the “alleged harm, an opportunity for defendants to shift the

16 || balance of power and assume management and control of the company, and may properly be
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17 || viewed as irreparable injury” (citing Matter of Brenner v. Hart Sys., 114 A.D.2d 363, 366, 493

18 ]| N.Y.S.2d 881, 884 (1985))).

19 Additionally, although not required to do so, given the nature of the claims made and the
20 || relief sought, plaintiff has produced evidence of damages. For example, Plaintiff has claimed, and

21 || defendant’s own documents duplicative or redundant compensation including, for example,

22 || monies paid to third-party consultants (¢.g., Edifice) and/or monies paid to MC arising from the
23 || fact that MC has no prior real estate development experience, which requires the third-party

24 || consultants be paid to do what is part of her jobPlaintiff has claimed and publicly available

25 || information shows diminution in the price at which RDI stock traded in the days following

26 || disclosure of the termination of Plaintiff, as well as on the day of and following disclosure of the

27 || selection of EC as permanent President and CEO.
28
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Plaintiff has claimed and evidence shows corporate waste and monetary damages to RDI,
including from the inflated salary paid to MC and including from what amounted to a gift of
$200,000 to MC (supposedly for services she had provided over a number of preceding years, for
which neither her father is the former CEO or the board saw fit to compensate her at the time) and
a gift of $50,000 Adams (for serving as a director over the course of the preceding year, during
which there was nothing memorializing his supposed special services as such, much less the
notion that he should receive special compensation for those services which only were identified
after the fact).

F. The Interested Director Defendants’ Argument that Plaintiff Is an Inadequate
Derivative Plaintiff Is Mistaken and Has Been Rejected by the Court
Previously

The (understandably) next to last arguments made in the Motion attempt to revive the
subjects of demand futility and adequacy of the derivative plaintiff, which the Interested Director
Defendants twice argued and lost on motions to dismiss. (Motion at 23:18- and 28:16.) Nothing
has changed, except that the intervening plaintiffs have given up and gone home, which is of no
moment. These arguments remain unavailing as a matter of law. Plaintiff respectfully refers the
Court to his prior briefing of these issues, and incorporates same herein.

First, in response to the individual defendants’ MSJs, Plaintiff has introduced substantial
evidence of self-dealing entrenchment conduct by the Interested Director Defendants—who still
comprise a majority of the Board of Directors. For example, the evidence shows that and how EC,
MC, Kane, and Adams misused their positions as directors to enable EC and MC to exercise an
option supposedly held by the estate to acquire 100,000 sharcs of RDI Class B voting stock. The
cvidence also shows that and how EC, MC, Kane, Adams, and McEachern acted to force Storey to
resign and to replace him and fill a new director slot with unqualified individuals effectively
sclected by and loyal to EC and MC. Of course, this is in addition to evidence regarding
Plaintiffs’ termination, which was merely the beginning of an ongoing course of entrenchment
motivated conduct.

Second, the Motion’s demand argument is unavailing as a matter of law, for several

reasons. First, a majority of the current Board of Directors are the same directors with respect to
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whom the Court previously found demand excused. That the composition of the RDI Board has
changed therefore is a “red herring.” Under both these so-called Aronson and Rales tests, the
entire board need not suffer from disqualifying interest or lack of independence to excuse demand,
because where “there 1s not a majority of independent directors . . . demand would be futile.”
Beam, 845 A.2d at 1046, n. §; see, e.g., Beneville v. York, 769 A.2d 80,82 (Del. Ch. 2000)
(demand is excused where the board 1s evenly divided). Second, demand futility is assessed based
on “the circumstances at the commencement of a derivative suit.” Aronson v. Lewis, 473 A.2d
805, 810 (Dcl. 1984). That is because, in assessing whether demand is excused, “[1]t 1s th[¢] board
[at the time the derivative complaint is filed], and no other, that has the right and responsibility to
consider a demand by a sharcholder to initiate a lawsuit to redress his grievances.” In re infoUSA,
Inc. Shareholders Litig., 953 A.2d at 985-986. The simple reason for this rule of law is that “that
1s the board on which demand would be made.” In re VeriSign, Inc. Derivative Litig., 531 F. Supp
2d. 1173, 1189 (N.D. cal. 2007); see also Kaufman v. Beal, 1983 WL 2029, at *9 (Del. Ch. Feb.
25, 1983) (stating it “offends notions of fairness to require a plaintiff in a stockholder’s derivative
suit to make a new demand every time the Board of Directors of the corporation has changed”).®

In sum, the renewed demand futility made in the Motion is unavailing.

The Interested Director Defendants also revive their factually and legally deficient
arguments that plaintiff is not an adequate derivative representative. (Motion at 23:18- 28:26.)
The Court previously rejected these arguments based on the same claimed facts (except for the
intervening plaintiffs dropping out) and same asserted law.

The interested director defendants once again assert that “cconomic antagonisms”™ cxist,

that the remedy sought is personal and that other litigation is pending. The supposed “economic

® The two cases cited in the Motion are not to the contrary. Each reflect nothing other than that a poorly pleaded
complaint will require substantially additional work on the part of the court, including to determine what claims are
direct and what claims are derivative. Thus, in MCG Capital Corp. v. Maginn, No. CIV.A. 4521-CC, 2010 WL
1782271 (Del. Ch. May 5, 2010) an unpublished opinion, the court found that the complaint contained both direct and
derivative claims, that it failed to specify which was which and that the parties disagreed, concluding ““that after
undergoing this exercise I appreciate more fully MacDuff’s sentiment; ‘confusion now hath made his

masterpiece.”” Id. at *4. Similarly, Khanna v. McMinn, No. CIV.A. 20545-NC, 2006 WL 1388744 (Del. Ch. May 9,
2006) was an action in which the plaintiffs made claims relating to six separate transactions (other than disclosure
claims) allegedly resulting from breaches of fiduciary duty. Those six separate transactions did not all arise out of the
same set of facts and circumstances or even make the same claims against the same directors in each instance. As
such, the case 1s readily distinguishable.
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1 || antagonisms” once again incorrectly assume that Plaintiff is not a significant sharcholder and that
2 || the value of his RDI stock, and the stock held by the trust of which his children are three of five
3 || beneficiaries, pales in comparison to the value of the compensation to which he would be entitled
4 1| pursuant to his executive employment agreement. There is no dispute the facts are exactly to the
5 || contrary. That one remedy sought also relates to Plaintiff’s position as CEO is a function of the
fact that the termination of Plaintiff as CEO was the beginning of the ongoing course of
entrenchment activities that are the subject of this lawsuit. That equitable relief is available

because of the lack of disinterest and lack of independence on the part of Adams and Kane in

o o0 1 D

threatening to terminate Plaintiff and then terminating him does not change the fact that such relicf
10 (| is available and here, appropriate. The claim that Plaintiff is using this derivative action to obtain a
11 || favorable settlement another action is nothing more than interested director defendants imputing to
12 (| Plaintiff exactly the conduct in which they engaged, when they threatened Plaintiff with

13 [| termination if he did not settle trust and estate disputes with EC and MC on in terms satisfactory to
14 (| the two of them. They proffered no evidence the Plaintiff has reciprocated, because there is none.
15 || Likewise, the Interested Director Defendants simply word processed their factually erroneous

16 || arguments that Plaintiff invoked the name “Corleone™ to refer in this action to defendant Kane
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17 || when, as evidence shows, it was Kane himself who used that name.

18 Literally the only portion of this argument that is new, or different, is the claim that

19 [| Plaintiff has no sharcholder support. Of course, the Court knows that claim is inaccurate, as

20 [| reflected by the objections to the T2 Plaintiffs’ request for court approval of their settlement, filed

21 || by the largest holders of both RDI class A and class B stock.

22 In sum, the revived demand and adequacy of plaintive arguments remain unveiling, as a

23 || matter of law.

24 G. The Interested Director Defendants Rely on Inapposite Authority Concerning
55 Employment Matters and Cases

26 Finally, the Interested Director Defendants assert that “Plaintiff’s reinstatement demand is
7 unsupportable and untenable.” (Motion at 20:27- 30:21.) In support of that conclusion, they cite in
oy || case after casc in which the plaintiff sought relief personally as a terminated employee. This
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simply is a different version of the Company’s unsuccessful motion to compel arbitration which
explicitly (as compared to here, implicitly) was predicated on the notion that because Plaintiff is a
former executive, he has no rights as an RDI shareholder. That conclusion is erroneous as a matter
of law, as the Court previously determined.

Perhaps recognizing that Plaintiff, the court, or both will recognize their slightly disguised
arguments as a rchash of what the Company previously argued unsuccessfully, the Interested
Director Defendants also make a “long period of time” since termination argument and an
“irreparable animosity between the parties” argument. The first of those arguments ignores the fact
that, rather than hiring a CEO pursuant to a CEO scarch process, the defendants instead aborted
that process and hired one of their own, EC. The second argument assumes, incorrectly, that RDI
18 a private company and that the interests of public sharcholders do not matter, both of which are
crroncous and show the cases cited to be inapposite.

V. CONCLUSION

For the forgoing reasons, Plaintiff respectfully submits that Individual Defendants’ Motion
for Summary Judgment (No. 1) should be denied.
DATED this 13th day of October, 2016.

LEWIS ROCA ROTHGERBER CHRISTIE LLP

/s/ Mark G. Krum

Mark G. Krum (Nevada Bar No. 10913)
3993 Howard Hughes Pkwy, Suite 600
Las Vegas, NV 89169-5958

Attorneys for Plaintiff
James J. Cotter, Jr.
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2 I hereby certify that on this 13th  day of October, 2016, I caused a true and correct copy of
3 || the foregoing to be electronically served to all parties of record via this Court’s electronic filing
4| system to all parties listed on the E-Service Master List.

/s/ Luz Horvath
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Plaintiff James J. Cotter, Jr., (“JJC” or “Plaintiff”), by and through his attorney Mark
G. Krum of Lewis Roca Rothgerber Christie LLP, files this Opposition to INDIVIDUAL
DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT (NO. 2) RE: THE
ISSUE OF DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE filed by Reading International, Inc. (the
“Motion™), as follows.

I. INTRODUCTION

This court should deny defendants’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. Directorial
independence is not a claim or an element of a claim. It is a factual question raised where, as here,
directors seek to protect their conduct by invoking the business judgment rule. Thus,
“[i]lndependence is a fact-specific determination made in the context of a particular case. The
Court must make that determination by answering the inquiries: independent from whom and
independent for what purpose?” Beam ex rel. Martha Stewart Living Omnimedia, Inc. v. Stewart,
845 A.2d 1040, 1049-50 (Del. 2004); see also Telxon Corp. v. Meyerson, 802 A.2d 257, 264 (Del.
2003) (“Directors must not only be independent, [they also] must act independently.”). For such
reasons, MSJ No. 2 seeks relief that cannot be obtained pursuant to Rule 56 and, even if that were
not the case, raises exactly the type of factual determination that is not properly made on a Rule 56
motion for summary judgment.

The actual questions the Court would need to answer are questions not raised in MSJ No.
2. Those questions concern whether, with respect to challenged actions the individual director
defendants seek to excuse by invoking the business judgment rule, the director defendants can
establish that the majority of those making the challenged decisions were independent generally
and independent specifically with respect to the challenged decisions. These are not questions that
are properly resolved by way of a Rule 56 motion for summary judgment.

II. FACTUAL CLARIFICATION

Kane Maintained a Close Quasi-Familial Relationship with JJC, Sr. for Five Decades
The Director Defendants claim that the “evidence establishes that any ‘deep friendship’

was between Kane and the deceased James J. Cotter, Sr.—not with his daughters Ellen and
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Margaret Cotter.” (Defs.” MSJ No. 2 at 16:18-19; see also id. at 1:26-28 (“First, ‘the deep
friendship’ of which Plaintiff complains with respect to director Kane was actually between Kane
and the now-deceased James J. Cotter, Sr.—mnot between Kane and the Cotter sisters.”)) This is
exactly the point Plaintiff makes.

The evidence shows that (1) Kane generally lacked independence from EC and MC
because, among other things, of his five-decade long quasi-familial relationship with their father
and Kane’s understanding that their father intended for MC alone, not MC together with Plaintiff,
to be the trustee of the voting trust (which was a fundamental issue and dispute between plaintiff,
on one hand, and MC and EC on the other hand) and (2) with respect to decisions to threaten with
termination and to terminate plaintiff, Kane lacked disinterestedness because, among other things,
it was his view that the wishes of his five-decade deceased friend, JIC, Sr., were that MC along,
not MC and Plaintiff together, would be the trustee of the voting trust that controlled RDI, which
was one of the points on which MC and EC—and Kane—insisted that Plaintiff accept as part of a
global resolution of disputes between Plaintiff, on one hand, and MC and EC, on the other hand.

Kane was a close friend of JIC, Sr. for five decades. Kane and JJC Sr. had known each
other since attending a L.L.M. program at the NYU Law School in 1963 and “became fast friends”
and had a “very close relationship.” (Appendix Ex. [1] (Kane 5/2/16 Dep. 29:8-23, 32:20-25).)
Kane served as an officer of both Craig Corporation, an entity controlled by JJC, Sr., and as a
director of RDI a number of different times in the 1980s and 1990s, most recently returning as an
RDI board member in 2004. (Appendix Ex. [1] (Kane 5/2/16 Dep. Tr. 15-16).) Although they
had disputes that prompted Kane to resign a number of times, the two were “too good friends to let
[things] fester too long.” (Appendix Ex. [1] (Kane 5/2/16 Dep. Tr. 25:1-2).)

Kane in deposition repeatedly claimed that “I think I knew better than anybody what [Sr.]
would have wanted. I’'ve known him for—I knew him for 50 years.” (Appendix Ex. [2] (Kane
5/3/16 Dep. Tr.264:2-4).) Kane has known the Cotter children since their births; he testified that
they address him as “Uncle Ed.” (Appendix Ex. [1] (Kane 5/2/16 Dep. Tr. 37).) This
exceptionally close and lengthy personal relationship rendered Kane unable to make decisions as

an independent and disinterested member of RDI’s Board of Directors regarding matters that

2
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touched upon disputes between MC and EC, on one hand, and Plaintiff, on the other, hand.

First, Kane was well aware of the fundamental disputes between MC and EC, on one hand,
and Plaintiff, on the other, regarding who would be the trustee of the Voting Trust that would
control apparently seventy percent of RDI’s class B voting stock:

Q. When you refer to “all issues within the family,” to what were you
referring?

Kane: I can’t recall. I see “litigation” there. That was one thing. But I
can’t recall what the other issues were at the time.

Q.: Well, one of the issues was the lack of agreement regarding whether

Margaret or Jim and Margaret would be the trustees of the voting trust,

correct?

Kane: Well, that’s litigation in my mind.
(Appendix Ex. [1] (Kane 5/2/16 Dep. Tr. 128:7-19); see also id. at 210:20—211:3 (confirming
that Kane understood that “one of the issues in dispute was who would control the—the trust that
held class B voting stock™); 211:5-18 (noting Kane’s understanding that there were two outcomes:
(1) either MC would sole trustee of the voting trust under the so-called 2013 Amendment or
(2) JCJ and MC would be co-trustees of the voting trust under the so-called 2014 Amendment);
see also Appendix Ex. [2] (Kane 5/3/16 Dep. Tr.276:15-20).)

Second, Kane has his own opinion about what JIC, Sr. intended in that regard. Kane’s

opinion was that it was JJC, Sr.’s wishes that MC alone be trustee of the voting trust.

Q: Referring you, Mr. Kane, to your testimony about your

understanding as to why in the 2013 amendment Margaret had been

designated as trustee of the voting trust, how did you come to have that

understanding?

Kane: Mr. Cotter informed me. In one of our conversations he said he was

making Margaret the trustee of the voting stock. And I asked him why.

And he told me -- and it's right in my brain, it's imprinted on it -- that "that

will force them to work together." That's a quote.

Q: What else did you say or what else did he say in that conversation
about either the trust documentation or [t]he Cotter children working
together?

Kane: Excuse me. Repeat that, please.

Q.: What else did he say, if anything, during that conversation about the
trust documentation?

Kane: Nothing that I can recall.
3
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Q.: What else, if anything, did he say during that conversation about

2 prompting or forcing the three -- his three Cotter children to work together?
3 Kane:  He didn't need to say anything. I knew what he was talking about.
4 Q.: - What was your understanding at the time?

5 Kane: Understanding was that their diverse personalities, and there had

been some incidents -- I call incidents, nothing specific or difficult -- at
6 board meetings that I thought it was a good idea to make Margaret, given
the background -- I was surprised, but I thought it was a good idea that he
7 made Margaret the sole trustee.
8 || (Appendix Ex. [2] (Kane 5/3/16 Dep. Tr. 257:22-259:6 (emphasis supplied); see also id. at 264:5—
91 11 (“We would have regular meetings in Laguna just the two of us, talk over strategy, talk over his
10 || children, talk over all issues. And it was reflected in his comment to me that he was giving
11 || Margaret the voting power to force them to work together. So, I knew that's what he wanted.)
12 1| (emphasis supplied); Appendix Ex. [3] (Kane 6/9/16 Dep. Tr. 602:8-17).) Kane testified further

13 || at his deposition as follows:

ROTHGERBER CHRISTIE

14 Q.:  Were you about to tell me something about whether you thought the
2014 amendment reflected what you understand to be Jim Cotter, Sr.’s
15 wishes?
16 Kane: That’s what the Court will decide. I don’t -- I try to stay out of That.
I have my own opinion, but I don’t have all the facts.
17
Q.:  What’s the basis for your opinion? The conversation that you
18 described to us already?
» Kane: Yes.
19
Q.. Anything else?
20
Kane: 50 years of friendship. And so I think I knew him in some respects
21 better than any member of his family.
22 Q..  Okay. And your opinion is that based on the facts you have —
23 Kane: Yes.
24 Q.: and not considering the facts you acknowledge you do not have —
25 Kane: Idon’t know if there are any.
26 Q.:  Right. But based on the facts you have, you think it’s the 2013
amendment that reflects Jim Cotter, Sr.’s wishes?
27
Kane: Yes.
28

(Appendix Ex. [2] (Kane 5/3/16 Dep. Tr. 277:2-278:4 (objection omitted).)
4 |
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Third, that is exactly what Kane acted to make happen, by sending emails to Plaintiff
pressuring him to resolve his disputes with his sisters by acceding to their demands. On the
evening of May 28th Kane wrote Plaintiff stating, “Ellen is going to present you with a global
plan to end the litigation and move the Company forward. If you agree to it, you, Fllen and
Margaret will work in a collaborative manner and you will retain your title.” (Appendix Ex. [4]
(Dep. Ex. 118 at EK 00000396 (emphasis supplied).) Kane further warned, “If it is a take-it-or-
leave-it, then | STRONGLY ADVISE YOU TO TAKE IT, even though I have not seen or heard
the particulars.” (Appendix Ex. [4] (Dep. Ex. 118 at EK 00000396).)
On May 29, 2015, the vote to terminate Plaintiff was not had, because Plaintiff appeared to
have reached an agreement with MC and EC satisfactory to the two of them. (Appendix Ex. [1]
(Kane 5/2/16 Dep. Tr. (191:6-24).)
When that tentative agreement did not come to fruition, Kane resumed his advocacy
toward Plaintiff, including on June 11, 20135, stating: “I do believe that if you give up what you
consider ‘control’ for now to work cooperatively with your sisters,” Kane admonished, “you will
find that you will have a lot more commonality than you think.” (Appendix Ex. [ 5] (Kane Dep.
Ex. 306 at p. EK 00001613).) “Otherwise,” Kane threatened, “you will be sorry for the rest of
your life, they and your mother will be hurt and your children will lose a golden opportunity.”
(Id.) Tellingly, Kane also wrote:
“[Flor now I think you have to concede that Margaret will vote the B
stock. As I said, you dad told me that giving Margaret the vote was his
way of “forcing’ the three of you to work together. Asking to change that
1S a nonstarter.”

(Appendix Ex. [5] (Kane Dep. Ex. 306 (emphasis original)).)

The termination vote went forward on June 12, 2015. (191:25-192:11). Kane voted to
terminate Plaintiff:

Kane: I—1I said to him at one point, “Take it. You have nothing to lose.
You're going to get terminated if you don’t. If you can work it out with
your sisters, it will go on and I will support you. I'll even make a motion to
see if the company will reimburse the legal fees.” 1 did not want him to go.

And you, I’m sure, see emails in there to that effect. Even though I voted—
was voting against him, I wanted him to stay as C.E.O.

L R
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Q.:  But that resolution did not come to pass because Jim Cotter, Jr.,
rejected it, correct?

Kane: He rejected it, yes.
Q.:  And he got himself terminated, right?
Kane: Yes.
(Appendix Ex. [1] (Kane 5/2/16 Dep. Tr.194—195 (objection omitted).)

The Director Defendants insist that “there is no evidence that Plaintiff’s mother has chosen
sides in the intra-family dispute, that she has related this choice to Codding, or that Codding
would consider that view to be any way material to her exercise of her duties as an RDI director.”
(Defs.” MSJ No. 2 at 2:17-19.) In fact, Plaintiff’s mother has chosen sides: EC lives with her
mother. (JJC Dec. at §24.) Additionally, after the “civil war erupted” between the Cotter
siblings, Mary Cotter reacted by constantly calling Director Kane for advice on how to react and
what to do. (Appendix Ex. [6] (JJC 5/16/16 Dep. Tr. 105:15-23).)

Michael Wrotniak has nothing more to recommend him as an RDI director than his and his
wife’s close, personal relationship with MC, which make them beholden to her. MC has known
Michael and Patricia Wrotniak since college, and MC describes Patricia Wrotniak as a “close”
friend whom she sees on a regular basis in social settings. (Appendix Ex. [7] (MC 5/13/16 Dep.
Tr. 322-323).) Patricia Wrotniak was one of a select few friends to whom MC sent a tribute email
regarding her father’s passing, inviting Patricia Wrotniak to the funeral and celebratory mass.
(Appendix Ex. [8] (MC00006333).)

Trisha Wrotniak was MC’s roommate in her freshman year of college at Georgetown
University. (JJC Dec. at §23.) MC and Trisha Wrotniak have been life-long best friends starting
with their first year in college together. (JJC Dec. at § 23.) Michael Wrotniak also went to
Georgetown University where he met his wife Trisha Wrotniak and also developed a very close
friendship with MC. (JJC Dec. at § 23.) Plaintiff believes that because MC has few friends, her
relationship with Trisha and Michael Wrotniak is extremely important and close. (JJC Dec. at
123.) MC has spent a great deal of time with the Wrotniaks over the years, as they live in
Bronxville just outside of New York City, close to MC. (JJC Dec. at § 23.) MC became like an

aunt to the Wrotniaks’ children. (JJC Dec. at §23.) MC and the Cotter children’s mother, Mary,
6
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know the Wrotniaks very well also, as they have all attended social events in New York, such as
birthdays and cocktail parties MC has hosted at her apartment in New York City. (JJC Dec. at

9 23.) Plaintiff believes MC’s oldest child refers to Trisha and Michael Wrotniak as aunt and
uncle. (JJC Dec. at 23.) Michael Wrotniak’s communication with Plaintiff has been very
limited and guarded given his knowledge of this lawsuit and his close ;elationship with MC. (JJC
Dec. at ] 23.)

The documents also bear out the compromising relationship: before and after JIC, Sr.’s
passing, MC corresponded extensively with both Michael and Patricia Wrotniak regarding MC
providing show tickets for the Wrotniaks and the women’s respective vacation plans. (Appendix
Ex. [9-13] (MC00000901, -1201, -3887, -6355, -7906, ).) For example, Michael Wrotniak, whom
the Director Defendants portray as a distant acquaintance of MC’s, began an email to her, “Hi M, I
hope you had nice Thanksgiving with your kiddies—I am sure this year was more difficult than
most with the adults—but day by day,” after which he asked for two tickets to STOMP. (Id. at
MC00007906.)

Like Director Wrotniak, Judy Codding owes her role as director exclusively to the fact of
her friendship with MC. For example, MC used her RDI computer (and assistant) to process
invoices for Judy Codding’s travel. (Appendix Ex. [14] (MC00004424, -4425.) Judy Codding
also approached MC in an attempt to procure tickets to the musical Hamilion. (Appendix Ex. [15]
(MCO00013935.) EC first met Judy Codding at Mary Cotter’s home in a social setting. (Appendix
Ex. [16] (EC 5/19/16 Dep. Tr. 307:19-308).)

Judy Codding has a very close personal relationship with Plaintiff’s mother, and over the
more than thirty years she has known Plaintiff’s mother, Ms. Codding has become close with EC
and MC in turn. (JJC Dec. at  24.) On October 13, 2015, Plaintiff met Ms. Codding, and she
expressed to Plaintiff that RDI is a family business and that the only people who should manage
RDI should be one of the Cotters and that Ms. Codding would help make sure of that, whether it
be Ellen or Plaintiff. (JJC Dec. at 9 24.)

Ms. Codding’s reaction to the bid from Paul Heth reflected her unwavering loyalty to EC.

(JJC Dec. at q 24.) Before the board meeting at which the Board was going to discuss the bid, Ms.

7
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Codding asked Plaintiff’s views on the bid and indicated that there was no way that the bid should
even be considered (clearly having spoken to EC about it before the board meeting). (JJC Dec. at
724)

There is no dispute that EC and MC lack independence, a fact they freely concede: “The
Individual Defendants, for the purposes of this motion, do not contest the independence of Ellen
and Margaret Cotter as RDI directors with respect to the transactions and/or corporate conduct at
issue.” (Defs.” MSJ No.2 atp. 14 n.2.)

| Similarly, the Director Defendants agree with Plaintiff’s position regarding Adams: that he
was financially dependent on MC and EC. “Adams’ income from GWA Capital Partners and
GWA Ihveshnents has been inconsistent and limited in recent years, and—outside some recent
stock or asset sales—his compensation relating to RDI and/or the Cotter family entities has
represented a noteworthy portion of his annual income.” (Defs.” MSJ No. 2 at p. 25:15-17.)

Defendants do not dispute that at the time he acted to terminate Plaintiff, Adams—by his
own admission-—was financially dependent on the Cotter sisters: he received a majority of his
income from entities controlled by them. First, Adams was to be paid, was paid, and is paid
$1,000 per week pursuant to an agreement with through JC Farm Management Co. (Appendix Ex.
[17] (GA 4/28/16 Tr. 41:16-42:25).) Adams testified that the “person who [initially] made the
decision that [he] would be paid $52,000 a year” was JJC, Sr., and that the person that makes that
decision today is “the estate,” which he understands and agrees is controlled by MC and EC.
(Appendix Ex. [17] GA 4/28/16 Tr. (28:12-29:2).)

Second, Adams helps manage four real estate developments around the country in which
JIC, Sr. invested, for which Adams received a 5 percent interest in the ventures. (Appendix Ex.
[17] GA 4/28/16 (41:16-42:25).) Adams already has received about $30,000 from one real estate
venture, and stands to be paid significant additional cémpensation, potentially more than
$100,000, which he will receive from the Estate. (Appendix Ex. [17] (Adams 4/28/16 Dep. Tr.
52:6-52:3, 54:3-55:4, 56:12-58:10).) It 1s EC and MC (as executors) who will approve these
payouts. (Id) Adams continues to report to the Cotter sisters in these Cotter business roles
unrelated to RDI. (55:5-21, 56:12-58:10, 161:15-162:12).)

8
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To attempt to cover up these facts, Defendants’ second summary judgment motion
overemphasizes the importance of Adams’s savings, claiming he “has a net worth of nearly $1
million,” meaning in Defendants’ judgment that “focusing on the importance of RDI and/or Cotter
family entities to Adam’s yearly income vastly overstates the materiality of such funds on his
overaﬁ economic picture.” (Defs.” MSJ No. 2 at 25:26-28, 26:2.) First, the proffered figure is
inaccurate. Defendants themselves earlier report that Adams’s net worth is “approximately
$900,000,” (id. at 8:28), which lower figure is consistent with Adams’s own testimony, (Appendix
Ex. [17] (Adams 4/28/16 Dep. Tr. 36:18-25). Second, such a statement discounts that Adams, at
63 years of age, is statistically likely to live at least 20 more years. See, e.g., Social Security
Administration, Calculators: Life Expectancy, https://ssa.gov/planners/lifeexpectancy.html (last
visited Sept. 29, 2016) (“A man reaching age 65 today can expect to live, on average, until age
84.3.”). In connection with his divorce, Adams submitted declarations related to his expenses, and
they total, conservatively, about $63,222 per year or $5,268.50 per month. (See Appendix Ex.
[18] (Adams Dep. Ex. 53 at JCOTTER014973).) Were Adams to spend money at even this
conservative rate, he would not be able to support himself for the remainder of his expected
lifespan. Furthermore, if Adams wishes to enjoy the standard of living to which he is accustomed
and to provide for the future, he needs to eamn additional money. Therefore, Adams cannot
maintain a living without the Cotter income he has come to rely upbn. His financial dependence
on the Cotter sisters for his living deprived him of independence generally and it made him
interested particularly with respect to Plaintiff’s termination.

Similarly, the Director Defendants emphasize that “Adams, as advocated by director
Gould, later voluntarily resigned as a member of RDI's Compensation Committee on May 14,
2016.” (Defs.” MSJ No. 2 at p. 26 n.7.) If Adams lacked independence for purposes of Cotter
income, he indisputably lacked independence for purposes of Cotter employment and status,
whether terminating Plaintiff, making EC CEQO, or making MC executive vice president of New

York real estate development.

If Adams sincerely believed he had done nothing untoward, he would not have hid his

dependence on Cotter family businesses on his D&O questionnaire—but he mentioned none of

9
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1 |} that. (Appendix Ex. [19] (Adams Dep. Ex. 55).) Defendant Gould became aware from Adams’s

2 || deposition testimony that Adams depended upon “the Cotter family” for “a great percentage” of

(PN

his “eamnings.” (App. Ex. [20] (WG 6/08/16 Dep. Tr. 32:1-5).) Consequently, Mr. Gould
expressed to EC and to Craig Tompkins that Gould “did not believe [Adams] was independent for
5 || purposes of serving on the . . . compensation committee.” (Id. at 33:14—18; see also id. at 36:2-7.)

Gould reasoned that “clearly if Mr. Adams’s income was substantially derived from Reading and

~ O

the Cotter family, if his whole livelihood depended on them, he could not be independent in

8 || passing on the compensation of the Cotter family members.” (/d. at 33:21-34:7.) Adams later

9 || resigned from the RDI compensation committee. (/d. at 36:8—-10.) Gould agreed that Mr. Adams
10 || was a “vocal proponent in support of terminating” Plaintiff. (/d. 36:19-22.)

11 NASDAQ Independence Issue

12 Director Defendants repeatedly claim that Adams is independent under NASDAQ Rule

13 || 5605(a)(2). (See, e.g., Defs.” Mot. Sum. J. No. 2 at 2:23, 7:23, 10:7, 26:9, and 26 n.7.) However,
14 || aboard’s determination that a director is independent for the purposes of listing standards does not
15 || mean that the director is independent as a matter of Delaware law. Teamsters Union 25 Health

16 || Serv. & Ins. Planv. Baiera, 199 A.3d 44, 61 (Del. Ch. 2015); Yucaipa Am. Alliance Fund II, L.P.
17 || v. Riggio, 1 A.3d 310, 315 (Del. Ch. 2010) (declining to find that a director was independent as a
18 || matter of Delaware law even though he was independent under New York Stock Exchange rules
19 1] because of investments made by a large stockholder of the company into the director’s business
20 || and because of donations the stockholder made to candidates the director suggested in his capacity

21 || as a political operative). The issue of independence under NASDAQ standards is irrelevant to the

ROTHGERBER CHRISTIE

22 || question of independence under the substantive law that will decide this case.

23| mI.  ARGUMENT

24 A. Summary Judgment Standard
25 Where Plaintiff properly identifies additional facts necessary to oppose the motion and
26 || seeks additional time to conduct this discovery, summary judgment is improper. Aviation

27 || Ventures, Inc. v. Joan Morris, Inc., 121 Nev. 113, 117-18, 110 P.3d 59, 62 (2005). Under NRCP

28 || 56(f), the party opposing a motion for summary judgment may request the denial or continuance

10

JA4100



3993 Howard Hughes Pkwy, Suite 600

Las Vegas, NV 89169-5996

ROTHGERBER CHRISTIE

Lewis Roca

~ N

o a]

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

of a motion for summary judgment to obtain additional affidavits or conduct further discovery.
Rule 56(f) "requires that the party opposing summary judgment provide an affidavit stating the
reasons why denial or continuance of the motion for summary judgment is necessary to allow the
opposing party to obtain further affidavits or discovery." Choy v. Ameristar Casinos, 127 Nev. 265
P.3d 698, 700 (2011). Where it is “unclear whether genuine issues of material fact exist” a Rule
56(f) continuance allows for “proper development of the record.” Aviation Ventures, 121 Nev. at
115, 110 P.3d at 60.

B. RDI Improperly Seeks Summary Judgment of Contested Factual Issues

RDI’s motion seeks summary judgment “on the issue of director independence,” not on
any of their claims. See Motion at p. 1 (emphasis added). While NRCP 56 authorizes partial
summary judgment on a particular claim, or even a dispositive element of that claim, RDI does not
seek that relief. Instead, RDI inappropriately seeks determination of contested factual issues, i.e.
director independence and interestedness. See Motion at pp. 14-15 (no citation to any claim in the
Second Amended Complaint, and only addressing issue of director interestedness).

The Delaware Supreme Court has been clear that director “independence is a fact-specific
determination made in the context of a particular case.” Beam ex rel. Martha Stewart Living
Omnimedia, Inc. v. Stewart, 845 A.2d 1040, 1049 (Del. 2004); In re Facebook, Inc., IPO Sec. &
Derivative Litig., 922 F. Supp. 2d 445, 468 (S.D.N.Y. 2013) (same); In re Finisar Corp.
Derivative Litig., 542 F. Supp. 2d 980, 988 (N.D. Cal. 2008) (same). “Delaware law does not
contain bright-line tests for determining independence but instead engages in a case-by-case fact
specific inquiry . . . .” Teamsters Union 25 Health Servs. & Ins. Plan v. Baiera, 119 A.3d 44, 61
(Del. Ch. 2015).

Defendants’ argument that director independence is é question of law is unavailing. See
Motion at pp.14-15, citing In re MEFW S'holders Litig., 67 A.3d 496, 509 (Del. Ch. 2013), aff'd sub
nom., Kahnv. M & F Worldwide, 88 A.2d 635 (Del. 2014)." It ignores the clear teaching from

! See, e.g.,SEPTA v. Volgenau, C.A. No. 6354-VCN, 2013 WL 4009193, at *¥12-21 (Del. Ch.
Aug. 5, 2013) (same); In re Transkaryotic Therapies, Inc., 954 A.2d 346, 369-70 (Del. Ch. 2008)
(same); In re Gaylord Container Corp. S'holders Litig., 753 A.2d 462, 465 (Del. Ch. 2000)
(same).

11
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Delaware’s highest court, the Delaware Supreme Court, and is contrary to a more recent Court of
Chancery opinion. Beam ex rel. Martha Stewart Living Omnimedia, Inc. v. Stewart, 845 A.2d
1040, 1049; Teamsters Union 25 Health Servs. & Ins. Plan v. Baiera, 119 A.3d 44, 61. In short,
director independence is a factual determination which should not be determined on a motion for
summary judgment.

Similarly, a director’s disinterestedness is a clear-cut question of fact. Gearhart Indus., Inc.
v. Smith Int'l, Inc., 741 F.2d 707, 719 (5th Cir. 1984) (“Whether a director is ‘interested’ is a
question of fact.”) “Whether a director is ‘interested’ or ‘independent’ is generally regarded as a
question of fact, depending on the circumstances of the case.” Drobbin v. Nicolet Instrument
Corp., 631 F. Supp. 860, 880 (S.D.N.Y. 1986); Patrickv. Allen, 355 F. Supp. 2d 704, 712
(S.D.N.Y. 2005) (same).

In short, the Defendant directors’ motives and intent that play into whether they were
interested or independent, as well as their credibility about their reasons for acting as they did, are
squarely questions of fact. These fact-specific inquiries cannot be resolved by summary judgment.

C. Legal Analysis Applicablé Here

1. Director Defendants’ Fiduciary Duties.

The power of directors to act on behalf of a corporation is governed by their fiduciary
relationship to the corporation and to its shareholders. Shoen v. SAC Holding Corp., 137 P.3d
1171, 1178 (Nev. 2006) (citations omitted). Generally, those duties are described as the duty of
care and the duty of loyalty. Id. The duty of good faith may be viewed as implicit in the duties of
care and loyalty, or as part of a “triumvirate” of fiduciary duties. See In re BioClinica, Inc.
Shareholder Litig., No. CV 8272-VCG, 2013 WL 5631233, at *5 (Del. Ch. Oct. 16, 2013);
Malone v. Brincat, 722 A.2d 5, 10 (Del. 1998).

a. The Duty of Care

The duty of care typically is de.scribed as requiring directors to act on an informed basis.
Schoen, 137 P.3d at 1178. Whether directors acted on an informed basis “turns on whether the
directors have informed themselves “prior to making a business decision, of all material

information reasonably available to them.” Smith v. Van Gorkom, 488 A. 2d 858, 872 (Del. 1985)
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(quoting Aronson v. Lewis, 473 A. 2d 805, 812 (Del. 1984). Due care thus is a function of the
decision-making process, not the decision. See, e.g., Citron v. Fairchild Camera & Instrument
Corp., 569 A. 2d 53, 66 (Del. 1989). This necessarily raises “[t]he question [of] whether the
process employed [in making the challenged decision] was either rational or employed in a good
faith effort to advance the corporate interests.” In re Greater Se. Cmty. Hosp. Corp. I, 353 B.R.
324, 339 (Bankr. D.D.C. 2006).
b. The Duty Of Loyalty
The director’s duty of loyalty requires that directors “maintain, in good faith, the

corporation’s and its shareholders’ best interests over anyone else’s interests.” Schoen, 137 P.3d at
1178 (citations omitted). The duty of loyalty was described in the seminal Delaware Supreme
Court case of Guth v. Loft as follows:

Corporate officers and directors are not permitted to use their position of

trust and confidence to further their private interests. While technically not

trustees, they stand in a fiduciary relation to the corporation and [to] its

shareholders. A public policy, existing through the years, and derived from

a profound knowledge of human characteristics and motives, has

established a rule that demands of a corporate . . . director, peremptorily and

inexorably, the most scrupulous observance of his duty [of loyalty], not

only affirmatively to protect the interests of the corporation committed to

his charge, but also to refrain from doing anything that would work injury

to the corporation [or its shareholders] . . . The rule that requires an

undivided and unselfish loyalty to the corporation demands that there shall

be no conflict between duty and self-interests.
Guthv. Loft, 5 A.2d 503, 510 (Del. 1939).

The duty of loyalty is “unremitting.” See, e.g., Malone v. Brincat, 722 A.2d 5, 10 (Del.
1998). The duty of good faith, discussed elsewhere herein, is one element of the duty of loyalty.
Stone v. Ritter, 911 A.2d 362, 370 (Del. 2006). The terms “loyalty” and “good faith,” like the
terms “independence” and “candor,” are “words pregnant with obligation™ and “[d]irectors should
not take a seat at the board table prepared to offer only conditional loyalty, tolerable good faith,
reasonable disinterest or formalistic candor.” In re Tyson Foods, Inc., Consol. Shareholder Litig.,
2007 WL 2351071, at *4 (Del. Ch. Aug. 15, 2007).
c. The Duty of Good faith

The element of good faith requires the director to act with a “loyal state of mind.”

13
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Hampshire Group, Ltd., v. Kuttner, 2010 WL 2739995, at *12 (Del. Ch. July 12, 2010). The
concept of good faith is particularly relevant in cases in which there is a “controlling shareholder
with a supine or passive board.” In Re Walt Disney Co. Derivative Litig., 907 A.2d 693, 761
n.487 (Del. Ch. 2005), aff’d, 906 A.2d 27 (Del. 2006). In such cases, “[g]ood faith may serve to
fill [the] gap [between a fiduciary duties of care and loyalty] and insure that the persons entrusted
by shareholders to govern [the] corporation do so with an honesty of purpose and with an
understanding of whose interests they are there to protect.” Id.
d. The Duty of Disclosure

“Whenever directors communicate publicly or directly with shareholders about the
corporation’s affairs . . . directors have a fiduciary duty to shareholders to exercise due care, good
faith and loyalty.” Malone v. Brincat, 722 A.2d 5, 10 (Del. 1998). “Shareholders are entitled to
rely upon the truthfulness of all information disseminated to them by the directors [of the
corporation].” Id. at 10-11. When directors communicate with stockholders, they must do so with
“complete candor.” In Re Tyson Foods, 2007 WL 2351071, at *3.

e. Directors’ Fiduciary Duties Are Owed to All Shareholders, Not
Just the Controlling Shareholder(s)

Directors owe all stockholders, not just the stockholders who appointed them, “an
uncompromising duty of loyalty.” Inre Trados Inc. S’Holder Litig., 73 A.3d 17, 36 (Del. Ch.
2013). Under some circumstances, it is a breach of loyalty for directors not to act to protect the
minority stockholders from a controlling stockholder. Louisiana Mun. Police Emp. Ret. Sys. v.
Fertitta, 2009 WL 2263406, at *8 (Del. Ch. July 28, 2009) (finding that the failure to act in the
face of a controlling stockholder’s threat to the corporation and its minority stockholders
supported a reasonable inference that the board of directors breached its duty of loyalty by
deciding not to cross the controlling stockholder); see also McMullin v. Beran, 765 A.2d 910, 919
(Del. 2000) (finding that directors are required to make informed, good faith decisions about
whether to the sale of a corporation to a third party that had been proposed and negotiated by a
controlling stockholder would ma:;imize the value for minority stockholders).

2. The Business Judgment Rule Is a Rebuttable Presumption, Rebutted
Here

14
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The business judgment rule is a rebuttable presumption that “in making a business decision
the directors of a corporation acted on an informed basis, in good faith, and in the honest belief
that the action was taken in the best interests of the company.” See, e.g. In Re Walt Disney Co.
Derivative Litig., 906 A.2d 27, 52 (Del. 2006) (quoting Aronson v. Lewis, 473 A.2d 805, 812 (Del.
1984).> In Nevada, the business judgment rule is codified in NRS 78.138.3, which provides that
“[d]irectors and officers, in deciding upon matters of business, are presumed to act in good faith,
on an informed basis and with a view to the interests of the corporation.”

The business judgment rule typically is articulated as consisting of four elements, namely,
(i) a business decision, (i1) disinterestedness and independence, (iii) due care, and (iv) good faith.
Roselink Investors, L.L.C. v. Shenkman, 386 F. Supp. 2d 209, 2016 (S.D.N.Y. 2004) (internal
citations omitted). The presumptions of the business judgment rule are rebutted where it is shown
that any of the four elements above was not present. Id at 216-17. Here, at least each of the last
three elements is absent.

As to MC and EC, there is no dispute that, as to at least any and all matters of
disagreement between them and JJC, including but not limited to ultimate control of RDI by
controlling the voting trust as trustee(s), immediate control of RDI, whether by removing JJC as
CEO, constraining his authority as CEO and/or having a newly activated and repopulated
executive committee, and matters involving the employment status, titles and compensation of
MC and EC, among other things, MC and EC lack disinterestedness and lack ihdependence. The
Interested Director Defendants admit that in their summary judgment motions, including as
follows:

The Individual Defendants, for the purposes of this motion [regarding “director
independence™], do not contest the independence of Ellen and Margaret Cotter as
RDI directors with respect to the transactions and, or corporate conduct at issue---
which are addressed in the Individual Defendants’ other, contemporaneously-filed
summary judgment motions.

? Due to the development of Delaware case law with respect to issues of corporate law, Nevada courts find
Delaware case law persuasive authority. See Cohen v. Mirage Resorts, Inc., 119 Nev. 1, 26, 62 P.3d 720,
737 (2003) (noting that “the case law . . . [of] Delaware is persuasive authority” when interpreting

Nevada’s corporate law).
15
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1 || (“Individual Defendants’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (No. 2) Re: the Issue of
2 || Director Independence” at p. 14, fn. 2.)
3 a. Individual Defendants’ Lack of Disinterestedness
‘ With respect to disinterestedness, because the business judgment rule presumes that
> directors have no conflict of interest, the business judgment rule does not apply where “directors
6 have an interest other than as directors of the corporation.” Lewis v. S.L. & E., Inc., 629 F.2d 764,
/ 769 (2d Cir. 1980). This is because “[d]irectorial interest exists whenever divided loyalties are
8 present.” Rales v. Blasband, 634 A.2d 927, 933 (Del. 1993) (citations and quotations omitted).
? Thus, a director must be disinterested in the challenged conduct in particular and, as a general
10 matter, otherwise independent. Beam, 845 A.2d at 1049.
= As the Interested Director Defendants acknowledge, EC and MC lack disinterestedness
12 with respect to the challenged actions, starting with the threat to terminate Plaintiff as President
13 and CEO of RDI unless he resolved the California Trust Action on terms satisfactory to EC and
e MC, and continuing thereafter with the termination of him on account of his failure to do so.
15 The same is true, for largely the same reasons, for defendant Kane, who is called “Uncle
16 Ed” by EC and MC and who, by his contemporaneous conduct demonstrated that he acted as
17 “Uncle Ed” throughout to effectuate what he thought were JIC, Sr.’s wishes, and not as a
18 disinterested RDI director exercising disinterested business judgment.
19 Likewise, Adams admittedly picked sides in a family dispute. He also demonstrated his
20 lack of disinterestedness by, among other things, vigorously pursuing the EC and MC agenda,
21 starting with the termination of Plaintiff as President and CEOQ, to further his own interest
22 (including to be interim CEO) and to protect the interests of EC and MC, on whom he is
23 financially dependent.
24 b. Individual Defendants’ Lack of Independence
25 Independence, as used in the context of an element of the business judgment rule, requires
26 that a director is able to engage, and in fact engages, in decision-making “based on the corporate
27
> Plaintiff does not concede that McEachern was disinterested and/or independent. Because Plaintiff can
28 prevail on this Motion without showing McEachern to have lacked disinterestedness or independence, he
chooses not to address McEachern. 6
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merits of the subject before the board rather than extraneous considerations or influences.”
Gilbert v. El Paso, Co., 575 A.2d 1131, 1147 (Del. 1990); Rales, 634 A.2d at 936. “Directors
must not only be independent, [they also] must act independently.” Telxon Corp. v. Meyerson,
802 A.2d 257, 264 (Del. 2003). Assessing directorial independence therefore “focus[es] on
impartiality and objectiveness.” In Re Oracle Corp. Derivative Litig., 824 A.2d 917, 920, 938
(Del. Ch. 2003) (quoting Parfi Holding AB v. Mirror Image Internet, Inc., 794 A.2d 1211, 1232
(Del. Ch. 2001), rev’d in part on other grounds, 817 A.2d 149 (Del. 2002), cert. denied, 538 U.S.
1032 (2003). See, also, Cede & Co. v. Technicolor, Inc., 634 A.2d 345, 362 (Del. 1993) (“We
have generally defined a director as being independent only when the director’s decision is based
entirely on the corporate merits of the transaction and is not influenced by personal or extraneous
considerations.”) modified in part on other grounds, 636 A.2d 956 (Del. 1994).

“Independence is a fact-specific determination made in the context of a particular case.

The Court must make that determination by answering the inquiries: independent from whom and
independent for what purpose?” Beani, 845 A.2d at 1049-50.

Independence is lacking in situations in which a corporate fiduciary “derives a benefit from
the transaction that is not generally shared with the other shareholders. In situations in which the
benefit is derived by another (e.g., by EC and MC from Plaintiff acceding to their demands to
resolve trust and estate disputes on terms acceptable to the two of them), the issue is whether the
[corporate fiduciary]’s decision (e.g., Adams and/or Kane) resulted from that director being
controlled by another.” Orman v. Cullman, 794 A.2d 5, 25 n.50 (Del. Ch. 2002) (explaining the
distinction between interest and independence). Control may exist where a corporate fiduciary has
close personal or financial ties to or is beholden to another. (Id.)

A close personal friendship in which the director and the person with whom he or she has
the questioned relationship are “as thick as blood relations” would likely be sufficient to
demonstrate that a director is not independent. In re MFW S’Holders Litig., 67 A.3d 496, 509
n.37 (Del. Ch. 2013).

Similarly, a director who is financially beholden to another person, such as a controlling

stockholder, is not independent of that person. In re Emerging Commc'n, Inc. S’Holders Litig.,
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2004 WL 1305745, at *33 (Del. Ch. May 3, 2004). The Court of Chancery has found that
directors who derive a substantial portion of their income from a controlling stockholder are not
independent of that stockholder. Id at *34. “In such circumstances, a director cannot be expected
to exercise his or her independent business judgment without being influenced by the . . . personal
consequences resulting from the decision.” Beam v. Stewart, 845 A.2d 1040, 1049 (Del. 2004)
(quoting Rales v. Blasband, 634 A.2d 927, 936 (Del. 1993)). |

Here, the conduct of EC, MC, Kane and Adams to extort Plaintiff into resolving trust and
estate disputes on terms dictated by EC and MC are squarely and unequivocally efforts to obtain
personal benefits for EC and MC not shared with other RDI shareholders.

Kane’s personal relationship with JJC, Sr., Kane’s view that JIC, Sr. intended MC control
the Voting Trust, and Kane’s actions to make that happen, among other things, demonstrate his
lack of independence.

As shown by his own sworn testimony in his Los Angeles Superior Court divorce
proceeding and in this case, Adams as a general matter is not independent of EC and MC, because
he is financially dependent upon income he receives from companies that EC and MC control.

For such reasons, among others, each of Kane and Adams (and MC and EC) lacked
independence and therefore are not entitled to the presumptions of the business judgment rule.

3. Defendants Must and Cannot Satisfy the Entire Fairness Standard

“If the shareholder succeeds in rebutting the presumption of the business judgment rule,
the burden shifts to the defendant directors to prove the ‘entire fairness’ of the transaction.”
MecMullinv. Brand, 765 A.2d 910, 917 (Del. 2000). “[I]f the presumption is rebutted, the board’s
decision is reviewed through the lens of entire fairness, pursuant to which the directors lose the
presumption of [the] business judgment [rule].” Solomon v. Armstrong, 747 A.2d 1098, 1112
(Del.Ch. 1999). Horwitz v. SW. Forest Indus., Inc., 604 F.Supp. 1130, 1134 (D. Nev. 1985),
which defendants cite for the platitude that the business judgment rule applies to claims of breach
of fiduciary duty against a director, is not to the contrary and does not address circumstance of
where, as here, the plaintiff has rebutted the presumptions of the business judgment rule.

Under the entire fairness test, “[d]irector defendants therefore are required to establish to

18
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the court’s satisfaction that the transaction was the product of both fair dealing and fair price.”
Cinerama, Inc. v. Technicolor, 663 A.2d 1156, 1163 (Del. 1995) (quoting Cede & Co. v.
Technicolor, 634 A.2d 345, 361 (Del. 1993). Thus, a test of entire fairness is a two-part inquiry
into the fair-dealing, meaning the process leading to the challenged action and, separately, the end
result. In re Tele-Commc’ns Inc. Shareholders Litig., 2005 Del. Ch. LEXIS 206, at ¥*235, 2005
WL 3642727, at *9 (Del. Ch. Sept. 29, 2005).

The Motion makes no mention of this standard. In addition the Motion does not discuss the
“omnipresent specter” that the Defendants were acting primarily in their own interests or for
entrenchment purposes. Unocal Corp. v. Mesa Petroleum Co., 493 A.2d 946, 954 (Del. 1985); see
also eBay Domestic Holdings, Inc. v. Newmark, 16 A.3d 1, 36 (Del. Ch. 2010). |

The entire fairness requirement entails “exacting scrutiny” to determine whether the
challenged actions were entirely fair. Paramount Commc 'ns, Inc. v. QVC Network Inc., 637 A.2d
34, 42 n.9 (Del. 1994). Under the entire fairess standard, the challenged action itself must be
objectively fair, independent of the beliefs of the director defendants. Geoff'v. II Cindus.Inc., 902
A.2d 1130, 1145 (Del. Ch. 2006) subsequent proceedings, 2006 (Del. Ch. LEXIS 161, 2000 WL
2521441 (Del. Ch. Aug. 22, 2006); see also Venhill Ltd. P’ship v. Hilman, 2008 WL 2270488, at
*22 (Del. Ch. June 3, 2008).

“The fairness test therefore is “an inquiry designed to access whether a self-dealing

transaction should be respected or set aside in equity.” Verhill, 2008 WL 2270488 at ¥22 4

4 First, invocation of Nevada’s exculpatory statute, NRS 78.138.7, misapprehends the function of the
statute, which is to limit monetary liability and recovery, not to serve as a means by which the legal
sufficiency of a fiduciary duty claim 1s assessed. Emerald Partners v. Berlin, 787 A.2d 85, 92 (Del. 2001)
(“a Section 102(b)(7) provision does not operate to defeat the validity of a plaintiff’s claim on the merits,”
but “it can operate to defeat the plaintiff’s ability to recover monetary damages.”)

Second, even if the exculpatory statute were properly invoked, which it is not, it has no application
where, as here, duty of loyalty (and disclosure) claims also are made. McMillan v. Intercargo Corp., 768
A.2d 492, 501 n. 41 (Del. Ch. 2000) (the exculpatory statute does not apply to breaches duty of loyalty
because “conduct not in good faith, intentional misconduct, and knowing violations of law” are
“quintessential examples of disloyal, i.e., faithless, conduct”). Here, the complained of or challenged
conduct also and obviously entails breaches of the duty of loyalty (and disclosure). Orman v. Cullman,
794 A.2d 5, 41 (Del. Ch. 2002) (plaintiff pleaded a breach of the duty of loyalty claim where it “pled facts
which made it reasonable to question the independence and disinterest of a majority of the Board that
decided what information to include in the Proxy Statement™); O Reilly v. Transworld Healthcare, Inc.,
745 A.2d 902, 914-15, 920, n.34 (Del. Ch. 2014) (“right complaint alleges or pleads facts sufficient to
support the inference that the disclosure violation was made in bad faith, knowingly or intentionally, the
alleged violation implicates the duty of loyalty” and is relevant to the availability of the exculpatory
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1 Here, Defendants cannot carry their burden of proving the entire fairness of their action.
21 IV.  CONCLUSION
3 In light of the forgoing, plaintiff requests that this court deny the Motion for Partial
4 || Summary Judgment (No. 2).
5 DATED this 13th day of October, 2016.
6 LEWIS ROCA ROTHGERBER CHRISTIE LLP
7
8 /S/ Mark G. Krum
Mark G. Krum (Nevada Bar No. 10913)
9 3993 Howard Hughes Pkwy, Suite 600
10 Las Vegas, NV 89169-5958
11 Attorneys for Plaintiff
James J. Cotter, Jr.
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27 || provisions of section 102(b)(7)): In re Wheelabrator Techs., Inc. Sh. Litig., 1992 Del. Ch. LEXIS at *41
n.18, 1992 WL 212595, at *12 n.18 (Del. Ch. Sept. 1, 1992) (§102(b)(7) did not require dismissal where
28 || the plaintiffs pleaded that “the breach of the duty of disclosure wasn’t intentional violation of the duty of
loyalty™).
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Plaintiff James J. Cotter, Jr., (“JJC” or “Plaintiff”’), by and through his attornecy Mark G.
Krum of Lewis Roca Rothgerber Christie LLP, files this Opposition to INDIVIDUAL
DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT (NO. 5) ON
PLAINTIFF’'S CLAIMS RELATED TO THE APPOINTMENT OF ELLEN COTTER AS CEO
filed by Reading International, Inc. (the “Motion”), as follows.

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

L INTRODUCTION
The Interested Director Defendants’ motion for summary judgment No. 6 (the “Motion” or
“MSJ No.6) should be denied, for a number of independent reasons.

First, the Motion fundamentally misapprchends, or purposcfully mischaracterizes, the
naturc of the allegations made in this action, which assert an ongoing course of self-dealing
undertaken for entrenchment purposes, not a scries of unrelated one-off, one time fiduciary
breaches. That matters, both as a matter of fact, in terms of what evidence 1s to be considered in
assessing the claims made, and as a matter of law

Second, one of the subjects of the Motion, the authorization by RDI directors Adams and
Kane of the exercise of a supposed option to acquire 100,000 shares of RDI class B voting stock,
in addition to not properly being assessed outside the context of the entrenchment scheme of
which it was a part, i1s a matter as to which defendants have failed to provide discovery the Court
ordered. For that reason, among others, Rule 56(f) applics and the motion should be denied.

Third, the Motion is predicated on an incomplete and inaccurate depiction of the actual
facts. As the evidence cited herein (and in the opposition to Gould’s motion) shows, there arc at a
minimum significant disputed material facts. Those factual matters include how it came to pass
that MS holds a high-paying job for which she is, according to the defendants, unqualified. The
same 18 true as to EC. Thus, the issues are not compensation issues; they are issues of fundamental
breaches of the fiduciary duties of both care and loyalty.

Fourth, the Motion dutifully omits any discussion of the applicable legal standards given
the actual facts, which goes to the threshold issue (beyond the Rule 56 summary judgment

standard) of which party bears what burden. Additionally, where, as here, as here, the director
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defendants are sued for breaches of the duty of loyalty, as distinct from only for breach of the duty
of care, the entire legal rubric changes, such that their invocation of Nevada’s exculpatory statue
n unavailing.

For the foregoing and other reasons set out herein, Plaintiff respectfully submits that MSJ
No. 6 should be denied.

IL. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Procedural History

On August 30, 2016, the Court granted Plaintiff’s motion to compel the production of
documents and information concerning the advice of counsel on which director defendants Adams
and Kanc testified they relied in making the decision, as two of three members of the RDI board of
directors compensation committee, to authorize the exercise of these supposed 100,000 share
option. The court issued its order on October 3, 2016. To date, neither the Company nor any of the
individual defendants have produced any of these or any other advice of counsel documents on
which they claim to have relied and on which they predicate certain of their summary judgment
motion. As to the Court’s prior order, the individual defendants have filed a motion to reconsider
or clarify.

Plaintiff respectfully incorporates herein the discussion of Rule 56(f) contained in his
opposition to MSJ No. 3, and respectfully submits that, in order to respond to this Motion,
Plaintiff 1s entitled to receive and must receive the discovery the Court ordered previously,
described above.

B. Factual Statement

1. The Supposed 100,000 Share Option

It is undisputed that approximately seventy per cent (70%) of RDI’s class B voting stock
1s held in one manner or another by the Trust and or the Estate of James J Cotter, Sr. Not less than
approximately forty four percent (44%) of the Class B voting stock of RDI is held in the name of
the James J. Cotter Living Trust, which became irrevocable upon JJC, Sr.’s death on September
13, 2014 (the “Trust”). (/d.) Who has authority to vote the RDI Class B voting stock held in the

name of the Trust is a subject of dispute in the California trust and estate litigation between EC
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and MC, on one hand, and JJC, on the other hand. As the court records reflect, EC and MC are the
executors of the estate.

EC and MC, purporting to act as executors of the Estate of JJC, Sr., in April 2015 sought
to exercise a supposed option to have the Estate acquire 100,000 shares of Class B voting stock.
Plaintiff contends that they did so because they feared that, without being able to vote the stock
held in the name of the Trust, they might not have votes sufficient to outvote other RDI class B
sharcholders at the company’s annual sharcholders meeting,

On or about September 21, 2015, two of three members of the Compensation
Committee, Adams and Kane, authorized the request of EC and MC that the Estate be allowed to
(use liquid Class A stock to) exercise the supposed option to acquire the 100,000 shares using
shares of RDI Class A stock. Kane and Adams claimed that they decided to allow EC and MC to
exercise the supposed 100,000 share option based on the advice of counsel, including Craig
Tompkins. The third director who was a member of the Compensation Committee, Timothy
Storey, was unable to attend the supposed meeting of the Compensation Committee because it was
called with too little notice.

2. The Looting of RDI
Following the appointment of EC as President and CEQO in January 2016, the individual
defendants turned their attention to the subjects of employment, titles and compensation.

On or about March 10, 2016, MC was appointed EVP--RED — NYC on EC’s
recommendation as President and CEOQ. In that position, MC became the senior executive at RDI
responsible for the development of its valuable NYC Propertics. However, MC has no real estate
development experience. She is unqualified to hold that senior executive position. As EVP--RED
— NYC, MC was awarded a compensation package that includes a base salary of $350,000 and a
short-term incentive target bonus of $105,000 (30% of her base salary), and was granted a long-
term incentive of a stock option for 19,921 shares of Class A common stock and 4,184 restricted
stock units under the Company’s 2010 Stock Incentive Plan. Additionally, the Compensation
Committee, comprised of Adams, Kane and Codding, and the Audit and Conflicts Committee,

comprised of Kane, McEachern and Wrotniak, in or about March 2016 cach unanimously
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approved so-called “additional consulting fee compensation” of $200,000 to MC. Each of the
Individual Director Defendants (with EC and MC abstaining) approved this $200,000 payment to
MC.

Also, at the request of EC, the EC Committee requested the Compensation Committee to
review executive compensation. The result was that EC as President and CEO received a new
compensation package. If all bonuses available are paid to her, she will be paid over three times
what Plaintiff was paid as President and CEO.

Not finished, the Compensation Committee also recommended and the RDI Board of
Directors (meaning all of the individual director defendants) also approved so-called “additional
special compensation” of $50,000 to Adams.

III. ARGUMENT

A. Summary Judgment Standard

Summary judgment is only appropriate “where ‘the pleadings, depositions, answers to
interrogatorics, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there 1s no
genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a
matter of law.”” Fergason v. LVMPD, 364 P.3d 592, 595 (2015) (citing NRCP 56(c) (emphasis
added)). “‘[T]he moving party will bear the burden of persuasion, [and] that party must present
cvidence that would entitle it to a judgment as a matter of law in the absence of contrary
cvidence.”” Id. (citing Cuzze v. Univ. & Cmty. Coll. Sys., 172 P.3d 131, 134 (2007)).

“‘Put more simply: ‘The burden of proving the nonexistence of a genuine issue of material
fact is on the moving party.”” Id. (citing Maine v. Stewart, 857 P.2d 755, 758 (1993)). “When the
party moving for summary judgment fails to bear his burden of production, ‘the opposing party
has no duty to respond on the merits and summary judgment may not be entered against
him.”” Id. (citing Maine, 857 P.2d at 759 (reversing summary judgment where burden of
production never shifted) (citing Clauson v. Lloyd, 103 Nev. 432, 435, 743 P.2d 631, 633 (1987)
(reversing summary judgment where movant did not meet the test in NRCP 56)); see NRCP 56(¢)
(summary judgment burden shifts to the non-movant only when the motion is “made and

supported as provided in this rule”)).
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“IIln deciding whether summary judgment is appropriate, the evidence must be viewed in
the light most favorable to the party against whom summary judgment is sought.” Ferreira v.
P.CH. Inc., 774 P.2d 1041, 1042 (1989).
1. “[I]n deciding whether summary judgment is appropriate, the evidence
must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party against whom
summary judgment is sought.” Ferreira v. P.C.H. Inc., 774 P.2d 1041,
1042 (1989). The MSJs Mischaracterize the Allegations and Claims
Made and Ignore Law Regarding Them, to Create “Straw Man”
Claims Against Which to Move
No doubt by design, the Interested Director Defendants’ motions for summary judgment
mischaracterize the claims made against them in this case. Contrary to what their motions for
summary judgment assume, Plaintiff has not made a smorgasbord of unrelated claims. Although
Plaintiff’s initial complaint, filed the day he was terminated, addressed the actions about which he
had prior knowledge, namely, the actions of the Interested Director Defendants to threaten him
with termination if he did not resolve trust and estate disputes with EC and MC on terms
satisfactory to them and, when he failed to do so, execution on that threat, Plaintiff’s FAC and
now pending SAC assert an ongoing course of conduct that amounts to entrenchment. The SAC
pleads various actions and omissions, including for example aborting the CEO scarch to make EC
the new CEQ, and giving MC a highly compensated executive position for which she has no
professional or educational qualifications, one of the matters raised (and mischaracterized) in MSJ
No. 6.!
Simply put, in bringing the MSJs they have brought, the Interested Director Defendants

have assumed out of existence the plain allegations of Plaintiff’s SAC and the very nature of their

! Also by way of example, the executive committee has been parsed out to be the sole subject of MSJ No. 4, as if it
were the only complained of conduct in the SAC. In fact, however, it 1s not simply the activation and repopulation of
the executive commitiee as an early and purposeful course of action by the Interested Director Defendants to entrench
themselves that makes it actionable. It is the fact that—together with all of the other actions alleged in the SAC—the
executive committee was intended to be and was used as a means to entrench the individual director defendants,
including by eliminating Plaintiff and then director Tim Storey as directors.

Likewise, the Offer has been parsed out to be the sole subject of MSJ No.3, as if the response of the
individual director defendants must be assessed solely m view of the record they attempted to create at the single
board meeting at which they supposedly deliberated about the Offer, and without regard to their historical conduct and
relationships. (That said, their carefully prepared minutes of that one meeting clearly evidence the wishes of EC and
MC to retain control of RDI and the fact that the other director defendants acceded to the wishes of MC and EC in
agreeing to take no action in response to the Offer.)

2011093194 12011087084 1 5
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complained of course of conduct. They have done so in an effort to create “straw man” claims to
challenge by multiple motions for summary judgment. In doing so, the Interested Director
Defendants ignore well-developed law that the various complained of acts and omissions upon
which Plaintiff’s claims are based must be viewed and assessed collectively, not separately and 1n
1solation, as the Interested Director Defendants’ multiple MSJs ask the Court to do. See, e.g., In re
Ebix, Inc. Stockholder Litig., 2016 WL 208402, at *20 (Del. Jan. 15, 2016) (r¢jecting director
defendants’ contention that bylaw amendments should be viewed individually rather than
collectively); Carmody v. Toll Brothers., Inc., 723 A.2d 1180, 1189 (Decl. Ch. July 24, 1998)
(finding that particularized allegations that directors acted for entrenchment purposes sufficient to
excuse demand); Chrysogelos v. London, 1992 WL 58516, at *8 (Decl. Ch. Mar. 25, 1992) (“None
of these circumstances, if considered individually and in isolation from the rest, would be
sufficient to create a reasonable doubt as to the propriety of the director’s motives. However, when
viewed as a whole, they do create such a reasonable doubt . . .”); California Pub. Employees Ret.
Sys. v. Coulter, 2002 WL 31888343, at *6 (Del. Ch. Dec. 18, 2002) (concluding that allegations
that individually would be insufficient to show a lack of disinterestedness or independence were,
taken together, sufficient to do so).

B. Directors’ Fiduciary Duties

1. Director Defendants’ Fiduciary Duties

The power of directors to act on behalf of a corporation is governed by their fiduciary
relationship to the corporation and to its sharcholders. Shoen v. SAC Holding Corp., 137 P.3d
1171, 1178 (Nev. 2006) (citations omitted). Generally, those duties arc described as the duty of
carc and is the duty of loyalty. (/d.) The duty of good faith may be viewed as implicit in the duties
of care and loyalty, or as part of a “triumvirate” of fiduciary dutics.

a. The Duty of Care

The duty of care typically is described as requiring directors to act on an informed basis.
Schoen, 137 P.3d at 1178. Whether directors acted on an informed basis “turns on whether the
directors have informed themselves “prior to making a business decision, of all material

information rcasonably available to them.” Smith v. Van Gorkom, 488 A. 2d 858, 872 (Del. 1985)
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(quoting Aronson v. Lewis, 473 A. 2d 805, 812 (Del. 1984). Due care thus is a function of the
decision-making process, not the decision. See, e.g., Citron v. Fairchild Camera & Instrument
Corp., 569 A. 2d 53, 66 (Del. 1989). This necessarily raises “[t]he question [of] whether the
process employed [in making the challenged decision] was either rational or employed in a good
faith effort to advance the corporate interests.” /n re Greater Se. Cmty. Hosp. Corp. I, 353 B.R.
324, 339 (Bankr. D.D.C. 20006).
b. The Duty of Loyalty
The director’s duty of loyalty requires that directors “maintain, in good faith, the

corporation’s and its sharcholders’ best interests over anyone else’s interests.” Schoen, 137 P.3d at
1178 (citations omitted). The duty of loyalty was described in the seminal Delaware Supreme
Court case of Guth v. Loft as follows:

“Corporate officers and directors are not permitted to use their

position of trust and confidence to further their private interests.

While technically not trustees, they stand in a fiduciary relation to

the corporation and [to] its sharcholders. A public policy, existing

through the years, and derived from a profound knowledge of

human characteristics and motives, has cstablished a rule that

demands of a corporate . . . director, peremptorily and inexorably,

the most scrupulous observance of his duty [of loyalty], not only

affirmatively to protect the interests of the corporation committed to

his charge, but also to refrain from doing anything that would work

injury to the corporation [or its shareholders] . . . The rule that

requires an undivided and unselfish loyalty to the corporation

demands that there shall be no conflict between duty and self-

Interests.”
Guth v. Loft, 5 A.2d 503, 510 (Decl. 1939).

The duty of loyalty is “unremitting.” See, e.g., Malone v. Brincat, 722 A.2d 5, 10 (Dcl.

1998). The duty of good faith, discussed elsewhere herein, 1s onc clement of the duty of loyalty.
Stone v. Ritter, 911 A.2d 362, 370 (Del. 2006). The terms “loyalty” and “good faith,” like the
terms “independence” and “candor,” are “words pregnant with obligation” and “[d]irectors should
not take a seat at the board table prepared to offer only conditional loyalty, tolerable good faith,

reasonable disinterest or formalistic candor.” In re Tyson Foods, Inc., Consol. Shareholder Litig.,

2007 WL 2351071, at *4 (Del. Ch. Aug. 15, 2007).
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C. The Duty of Good Faith
The element of good faith requires the director to act with a “loyal state of mind.”
Hampshire Group, Ltd., v. Kuttner, 2010 WL 2739995, at *12 (Del. Ch. July 12, 2010). The
concept of good faith is particularly relevant in cases in which there is a “controlling sharcholder
with a supine or passive board.” In re Walt Disney Co. Derivative Litig., 907 A.2d 693, 761 n.487
(Del. Ch. 2005), aff’d, 906 A.2d 27 (Del. 2006). In such cases, “[g]ood faith may serve to fill
[the] gap [between a fiduciary duties of care and loyalty] and insure that the persons entrusted by
shareholders to govern [the] corporation do so with an honesty of purpose and with an
understanding of whose interests they are there to protect.” Id.
d. The Duty of Disclosure
“Whenever directors communicate publicly or directly with sharcholders about the
corporation’s affairs . . . directors have a fiduciary duty to sharcholders to exercise due care, good
faith and loyalty.” Malone v. Brincat, 722 A.2d at 10. “Shareholders are entitled to rely upon the
truthfulness of all information disseminated to them by the directors [of the corporation].” Id. at
10-11. When directors communicate with stockholders, they must do so with “complete
candor.” In re Tyson Foods, 2007 WL 2351071, at *3.

e. Directors’ Fiduciary Duties Are Owed to All Shareholders, Not
Just the Controlling Shareholder(s)

Directors owe all stockholders, not just the stockholders who appointed them, *“an
uncompromising duty of loyalty.” In re Trados Inc. S holder Litig., 73 A.3d 17, 36 (Del. Ch.
2013). Under some circumstances, it is a breach of loyalty for directors not to act to protect the
minority stockholders from a controlling stockholder. Louisiana Mun. Police Emp. Ret. Sys. v.
Fertitta, 2009 WL 2263406, at *8 (Del. Ch. July 28, 2009) (finding that the failure to act in the
face of a controlling stockholder’s threat to the corporation and its minority stockholders
supported a reasonable inference that the board of directors breached its duty of loyalty by
deciding not to cross the controlling stockholder); see also McMullin v. Beran, 765 A.2d 910, 919
(Decl. 2000) (finding that directors arc required to make informed, good faith decisions about
whether to the sale of a corporation to a third party that had been proposed and negotiated by a

controlling stockholder would maximize the value for minority stockholders).
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2. The Business Judgment Rule Is a Rebuttable Presumption, Rebutted
Here

The business judgment rule is a rebuttable presumption that “in making a business decision
the directors of a corporation acted on an informed basis, in good faith, and in the honest belief
that the action was taken in the best interests of the company.” See, e.g., In re Walt Disney Co.
Derivative Litig., 906 A.2d 27, 52 (Del. 2006) (quoting Aronson v. Lewis, 473 A.2d 805, 812 (Del.
1984).” In Nevada, the business judgment rule is codified in NRS 78.138.3, which provides that
“[d]irectors and officers, in deciding upon matters of business, are presumed to act in good faith,
on an informed basis and with a view to the interests of the corporation.”

The business judgment rule typically 1s articulated as consisting of four elements, namely,
(1) a business decision, (ii) disinterestedness and independence, (iii) due care and (iv) good faith.
See, e.g., Roselink Investors, L.L.C. v. Shenkman, 386 F. Supp. 2d 209, 2016 (S.D.N.Y. 2004)
(internal citations omitted). The presumptions of the business judgment rule are rebutted where it
1s shown that any of the four elements above was not present. /d. at 216-17. Here, at least each of
the last three clements 1s absent.

As to MC and EC, there is no dispute that, as to at Icast any and all matters of
disagreement between them and JJC, including but not limited to ultimate control of RDI by
controlling the voting trust as trustee(s), immediate control of RDI, whether by removing JJC as
CEOQ, constraining his authority as CEO and/or having a newly activated and repopulated
executive committee, and matters involving the employment status, titles and compensation of
MC and EC, among other things, MC and EC lack disinterestedness and lack independence. The
Interested Director Defendants admit that in their summary judgment motions, including as
follows:

The Individual Defendants, for the purposes of this motion
[regarding “director independence”], do not contest the
independence of Ellen and Margaret Cotter as RDI directors with
respect to the transactions and, or corporate conduct at issue---which

arc addressed 1n the Individual Defendants’ other,
contemporaneously-filed summary judgment motions.

? Due to the development of Delaware case law with respect to issues of corporate law, Nevada courts find Delaware
case law persuasive authority. See Cohen v. Mirage Resorts, Inc., 119 Nev. 1, 26, 62 P.3d 720, 737 (2003) (noting that
“the case law . . . [of] Delaware is persuasive authority” when interpreting Nevada’s corporate law).
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(“Individual Defendants® Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (No. 2) Re: the Issue of Director
Independence” at p. 14, fn. 2.)
a. Individual Defendants’ Lack of Disinterestedness

With respect to disinterestedness, because the business judgment rule presumes that
dircectors have no conflict of interest, the business judgment rule does not apply where “directors
have an interest other than as directors of the corporation.” Lewis v. S.L.&E., Inc., 629 F.2d 764,
769 (2d Cir. 1980). This 1s because “[d]irectorial interest exists whenever divided loyalties are
present . .. Rales v. Blasband, 634 A. 2d 927, 933 (Dcl. 1993) (intcrnal citations and quotations
omitted). Thus, a dircctor must be disinterested in the challenged conduct in particular and, as a
general matter, otherwise independent. Beam, 845 A.2d at 1049.

As the Interested Director Defendants acknowledge, EC and MC lack disinterestedness
with respect to the challenged actions, starting with the threat to terminate Plaintiff as President
and CEO of RDI unless he resolved the California Trust Action and other matters on terms
satisfactory to EC and MC, and continuing thereafter, including regarding the termination of him
on account of his failure to do so, and each of the matters raised in MSJ No. 6, including
obviously the compensation of EC and MC as RDI executives.

The same is true, for largely the same reasons, for defendant Kane, who 1s called “Uncle
Ed” by EC and MC and who, by his contemporancous conduct demonstrated that he acted as
“Uncle Ed” throughout to effectuate what he thought were JJC, Sr.’s wishes, and not as a
disinterested RDI director exercising disinterested business judgment, including with respect to
the matters raised in MSJ No. 6.

Likewise, Adams admittedly picked sides in a family dispute. He also demonstrated his
lack of disinterestedness by, among other things, vigorously pursuing the EC and MC agenda,
starting with the termination of Plaintiff as President and CEO and the activation and repopulation
of the executive committee with him as a member, to further his own interest and to protect the
interests of EC and MC, on whom he 1s financially dependent, including with respect to the

matters raised in MSJ No. 6.
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demonstrate that a director is not independent. In re MFW S holders Litig., 67 A.3d 496, 509 n.37
(Del. Ch. 2013).

Similarly, a director who is financially beholden to another person, such as a controlling
stockholder, is not independent of that person. In re Emerging Commc’n, Inc. S holders Litig.,
2004 WL 1305745, at *33 (Del. Ch. May 3, 2004). The Court of Chancery has found that
directors who derive a substantial portion of their income from a controlling stockholder are not
independent of that stockholder /d. at *34.

“In such circumstances, a director cannot be expected to exercise his or her independent
business judgment without being influenced by the . . . personal consequences resulting from the
decision.” Beam v. Stewart, 845 A.2d 1040, 1049 (Del. 2004) (quoting Rales v. Blasband, 634
A.2d 927, 936 (Del. 1993)).

Here, the evidence demonstrates that EC and MC, Kane and Adams each lack
independence generally and specifically with respect to the matters raised in MSJ No. 6, which
matters each were of debilitating and conflicting personal interest to each of the four of them,
because these matters each concerned control of RDI, employment of MC at RDI and payment by
RDI of monies to ED, MC and Adams. .

For such reasons, among others, each of Kane and Adams (and MC and EC) lacked
independence and therefore are not entitled to the presumptions of the business judgment rule.

c. Individual Defendants’ Lack of Good Faith

The clement of good faith requires the director to act with a “loyal state of mind.”
Hampshire Group, Ltd., v. Kuttner, 2010 WL 2739995, at *12 (Decl. Ch. July 12, 2010). The
concept of good faith 1s particularly relevant in cases in which there is a “controlling sharcholder
with a supine or passive board.” In re Walt Disney Co. Derivative Litig., 907 A.2d 693, 761 n.487
(Del. Ch. 2005), aff’d, 906 A.2d 27 (Del. 2006). In such cases, “[g]ood faith may serve to fill
[the] gap [between a fiduciary duties of care and loyalty] and insure that the persons entrusted by
shareholders to govern [the] corporations do so with an honesty of purpose and with an

understanding of whose interests they are there to protect.” /d.

2011093194 12011087084 1 12

JA4131




3993 Howard Hughes Pkwy, Suite 600

Las Vegas, NV 89169-5996

1

cas 'f‘.'?.'!ff-qu?
k Ak Tl
Kt 2t 2

-
et

AT
At

o o0 1 D

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

Here, agreeing to activate and repopulate the executive committee, sought by EC and MC
since October 2014 to avoid reporting or answering to anyone or anybody, demonstrated
unwavering loyalty—to MC and EC—not RDI by its other shareholders, by each of the directors
(other than Storey and Plaintiff), and previewed what was to come, namely, wholesale abdications
of duty and rubber-stamping.

3. The Individual Defendants Failed to Exercise Due Care

Even had the individual defendants acted in good faith and in a manner that cach
reasonably could have believed to be in the best interests of RDI in taking the actions complained
of herein, which was not the case, they failed to engage in a process to decide and act on an
informed basis in view of the nature and importance of the decisions made, for the reasons
described herein. Insofar as they seck to invoke “advice of counsel,” they do so in violation of the
Court’s August 30, 2016 ruling and October 3, 2016 Order.

a. Defendants Must and Cannot Satisfy the Entire Fairness
Standard

“If the sharcholder succeeds in rebutting the presumption of the business judgment rule,
the burden shifts to the defendant directors to prove the ‘entire fairness’ of the transaction.”
McMullin v. Brand, 765 A.2d 910, 917 (Del. 2000). “[1]f the presumption is rebutted, the board’s
decision is reviewed through the lens of entire fairness, pursuant to which the directors lose the
presumption of [the] business judgment [rule].” Solomon v. Armstrong, 747 A.2d 1098, 1112
(Del.Ch. 1999). Horwitz v. SW. Forest Indus., Inc., 604 F. Supp. 1130, 1134 (D. Nev. 1985),
which defendants cite for the platitude that the business judgment rule applies to claims of breach
of fiduciary duty against a director, is not to the contrary and does not address circumstance of
where, as here, the plaintiff has rebutted the presumptions of the business judgment rule.

Under the entire fairness test, “[d]irector defendants therefore are required to establish to
the court’s satisfaction that the transaction was the product of both fair dealing and fair price.”
Cinerama, Inc. v. Technicolor, 663 A.2d 1156, 1163 (Del. 1995) (quoting Cede & Co. v.
Technicolor, 634 A.2d 345, 361 (Dcl. 1993). Thus, a test of entire fairness is a two-part inquiry

into the fair-dealing, meaning the process leading to the challenged action and, separately, the end
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result. In re Tele-Commc ’ns Inc. Shareholders Litig., 2005 Del. Ch. LEXIS 206, at *¥235, 2005
WL 3642727, at *9 (Del. Ch. Sept. 29, 2005).

The Motion makes no mention of this standard. In addition the Motion does not discuss the
“omnipresent specter” that the Defendants were acting primarily in their own interests or for
entrenchment purposes. Unocal Corp. v. Mesa Petroleum Co., 493 A.2d 946, 954 (Del. 1985); see
also eBay Domestic Holdings, Inc. v. Newmark, 16 A.3d 1, 36 (Del. Ch. 2010).

The entire fairness requirement entails “exacting scrutiny” to determine whether the
challenged actions were entirely fair. Paramount Commec 'ns, Inc. v. QVC Network Inc., 637 A.2d
34, 42 N.9 (Del. 1994), quoted in Krasner v. Moffett, 826 A.2d 277, 285, n.26, 287 n.40 (Del.
2003). Under the entire fairness standard, the challenged action itsclf must be objectively fair,
independent of the beliefs of the director defendants. Geoff v. I Cindus, Inc., 902 A.2d 1130,
1145 (Del. Ch. 2006) subsequent proceedings, 2006 (Del. Ch. LEXIS 161, 2000 WL 2521441
(Del. Ch. Aug. 22, 2006); see also Venhill Ltd. P’ship v. Hilman, 2008 Del. Ch. LEXIS 67, at *67-
68, 2008, WL 2270488, at *22 (Del. Ch. June 3, 2008).

“The fairness test therefore is “an inquiry designed to access whether a self-dealing
transaction should be respected or set aside in equity.” Venhill, 208 Del. Ch. LEXIS 67 at *66,
2008 WL 2270488 at *22. Here, Defendants cannot carry their burden of proving the entire
fairness of their actions, as part of an ongoing course of entrenchment oriented conduct, aborting
the CEO search they touted to RDI sharcholders and the public to select EC for regions that had
nothing to do with the skills and experience they had previously determined was necessary to even
be a candidate for RDI’s CEO position.

4, N.R.S. 78.138(7) Does Not Preclude Liability in This Case

The individual director defendants in most if not all of their MSJs cite to NRS 78.138(7)
and, 1n particular, to the portion that requires that fiduciary breaches “involve[] intentional
misconduct, fraud, or a knowing violation of law” and, based on that language, and cases that
quote that language, conclude that they are “protected” or “immune” from liability. (See e.g., MSJ
No. 4 at 8:3-8.) In doing so, they invariably provide no substantive discussion of the notion of

“intentional misconduct.” Indeed, they cite only one case, a Federal District Court case from the
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10™ Circuit, for the proposition that intentional misconduct and a knowing violation of law “both
require knowledge that the conduct was wrongful.” In other words, the complained of conduct
needs to be something beyond and unintentional breach of the duty of care.

First, invocation of Nevada’s exculpatory statute, NRS 78.138.7, misapprehends the
function of the statute, which is to limit monetary liability and recovery, not to serve as a means
by which the legal sufficiency of a fiduciary duty claim is assessed. Emerald Partners v. Berlin,
787 A.2d 85, 92 (Del. 2001) (*“a Section 102(b)(7) provision docs not operate to defeat the validity
of a plaintiff’s claim on the merits,” but “it can operate to defeat the plaintift’s ability to recover
monctary damages.”)

Sccond, even if the exculpatory statute were properly invoked, which it is not, it has no
application where, as here, duty of loyalty (and disclosure) claims also are made. McMillan v.
Intercargo Corp., 768 A.2d 492, 501 n. 41 (Del. Ch. 2000) (the exculpatory statute does not apply
to breaches duty of loyalty because “conduct not in good faith, intentional misconduct, and
knowing violations of law” are “quintessential examples of disloyal, i.¢., faithless,
conduct”). Here, the complained of or challenged conduct also and obviously entails breaches of
the duty of loyalty (and disclosure). Orman v. Cullman, 794 A.2d 5, 41 (Del. Ch. 2002) (plaintiff
pleaded a breach of the duty of loyalty claim where it “pled facts which made it reasonable to
question the independence and disinterest of a majority of the Board that decided what information
to include in the Proxy Statement™); O 'Reilly v. Transworld Healthcare, Inc., 745 A.2d 902, 914-
15, 920, n.34 (Decl. Ch. 2014) (“right complaint alleges or pleads facts sufficient to support the
inference that the disclosure violation was made in bad faith, knowingly or intentionally, the
alleged violation implicates the duty of loyalty” and 1s relevant to the availability of the
exculpatory provisions of section 102(b)X(7)): In re Wheelabrator Techs., Inc. Sh. Litig., 1992 Del.
Ch. LEXIS at *41 n.18, 1992 WL 212595, at *12 n.18 (Del. Ch. Sept. 1, 1992) (§102(b)(7) did not
require dismissal where the plaintiffs pleaded that “the breach of the duty of disclosure wasn’t
intentional violation of the duty of loyalty™).

“Intentional misconduct” is one of three ways in which a fiduciary can fail to act in good

faith. In re Walt Disney Co. Derivative Litig., 906 A.2d 27, 67 (Del. 2006). The first occurs
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“where the fiduciary intentionally acts with a purpose other than that of advancing the best
interests of the corporation.” Id. The second occurs “where the fiduciary tax with the intent to
violate applicable positive law.” Id. The third occurs “where the fiduciary intentionally fails to act
in the face of a known duty to act, demonstrating a conscious disregard for his duties.” /d.
Obviously, the first two of the foregoing three ways fiduciaries can fail to act in good faith track
language of 203 portions of NRS 78.138(7), namely, “intentional misconduct” and “A knowing
violation of law.”

Here, Plaintiff has proffered substantial evidence of an ongoing course of sclf-dealing and
cntrenchment undertaken for the purpose of protecting and furthering the personal financial and
other interests of EC and MC, as well as other individual director defendants, including for
example maintaining Adams’ principal sources of income. These actions on their face and by their
very nature were and are “intentional[] acts with a purpose other than that of advancing the best
interests of [RDI].” Do the individual director defendants really expect the Court to decide at
summary judgment that their actions to threaten Plaintiff with termination if he did not resolve
trust and estate disputes with EC and MC on terms satisfactory to the two of them were not
intentional acts with a purpose other than that of advancing the best interests of RDI? Do they
really expect the Court to determine on summary judgment that the activation and repopulation of
an ¢xecutive committee, about which director Storey complained at the time and which he testified
was intended to and had the effect of limiting his ability to serve as a director of RDI, was not an
intentional act with a purposc other than advancing the best interests of RDI? Do they really
cxpect the Court to determine on summary judgment that, in cffectively firing Korn Ferry and in
completely ignoring the criteria set by the CEO search committee for identifying candidates and
hiring a new CEQO, was not an intentional act with a purpose other than advancing the best
interests of RDI? Do they really expect the Court to decide on summary judgment that hiring and
paying MC as if she had decades of experience in real estate development when, 1n fact, she had
no prior experience, was not an intentional act with a purpose other than advancing the best

interests of RDI?
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The Motion goes to great lengths to depict a benign and ostensibly thorough process
involving the Compensation Committee, the Audit and Conflicts Committee and the full RDI
Board of Directors involvement in the decision to hire MC as the senior executive at RDI
responsible for the development of the Company’s valuable New York real estate.

What is missing from that depiction is any discussion of the lack of disinterestedness and
lack of independence of the directorial decision-makers. As demonstrated herein and in other
oppositions, Adams is beholden to EC and to MC, as is Kane, for different reasons. Wrotniak
would disappoint MC at the risk of angering his wife, and Codding would disappoint MC at the
risk of angering MC and EC’s mother. That Codding and Wrotniak have never served as directors
of a public company evidences that they are not persons for whom their professional reputations as
directors even approximate the importance of their personal relationships with MC and EC.
Codding’s comments to plaintiff to the effect that only a Cotter should run RDI evidence this.

What also is missing is any discussion of their indisputable knowledge that MC had no
prior real estate development experience and was wholly unqualified for the highly compensated
position she was given. Simply put, the process of consulting with a compensation consultant was
a ruse, because the compensation consultant advised with respect to the position, not the person,
MC. The audit committee members, including King and Adams, indisputably knew this. Indeed,
there 1s no evidence proffered to suggest that a single member of the RDI Board of Directors did
not know that MC was being given a senior executive position, and was being paid as if she were
a senior cxccutive, for which she had no prior experience that would have enabled her to secure
that employment, but for the fact that she is believed by the director defendants to be a controlling
sharcholder.

Similarly, as to the $200,000 paid to MC, the notion that it was paid for past services when
she was not an employee of the Company is not evidenced by any prior communications, claims
or documents. Were that actually the rationale, she would have been paid at the time or
immediately thereafter, not upon becoming an employee. As to the claim that those monies also
were to compensate her for relinquishing certain debatable rights, there is no evidence that she

would not have relinquished those rights otherwise. In fact, the evidence, which is undisputed, is
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that MC since at least the Fall of 2014 sought and angled to become employee of RDI, including
for the purposes of obtaining health insurance for herself and her two children. There is no
evidence that, throughout her repeated efforts to become employee, a condition of doing so was
being compensated for relinquishing any rights.

As to EC, the situation is substantially the same as it is as to MC. The question 1s not
whether someone holding her position should be compensated in the manner she now is
compensated. The question is whether she should. In view of the fact that she met virtually none
of the position specification criteria that the CEO search committee determined would be used to
identify candidates and, ultimately, sclect the new CEQ, the obvious question raised by the
undisputed facts is why EC was not required by the RDI Board to accept less moncy as CEO.
Simply put, neither the use of the compensation consultant nor the illusion of process changes the
actual facts, which are disputed material facts.

Finally, as to be $50,000 bonus provided to Adams, for supposed extraordinary efforts in
doing his job, the Motion mischaracterizes the evidence it proffers. Contrary to what the Motion
concludes, a bonus of $50,000 paid to a RDI director is one for which there is no clear historical
precedent. The payment of $75,000 to director Storey for his role as ombudsman is not an
appropriate point of reference, given that the time and magnitude of his responsibilities and efforts
cxceeded those of Adams by a multiple. Morcover, historical precedent makes clear that
directorial bonuses given by RDI typically were $10,000. Independent of the foregoing, an
obvious question is whether Adams was given this bonus due to loyalty to EC and/or MC, because
he needed the money, or both. Proffering a list of reasons, unsubstantiated by actual evidence to
support them, 1s insufficient to explain such an extraordinary bonus, in derogation of historical
practices.

Finally, given the lack of disinterestedness and lack of independence on the part of the
director decision-makers, and given the overall context of ongoing entrenchment and self-
enrichment, as well as Rule 56 standards, each of the matters above our matters as to which there
are disputed material facts to require denial of the Motion which, for the reasons explained above,

should be assessed based on the entire fairness standard.
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5. The Interested Director defendants’ “Economic Harm” Argument Is
Erroneous as a Matter of Law

The Individual Director Defendants assert that, to avoid summary judgment, Plaintiff must
produce “cognizable evidence” showing “that the breaches [of fiduciary duty] proximately caused
the damages” claimed incurred by the Company. For that proposition, they cite Brown v. Kinross
Gold U.S.A., Inc., 531 F. Supp. 2d 1234, 1245 (D. Nev. 2008). The Individual Director
Defendants also assert that, to sustain a fiduciary duty claim, there must be “cognizable evidence”
of “economic harm suffered” by the Company resulting from the alleged breaches of fiduciary
duty, citing a federal district court case from Colorado and an Arizona state court case. (Motion at
22:13-21))

The Individual Director Defendants’ “economic harm” argument is mistaken as a matter of
law and is in reality a disguised exercise at question-begging. The Individual Director Defendants
argue that their complained of conduct 1s governed by and should be assessed by the business
judgment rule. However, Plaintiff has introduced evidence sufficient to rebut the presumptions of
the business judgment rule and require the Individual Director Defendants to satisfy the entire
fairness test, as to which they bear the burden. Part of that burden is to show that the challenged
result was entirely fair. The Individual Director Defendants’ “economic harm” argument therefore
begs the threshold question of what is the standard by which the Individual Director Defendants’
conduct is to be assessed, which in this case is the entire fairness test, which places the burden on
them.

The Delaware Supreme Court in Cede & Co. v. Technicolor, Inc., 634 A.2d 345 (Del.
1993), modified, 636 A.2d 956 (Del. 1994), concluded that a requirement that a plaintiff show
proof of loss “may” be “good law” in a tort action seeking to recover damages for negligence, but
that such a requirement docs not apply to a breach of fiduciary duty claim where an issuc is the
appropriate standard of review of the director defendants’ challenged conduct. (/d. at 370.) The
Court explained that that 1s the proper rule of law because “[t]he purpose of a trial court’s
application of an entirc fairness standard of review to a challenged business transaction is simply
to shift to the defendant directors the burden of demonstrating to the court the entire fairness of the

transaction . . .” (Id. at 369.)
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In a subsequent decision in the same case, the Delaware Supreme Court emphasized that
“[t]o inject a requirement of proof of injury into the [business judgment] rule’s formulation for
burden shifting purposes is to lose sight of the underlying purpose of the rule . . .” Cinerama, Inc.
v. Technicolor, Inc., 663 A.2d 1156, 1166 (Del. 1995). Explaining further, the Court stated that
“[t]to require proof of injury as a component of the proof necessary to rebut the business judgment
presumption would convert the burden shifting process from a threshold determination of the
appropriate standard of review to a dispositive adjudication on the merits.” (Id.) See also Carlton
Invs. v. TLC Beatrice Int’l Holdings, Inc., 1996 Del. Ch. LEXIS 47, at *11, 1996 WL 189435, *4
(Del. Ch. Apr. 16, 1996) (holding that there is “no obligation to plead or prove injury” as part of a
breach of fiduciary duty claim and that allegations and evidence “sufficient to strip the board of
the business judgment presumption” are sufficient).

Separately, and contrary to the “economic harm” argument proffered by the Individual
Director Defendants in most if not all of their MSJs, the Court may “fashion any form of equitable
and monetary relief as may be appropriate” under the circumstances in a breach of fiduciary duty
care. (Technicolor, 663 A.2d at 1166 (quoting Technicolor, 634 A.2d at 371).)

Here, the Individual Director Defendants’ repeated invocation of an imaginary “economic
harm” requirement ignores the nature of this action, which is for breach of fiduciary duty, which is
an action in ¢quity, in which equitable relief may be sought and obtained.

Here, the prayer for relief in Plaintiff’s SAC includes several requests for equitable relief,
relating both to the termination of Plaintiff and to subsequent actions of the Individual Director
Defendants to entrench themselves in control of the Company. Such relief may be sought and
secured by way of a breach of fiduciary duty claim.

“A general common law presumption is that a director’s or officer’s conflict of interest can
result in the voiding of a transaction.” Keith Paul Bishop & Jeffrey P. Zucker, Bishop and Zucker
on Nevada Corporations and Limited Liability Companies, § 8.16, 8-44 (2013), citing, see, e.g.,
William Meade Fletcher, Fletcher Cyclopedia of the Law of Corporations, §§ 915.10, 917
(2010). The Nevada Supreme Court in Kendall v. Henry Mountain Mines, Inc., stated that

dircctorial conflicts arc such that the challenged action of the directors “may be avoided by the
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corporation or its stockholders.” 78 Nev. 408, 410-11, 374 P.2d 889, 890 (1962) (quoting
Marsters v. Umpgua Valley Oil, Co., 49 Or. 374, 378,90 P. 151, 153 (1907).

Finally, MSJ No. 6 also asserts (at 20-22) that there were no damages from the matters
which are the subject of MSJ No. 6, including the payment of a senior executive salary to a person
undisputedly unqualified to hold that position, MC, and the payment of a historically
unprecedented $50,000 “bonus” to a director, Adams.

Additionally, although not required to do so, given the nature of the claims made and the
relief sought, Plaintiff has produced evidence of damages. For example, Plaintiff has claimed, and
defendant’s own documents and testimony have acknowledged, monies paid to third-party
consultants (¢.g., Edifice) and/or monies paid to MC arising from the fact that MC has no prior
real estate development experience, which requires the third-party consultants be paid to do what
1s part of her job.

Plaintiff also has claimed and publicly available information shows diminution in the price
at which RDI stock traded in the days following disclosure of the termination of Plaintiff, as well
as on the day of and following disclosure of the selection of EC as permanent President and CEO.

Plaintiff has claimed and evidence shows corporate waste and monetary damages to RDI,
including from the inflated salary paid to MC and including from what amounted to a gift of
$200,000 to MC (supposedly for services she had provided over a number of preceding years, for
which neither her father is the former CEO or the board soffits compensator at the time) and a gift
of $50,000 Adams (for serving as a director over the course of the preceding year, during which
there was nothing memorializing his supposed special services as such, much less the notion that
he should receive special compensation for those services which only were identified after the

fact).
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IV.  CONCLUSION
For all of the foregoing reasons, Plaintiff respectfully submits that MSJ No. 5 should be
denied.
DATED this 13th day of October, 2016.
LEWIS ROCA ROTHGERBER CHRISTIE LLP

/s/ Mark G. Krum

Mark G. Krum (Nevada Bar No. 10913)
3993 Howard Hughes Pkwy, Suite 600
Las Vegas, NV 89169-5958

Attorneys for Plaintiff James J. Cotter, Jr.
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 13th day of October, 2016, I caused a true and correct copy of

the foregoing to be electronically served to all parties of record via this Court’s electronic filing

system to all parties listed on the E-Service Master List.

/s/ Annette Jaramillo

An employee of Lewis Roca Rothgerber Christie LLP
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Mark G. Krum (SBN 10913)

Lewis Roca Rothgerber Christie LLP
3993 Howard Hughes Pkwy, Suite 600
Las Vegas, NV 89169-5996

Tel: 702-949-8200

Fax: 702-949-8398

E-mail: mkrum@lrre.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff, James J. Cotter, Jr.

Electronically Filed
10/17/2016 04:02:05 PM

Q%“;.W

CLERK OF THE COURT

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

JAMES J. COTTER, JR., individually and
derivatively on behalf of Reading International,
Inc.,

Plaintiff,
Vs,

MARGARET COTTER, ELLEN COTTER,
GUY ADAMS, EDWARD KANE, DOUGLAS
McEACHERN, TIMOTHY STOREY,
WILLIAM GOULD, and DOES 1 through 100,
inclusive,

Defendants.

READING INTERNATIONAL, INC,, a
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DATED this 17th day of October, 2016.
LEWIS ROCA ROTHGERBER CHRISTIE LLP
By: /s/ Mark G. Krum

Mark G. Krum (SBN 10913)
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Las Vegas, NV 89169-5996

Tel: 702.949.8200
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JAMES J. COTTER
128 X, Robertson Boulevard
Los Angeles, CA 90048

(310) 6307224 (1)

{3190} 639-7226 (1)

MEMO

Yo Alred Viliasefior, Chatrman of the Compensation Commities
From: James . Cotter

Date: Jamuary 16, 2004

Subiect; James 1. Coner, Jr.

CC: Andrzey Matyezynski
James § Coner, Jr
Rita Rice

A faw years age, the Board had expressed its concerss 1hat Reading needed @ succession
plan in the event that | becarme incapacitated of resigned from the company, Thereafer, 1
suggested that James Coiter, Jr, 2 Board member for over five vears, begin spending
mare {ime at the company’s office in Commerce haising with the top management,

The Bourd agreed and James Cotter, Je. begas & program of meeting with the op
execatives of the company here and telfepborcally with those in Auseralia, New Zealand,
and New York. He furthermore went to New Zealand and Australia with me this last
vear and besides seemyg some of our properties, he met ail the key execatives.

On ench Monday and Wednesday for one and 2 hail to two howss esch fune, be has
chaired discussions on all aspects of domestic and foreign exhibition and real estote
develepment and operatons in New Zealand, Ausiraha, and the USA After such
meatings, he prepares and distributes 10 these same executives management feports on
the discassions and follow-up assignments. He has also been on conference calls
wmvolving these sume executives outside of the Monday and Wednesdey meatings. His
compensation was sgreed fo e $100.00C per annum, which vas paid out of my salary
and duly noted m oar mimutes and public filings.

Mow his First vear assignmen 15 up 2ad 1 believe it was a success; he i most mformed oo
all aspects of cur business and, ik addition, i completely conversant with top
manapement. Az he now begios the 2009 fiscal vear, 1am supgesting the Baard consider
ity obectives met and bave Reading sssume the responsibility for Jin's 300,000 per
YRS COMPENSRTHN

JCOTTERD 14536
001
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From: Kang

Ta: James Cotter JR
Sent: BIE2018 93015 Pt
Subject: Re: A proposai

My orly response s shit!! | won't say who § & directed al Dul there is

no ore mcre cualiied to be the CED of this company than you. That & st 1o
say you don't have warts ke the rest of us, but there is mo one else to

pmch hit. So stay n there, if not for your mom's sake or for you dad's
memGry ar your sisters’ sake, do it far your Kids, s¢ they can grow up and
fighl with thedr cousinsHThis 100 shal pass s, if P'ey nod 100 msadin

you will be strenger for 4.

~——-Original Message-—-

From: James Cotter IR

Sent: Monday, June 08, 2015 10:34 AN
To: "Kane {elkane@san.or.com}'
Subjeet: RE: A proposai

| offarad Ellen and Margarel 2 complete Hime-cut standstit. slop all
ftigation. .. stop all boardroom and Reading lhveats and postuing. Al

askad of them was that they sgree 1o a fomsl mediation process. Their
response was that | had 1o sccept thei settiement proposat of be terminated
as President and CED. 1 rermain wiliing to proceed on the basis of a conpiete
standstif.

From, Kane [mailto ekanef@san.ar.comy
Sent: Sunday, June 07, 2015 518 PM
To: James Cotter JR

Subject: A proposat

The peopie who count Mether-Mary, EBen , Margaret and { wand youto be CEQ

ard run the conpany for the ned 30 years of more, Now you have been
praseated with a peeposal — [ have not read or heard &l the particudlars -
that vous obviously find objectionable, at least i sorme aspeds. Your and
their “iegal advisors™, whe dont give a fuck about any of you other thante
sep their Blls sre pald, will argue back and fonth with the hope that more
iscralbve Ehgatian will ersue.

So, why nat consider a §-manth time-cut standstifl. If your original
prognosiication holds, the slock price mry well inerease during ihis period
so there is nothisg to bse on your part.

You lell the sisiers what you nomw fined ohjectionabie it wil agres 1o Uy

It as is for 6-months. After that period, the theee of you agree lo sit down
and go over all your objections with a tacit agecement that # things

improve and you have arrived al 8 way of working tegether the three of you
wil address all of your conesms in good faih: that the gosiwill be &

sodid long-teem rafationship of working together and each of you lhenio
retun fo and concentrate on your respechive responsibilties with you
assuming leadarship ance move. What's there 1o lose? All you: resly need 1o
do is restGie tust and understanding and 1ake hack conirdl of your company.
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DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

JAMES J. COTTER, JR., individually and)
derivatively on behalf of Reading
International, Inc.,
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VS.

MARGARET COTTER, ELLEN COTTER, GUY
ADAMS, EDWARD KANE, DOUGLAS McEACHERN,
TIMOTEY STOREY, WILLIAM GOULD, and
DOES 1 through 100, inclusive,

Defendants.
and

READING INTERNATIONAL, INC., a
Nevada corporation,
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Nominal Defendant. J
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No. A-15-719860-B
Coordinated with:
P-14-082942-E

DEPOSITION OF TIMOTHY STOREY, a defendant herein,

noticed by LEWIS ROCA ROTHGERBER CHRISTIE LLP,

1453 Third Street Promenade, Santa Monica,

at

California, at 9:28 a.m., on Friday, February 12,

2016, before Teckla T. Hollins, CSR 13125.
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Page 57
a communication from the Stomp producers with respect to

issues of the nature that were raised in the letter to
which you referred?

MR. SEARCY: Occasion. Vague.

THE WITNESS: My understanding was that there had
been some correspondence in the preceding year, and that
those issues had been dealt -- we thought those issues
had been dealt with.

MR. KRUM:

Q. How did you come to have that understanding?

A. I don't recall a specific matter, but I think
Margaret said that to me.

Q. Do you recall that Bill Gould expressed some
concern about the Stomp issue?

MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague.

MR. RHOW: Join.

THE WITNESS: I don't specifically recall Bill
Gould making a comment. On reflection, I do recollect
that we did have a discussion amongst board members, but
I think all of us were concerned about the matter. But
I don't have a specific recollection.

MR. KRUM:

Q. Did you ever hear or were you ever told, or did
you ever learn that Bill Gould had said, in words or

substance, that the Stomp issue could or might cost RDI

Litigation Services | 800-330-1112
www.litigationservices.com
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Page 58
$20 million or some other figure of a similar magnitude?

MR. RHOW: Form of the guestion.

MR. SEARCY: Join. 1It's vague.

MR. KRUM:

Q. You may answer.

MR. RHOW: ' You can &answer.

THE WITNESS: 1'm sorry. Can you repeat the
question?

MR. KRUM: 1I'll ask the court reporter to read it
for me.

(The record is read by the reporter.)

THE WITNESS: Yes, I think people were of the view
that something like that had been said by Bill Gould.

MR. KRUM:

Q. BAnd what do you recall either Mr. Gould cor
anybody else saying about such a statement?

A. It was a general comment. I can remember that
Mr. Kane was not very happy about the comment.

Q. Why do you say that? What did he -- In other
words —-

A. Just a memory.

Q. -- what did Mr. Kane say or do that prompts
that memory?

A. I don't know that he said anything, but I think

this is a subject of an exchange of e-mails between Ed

Litigation Services® | 800-330-1112
www.litigationservices.com
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Page 58
Kane and Bill Gould, which Bill Gould tock umbrage to,

but I don't -- to be fair, I don't recollect that
specifically.

Q. Did you ever hear or were you ever told that
anybody said or thought that the Stomp issue was or
might be relevant to Margaret's employment or possible
employment with RDI?

MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague.

THE WITNESS: Well, I think at this point in time,
which from memory is in May, right, that all scorts of
things were happening around the board table, and it was
one of the issues that was live at the time.

MR. KRUM:

Q. When you say, "it was one of the issues that
was live," does that mean that yes, there were
discussions about whether -- or the possibility that the
Stomp issue should be taken into consideration in
assessing Margaret's employment situation?

MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague.

THE WITNESS: I don't recollect that that was
discussed. I think that, as I say here in paragraph 6
of Exhibit 9, you know, it was -- as I said, it was an
issue on the table. But as I see here, it was agreed
that a review could wait for another day. Our efforts

should be on trying to recover the money if Stomp moved.

Litigation Services | 800-330-1112
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Page 96
got lost.

MR. KRUM: I'll just repeat it.

MR. FERRARIO: Yeah.

MR. KRUM:

Q. When did you first hear or learn or when were
you first told that aﬁy of the non-Cotter directors had
concluded that Jim Cotter should be removed as CEO?

A. About a week before the meeting, I would say,
mid- -- around about the 15th of May, I got a phone call
from Doug McEachern, who informed me that there had been
various discussions. It was intended to remove Jim at
the board meeting. That he had been in discussions with
Guy Adams, and that Guy Adams was -- my recollection,
was leading the charge or was involved with it.

I made some commentary on the procedure. And
Mr. McEachern said he was aware of that, but that's
where things stood. BAnd the next day, I got a phone
call -- the next day, I had a phone call from Guy Adams,
who basically affirmed that.

Q. And what did Mr. Adams say, in sum and
substance, unless you actually remember the words?

A. I think he said, in substance, that the time
had come for the matter to be dealt with, that they had
the legal advice that they could do that, that it

shouldn't be an issue. My recollection is, it was a
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Page 97
pretty short conversation.

Q. And when you say "the matter" should be dealt
with, what was "the matter"?

A. The removal cof the CEO.

Q. Did he indicate from whom they had received
legal advice?

A. No.

Q. Did you ever subsequently learn who that was?

MR. FERRARIO: Object that —--

MR. KRUM: I'm not asking for the substance. I'm
asking —--

MR. FERRARIO: Assumes he got any legal advice.

MR. KRUM: Okay. He testified that Adams said he
had legal advice. So I'm not doing anything other than
following on that testimony.

Q. So did you ever hear or learn or did you ever
otherwise develop an understanding as to whom Mr., Adams
was referring when he talked about legal advice?

A. I don't recollect.

Q. Was it Akin Gump?

A. I don't know.

Q. It's just an appropriate follow-up question.

MR. RHOW: The reason I have a problem with the
guestion, sometimes when you say, "Did you ever

subsequently learn," first, I dor't know if what his --
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what the relevance is of his current knowledge, but I

understand why you're asking.

MR. KRUM: I just want to know who it was.

MR. RHOW: My other concern in general is, if he's
learning from me or other sources, that's not
necessarily scmething I can object to, since I'm not
sure if he currently knows. But anyway, that guesticn
is fine.

MR. KRUM: Well, T assume you prepared him, but let
me make it clear.

Q. Mr. Storey, when I ask questions that in any
respect call for anything touching on legal advice, I'm
not asking you to disclose the substance of any legal
advice, whether it was provided to you as a director of
the company by in-house or outside counsel representing
the company, whether it was provided to you by your own
counsel. If the question calls for information of that
type, all I want to hear is the identity of the lawyer
and the subject matter of the advice, not the substance.

A. Thank you.

Q. So the call with Adams was -- when in time was
it relative to the -- to your receipt of the notice from
Ellen Cotter of the special meeting?

A. From recollection, prior to.

Q. And the call from Adams was the day after you

Litigation Services | 800-330-1112
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Page 99
spoke to McEachern; correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And in the McEachern call, he told you that he,
Adams, and Kane had determined to vote to remove Jim
Cotter, Jr. as CEO; is that correct?

MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague.

THE WITNESS: For some reason, my recollecticn of
the conversation is that it was going to be -- that the
time had come to remove the CEQ, or to that effect.

MR. KRUM:

Q. Well, when you hung up from the call with
Mr. McEachern that you just described, did you
understand that he had communicated to you that he had
decided to vote to remove Jim Cotter, Jr. as CEO?

A. Yes.

Q. The next day when you hung up the call from
Mr. Adams, did you understand that Mr. Adams had told
you that he also had decided to vote to remove Jim
Cotter, Jr. as CEO?

MR. SEARCY: Objection. Lacks foundation.

THE WITNESS: Yes.

MR. KRUM: Okay.

Q. And as best you can recall, what were the words
Mr. Adams used that led you to that conclusion?

A. T don't recollect specific words.

Litigation Services | 800-330-1112
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spoke to McEachern; correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And in the McEachern call, he told you that he,
Adams, and Kane had determined to vote to remove Jim
Cotter, Jr. as CEO; is that correct?

MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague.

THE WITNESS: For some reascn, my recollection of
the conversation is that it was going to be -- that the
time had come tc remove the CEQ, or to that effecrt.

MR. KRUM:

Q. Well, when you hung up from the call with
Mr, McEachern that you just described, did you
understand that he had communicated to you that he had
decided to vote to remove Jim Cotter, Jr. as CEO?

A. Yes.

Q. The next day when you hung up the call from
Mr. Adams, did you understand that Mr. Adams had told
you that he also had decided to vote to remove Jim
Cotter, Jr. as CEO?

MR. SEARCY: Objecticn. Lacks foundation.

THE WITNESS: Yes.

MR: KRUM: Oxkay.

Q. And as best you can recall, what were the words
Mr. Adams used that led you to that conclusion?

A. T don't recollect specific words.
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our somebody else told you that Mr. Kane had decided to

vote to remove Jim Cotter, Jr. as president and CEQO?

MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague.

THE WITNESS: You'll have to repeat the guestion.

MR. KRUM: Sure.

Q. When did you first learn or were you first told
that Ed Kane had decided to vote to remove Jim
Cotter, Jr. as president and CEO?

A. I don't recollect.

Q.  Okay.

A. Obviously, prior to those discussions.

Q. Right. Now, during your call with
Mr. McEachern about what you've testified already, what
did you say to him?

A. I don't recollect that I said much. I think I
talked about adopted process, and looking at the matter
properly as a board. As I said earlier, my recollection
is that Mr. McFachern said "yes," he understood that
position.

I didn't see it as my position, at that point or at
any point, tc be an advocate cne way or another. My
concern was around adopting a robust procedure to go
through that process.

Q. Did you say to Mr. McEachern, in words or

substance, that there had not been to that point in time
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Page 139
with respect to trust and estate matters that was

reported on or about 6:00 o'clock in the evening on
May 29th, had not come to fruition?

A. Yes, T had understood that it didn't come to
fruition.

Q. How did you learn that or what were you told?

A. I don't recollect.

Q. Do you recall that a board meeting was convened
on or about June 122

A I do.
Q. That was a Friday; correct?
A Was it telephonic or in person?
Q I believe it was in person.

Do you recall —-- QOkay. I believe it was
telephonic. I misspoke. You're correct.

A. I think.

Q. Thank you.

And do you recall that --

A. Telephonic for me, I think. T don't know about
anybody else.

Q. Understood. Thank you for the clarification.

Do you recall that there was a vote to terminate
Jim Cotter, Jr. as president and CEO?

A. T do.

Q. BAnd what was the outcome of that?
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A. I think that two voted against it, and the

others -- Two voted against; is that right? I have to
look at the record, but certainly I voted against.

Q. 1Is it your best recollection that Mr. Gould
also voted against?

A. Yes. I was just thinking about Mr. Cotter.
Perhaps it was three against.

Q. And the votes fof termination were by
Messrs. Kane, Adams and McEachern, and by Ellen and
Margaret Cotter; correct? .

A. Correct.

Actually, on reflecticn, perhaps Mr. Cotter
abstained and didn't vote kecause he was interested. I
don't recollect.

Q. Or at least he acknowledged that he was
interested?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you recall learning at some point that on or
about June 15th, Ellen Cotter had sent a letter to Jim
Cotter, Jr. asserting that, pursuant to his executive
employment agreement, he was required to resign as a
director upon termination as an officer?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. When did you first learn that?

A. I think at or shortly after the termination
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I, Teckla T. Hollins, CSR 13125, do hereby declare:

That, prior to being examined, the witness named in
the foregoing deposition was by me duly sworn pursuant
to Section 30(f) (1) of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure and the deposition is a true record of the
testimony given by the witness.

That said deposition was taken down by me in
shorthand at the time and place therein named and
thereafter reduced to text under my direction.

That the witness was reguested to review the
transcript and make any changes to the
transcript as a result of that review
pursuant to Section 30 (e) of the Federal
Rules cf Civil Procedure.

No changes have been provided by the witness
during the period allowed.

The changes made by the witness are appended
to the transcript.

No reguest was made that the transcript be
reviewed pursuant to Section 30(e) of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

T further declare that I have no interest in the
event of the action.

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws
of the United States of America that the foregoing is

true and correct.

WITNESS my hand this 3rd day of

o

Teckla T. Hollins, CSR 13125
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Message

From: Tim Storey [tim.storey@prolex.co.nzj

Sent: 5/20/2015 4:45:47 AM

To: 'William David Gould' [wgould@troygould.com]
Subject: FW: Thursday board meeting

Flag: Follow up

Can we discuss - a draft response below

£d — pood to hear directly from you.

| am not sure how to respond to this.

But in any event | don’t understand the import of your comments here - they suggest Margaret and Ellen’s view is
determinative of the issues. In my analysis, the view of the shareholder/s is immaterial to the matters before the
board. Eachdirector and the board needs to act in the best interests of the company etc —as | have said, a different
concept to your apparent view that we should act as directed by a shareholder or as what we think a shareholder might
desire (and again as previously noted, noting even the issue of who the shareholder is, is yet to be clarified!)

My concern is we need to act appropriately from a procedural point of view — see my earlier email. If we act
inappropriately, that is not cured by any steps | may be able to take subsequently as you suggest. Just to do as the Chair
may ask is not an appropriate response.

And for the record, | am only assuming the matter before us is a resolution to immediately remove the CEO — that isn’t
clear from the agenda, or any direct comment made to me by any party.

Tim Storey
Director
Prolex Advisory

PO Box 2974 Shortland Street, Auckland
Phone +64(0)21 633-089

From: Kane [mailto:elkane@san.rr.com]
Sent: Wednesday, 20 May 2015 3:40 p.m.
To: Tim Storey
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Cc: Adams Guy; Cotter Ellen; Cotter Margaret; Cotter Jr. James; McEachern Doug (US - Retired); Gould Bill
Subject: Re: Thursday board meeting

Tim, | respect your concerns. However, we have heard from Nevada counsel via their memos and | assume that
appropriate counsel will be present at the Board meeting called by the Chairperson. We owe her the duty and respect to
attend the meeting she has called for the purposes set out in her agenda. | see no purpose in holding 2 per-meeting to
discuss what is already on her agenda. If, after the meeting, you feel another so-called “independent committee”
meeting is advisable you can suggest this at the end of the meeting called by Eilen. From my perspective a pre meeting
can only exacerbate the tensions now felt by all and can only rehash what will be discussed at the Chairperson’s
meeting. You well know what we will be discussing/debating so let's move forward as requested by the Chairperson. We
owe her that.

Sent: Tuesday, May 19, 2015 12:25 PM

To: Kane ; Gould Bill

Cc: Adams Guy ; Cotter Ellen ; Cotter Margaret ; Cotter Jr. James ; McEachern Doug (US - Retired}
Subject: RE: Thursday board meeting

My apologies for my delay in response — | have been travelling. (And my apologies in advance for a lengthy comment!)

| am surprised by the tone and possible implications of this email. |think we need to take time to carefully consider the
legal position and our clear duties as directors.

My understanding was that this Thursday we were to have a meeting of the independent directors to hear from the CEO
as to progress, and also from each of the Cotters separately so they can express their views to us (| am not sure in what
capacity/on what basis this is being done, but | have no objection to hearing from people). |was also to make some
comments, as requested when | was appointed to the independent committee (and following on from my prior
comments and my brief emails reporting progress). All this to keep the independent board members informed as to the
current position, and perhaps/likely in preparation for a further review of the position.

But | have heard from Bill Gould that it may be that someone will propose a resolution on Thursday morning that the
CEQ be removed from office with immediate effect. | have just seen an agenda for the meeting - while preparing this
note at about 1130 am —and that simply has an agenda item captioned “Status of CEO and President”), otherwise | have
not heard directly from anyone in this regard.

With respect, | think as directors we need to ensure we are acting in an appropriate manner, following an appropriate
path. | have no doubt whatever way all this turns out litigation will likely ensure so we should be very concerned about
the manner in which we act.

As directors, we have to act properly —with deliberation and reason — we can’t act arbitrarily, capriciously etc. You will
recall we also resalved/reconfirmed some months ago that we would all act in accord with best governance

principles. All this imposes duties on us as directors; as directors we can’t just do what a shareholder asks — or do what
we think a shareholder might want (not to mention that at the moment there remains significant uncertainty as to the
{ultimate) identity of some shareholders).

If we are to look at the position of the CEO and whether he should be removed, then we should do so properly — with
proper notice, having determined the basis on which we are conducting this review (presumably based on his
performance to date as CEO) and following due enquiry. We should also take into account the implications for the
company — and that | think would include a clear view as to an alternative way forward.

We also need to look at the proper way to conduct this review. My recollection is that we have previously resolved that
the removal of any Cotter needs to be approved by a majority of the independent directors, so presumably this may not
be a full board issue.

{ think the issue may be further complicated as when we talked to the CEO in April (I think) we advised the CEO we all
agreed that the committee approach was short term and said that we would look to review his progress as CEO in June
and at which point we would evaluate how he and the company were performing, and what other steps may need to be
taken.
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In my view, we need to get our procedure correct. This is a separate issue to the merits of a decision before us. We
should be clear between us as to the proper procedure —

This is a matter of urgency; | for one don’t want to take part in a kangaroo court (or what might appear to be a kangaroo
court).

To be clear, my concern here is we act with appropriate procedure. The merits of the matter (whether the CEO should
be removed, | assume) are a separate issue to be considered with care — and one concluded following an appropriate
procedure.

Of course, | am not a US native so perhaps some of my views may be off key — perhaps Bill Gould as an experienced US
corporate and board adviser can comment!

Happy to discuss.

Tim Storey
Director

Prolex Advisory

PO Box 2974 Shorfland Streef, Auckland
Phone +44(0)21 £33-089% .

From: Kane [maiito:elkane@san.tr.com]

Sent: Tuesday, 19 May 2015 7:24 a.m.

To: Gould Bifl

Cc: Adams Guy; Cotter Ellen; Cotter Margaret; Cotter Jr. James; McEachern Doug (US - Retired); Tim Storey
Subject: Thursday board meeting

As a follow-up to yesterday’s phone conversation, | strongly suggest that the “independent” committee not meet before
the 11:00 AM Board meeting scheduled by the Chairperson. We are all fully aware of the topics to be discussed and
there is nothing to be gained by hashing them over before the Board meeting and then again at the Board meeting.
Some of the items are obviously contentious and nothing can be gained by double exposure. We are all adults — |
assume — so let’s get right to the major issues. If, after the formal Board meeting, you feel we should have a meeting of
the “independents” | will not be opposed to staying and discussing topics of your choosing.
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JAMES J. COTTER, JR.
individually and derivatively
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International, Inc.,

Plaintiff,

vs. Index No. A-15-179860-B
MARGARET COTTER, ELLEN
COTTER, GUY ADAMS, EDWARD
KANE, DOUGLAS WILLIAM GOULD,
and DOES 1 through 100,
inclusive,

Defendants.

READING INTERNATICNAL, INC.,
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VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF MARGARET COTTER
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Page 154

1 Q These were the —-- this was the revised

2 papers that followed the prior board meeting

3 at, which, on a telephone call —-- strike that.
4 I don't need to talk to you about that.

5 I'll just show you something and ask you a

6 question.

7 MR. KRUM: 1I'll ask the court reporter to
B8 mark as Exhibit 321, a document bearing

9 Production Nos. JCOTTER2362 through '68.

10 For the purposes of your examination, all’
11 but the first page are what I believe

12 Ms. Cotter presviously described as the first
13 such document.
14 Q And for your benefit, Ms. Cotter, all I
15 intend to do with this is to make sure that I
16 have shown you both documents so that you've
17 identified them.
18 So, go ahead.

19 (Deposition Exhibit 322, E-mail dated May
20 27, 2015 from Harry Susman to Adam Streisand
21 with Attachment, marked for identification as
22 of this date.)
23 Q Ms. Cotter, do you recognize Exhibit 3222
24 A Yes.
25 Q Is this the document that you and Ellen
Litigation Services | 1.800.330.1112

www.litigationservices.com
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Fage 155
and Jim Cotter, Jr. discussed when the three of

you met on Friday, the 29th of May, between a
supposed board meeting that convened late
morning, early afternoon, and supposed
reconvened telephonic board meeting about

6:00 p.m. that night?

A This document reflects the terms that we
discussed and agreed to on -- I can't remember
thet date, Friday.

Q Friday the 29th of May before the Memorial

Day weekend; is that it?

A No.
Q It was a Friday; you remember that?
A Yes, but this document is from May 27th.

So it was prior to May 27th.

Q Well, do you recall that the initial board
meeting at which the subject of the termination
of Jim Cotter, Jr. was raised, occurred on or
about May 217

A The first board meeting?

Q Right.

A Yes.

Q And that you recall that the second board
meeting, or supposed board meeting, I should

say, occurred on a Friday and convened,

Litigation Services | 1.800.330.1112
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supposedly and adjourned, and then reconvened
telephonically?
A The same day.
Q The same day, right.
A Yeah.
Q And my question to you: Is Exhibit 322
the document to which -- I think you've just
said this, but let me ask the question.
Is Exhibit 322 the document to which you
understood you and Ellen and Jim had agreed?
A Yes, this document, Exhibit 322, replaced
the terms that the three of us collectively
decided.
Q Okay. And this was what was purported
to -- the other members of RDI board of
directors on the telephone call that convened
at or about 6:00 o'clock that Friday evening;
is that right?
A That's correct.
Q All I'm trying to do is get the documents
identified correctly.
MR. KRUM: Okay. So we're at 323 now?
THE COURT REPORTER: Yes.
MR. KRUM: 1I'll ask the court reporter to

mark as 323 a doccument that purports to be a

Page 156
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CERTILESLEATHE
STATE OF NEW YORK )
:1sS
COUNTY OF NEW YCRK )

I, MICHELLE COX, a Notary Public within
and for the State of New York, do hereby
certify:

That MARGARET COTTER, the witness whose
deposition is hereinbefore set forth, was duly
sworn by me and that such deposition is a true
record of the testimony given by the witness.

I further certify that I am not related to
any of the parties to this action by blood or
marriage, and that I am in no way interested in
the outcome of this matter.

IN WITNESS WHEREOQOF, I have hereunto set my

hand this 27th day of June 2016.

MICHELLE COX, CIR
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A, That's correct.

Q. Okay. At any point in time in the time
frame of January 1lst, 2015, through June 12, 2015,
was it your desire to sign an agreement with Edifice
before someone was hired for the position of
director of real estate at RDI?

A. I can't answer that question. 1 don't
recall.

Q. At any point in that time frame did it
ever occur to you that if a person was hired for the
position of director of real estate at RDI, they
would by virtue of having that position weigh in on
whether to sign a contract with Edifice?

A. I don't know if I was thinking about
that.

Q. Okay. What's your best recollection as
to why you said what you said in this May 28 email
that before hiring anyone, you think we need to get
Edifice's agreement signed?

A. I believe I testified I don't recall
what I was thinking when I wrote this.

Q. Okay. Let's look at the first page of
Exhibit 156.

You see at the bottom of the first page

there's an email response from your brother to your
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email that we just discussed. In fact, this is one

at which we've looked previously.

A. Right. Right.

Q. Okay. So then let's go to your email
reply in the middle of the first page of
Exhibit 156. It's the one dated June 4, 2015, time
stamped 11:11 A.M. It reads as follows, quote,

"Frankly, I would be more concerned
about yourself and getting your
position squared away than dealing
with another employee. I think
your priorities are a little
skewed. What is the status of the
paperwork we sent to you
yesterday," close quote.

Do you see that?

A. Yes.

Q. To what were you referring, Ms. Cotter,
when you said to your brother that he should be --
that if you were him, you would be more concerned
about getting your position squared away?

A. I believe he was already told by the
board that he would be terminated.

Q. And to what were you referring in the

last sentence when you said,
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"What is the status of the
paperwork we sent to you
yesterday?"
A. it was the revised settlement.
Q. Meaning the revised settlement agreement

that Sussman sent to Streisand?

A. That's correct.

Q. And so was the point of this your
telling your brother that he needed to finalize the
settlement paperwork or he ﬁould be terminated --

MR. SEARCY: Objection.

BY MR. KRUM:
Q. —- and that he should be focused on --
let me finish.

Okay. Was the point of this email to
tell your brother he should be focused on completing
a settlement and preserving his job rather than hire
another employee?

MR. SEARCY: Objection. Misstates the
testimony, lacks foundation, is argumentative.'

THE WITNESS: Can you repeat the
question.

BY MR. KRUM:
Q. Sure.

MR. KRUM: Actually I'll have the court
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1 reporter read it back for you.

2 THE WITNESS: Okay.

3 (Whercupon the guestion was read

4 as follows:

5 "Question: Was the point of this

6 email to tell your brocther he

7 should be focused on completing a

B settlement and preserving his job

9 rather than hire another
10 employee?")
11 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Argumentative,
12 vague, lacks foundation.

13 THE WITNESS: No.

14 BY MR. KRUM:

15 Q. What was the point?

16 A, To focus on himself and -- to focus on
17 himself and try and save his job.
18 Q. By doing what?

19 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague, plus
20 argumentative.
21 MR. KRUM: It's actually an open-ended
22 guestion.
23 BY MR. KRUM:
24 Q. But go ahead, Ms. Cotter?

25 A, I don't put by deing what in here.
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MR. SEARCY: So, Mark, if you're close

to finishing, it's about 6:22 right now. .

MR. KRUM: Yeah. We should finish up by
6:30 1f not before.

BY MR. KRUM:

Q. Ms. Cotter, directing your attention to
your testimony of a moment ago to the effect that
your brother already had been told by the board that
he would be terminated, do you have that in mind?

A. Do I have my statement in mind?

Q. Yeah. I just want to direct your
attention to that.

A. Yes.

Q. And what was it you understood your
brother needed to do, if anything, as of June 4,
2015, to avoid being terminated?

A. I believe at that point there was a --
we had collectively agreed that we would resclve
this dispute and the lawyers put together a
settlement.

We told the beard that we resolved it
and that we're going to put it in the hands of the
lawyers. And we revised the settlement.

I don't know if it was —— I don't know

if we revised it because my brother asked for

Litigation Services | 800-330-1112
www.litigationservices.com

047

JA4195




MARGARET COTTER, VOLUME I - 05/12/2016

o @ 2 R W D

[y
o

11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22

24

25

Page 276
additional things or if we just decided to throw in,

you know, additional elements of the settlement, but
that's where we were on June 4th.

Q. When you refer to "this dispute,” you're
referring to the trust disputes?

MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague.
BY MR. KRUM:
Q. Well, let me ask an open-ended gquestion.
In your last response you referred to
resolving this dispute. ‘
To what were you referring when you said
"this dispute"?

A. There were elements of the trust dispute
and there were also some terms regarding going
forward in the company in the settlement.

Q. So what had transpired is that at a
reconvened -- a supposed reconvened telephonic board
meeting, Ellen reported that you and Ellen had
reached a resolution with your brother and that the
lawyers were going to prepare the paperwork; is that
correct?

MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague.
THE WITNESS: Which -- when are you
referring to?

e
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BY MR. KRUM:

Q. Okay. Do you recall that there was a
Friday where there was a board meeting that convened
in the morning or early afternoon and that that
supposed board meeting adjourned and supposedly
reconvened in a telephonic meeting at about
6 o'clock in the evening?

A. That's correct.

Q. And do you recall that on the
telephonic -- or on the telephone call, Ellen
reported that a tentative agreement had been struck

by you and her on one hand and by your brother on

the other?
A. I don't know if she said "tentative."
Q. Okay. Do you recall that she reported

that an agreement had been reached?

A. Yes.

Q. And the agreement was between you and
her on one hand and your brother on the other hand?

A. Yes.

Q. And that in Exhibit 156, when you asked
your brother, quote, "What is the status of the
paperwork we sent you yesterday," close quote,
you're referring to the paperwork that Sussman sent

to Streisand about the agreement that Ellen had
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i reported during the 6:00 P.M. telephone call we just
2 discussed, right?
3 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague, lacks
4 foundation.
5 THE WITNESS: No.
6 BY MR. KRUM:
7 Q. Okay. To what are you referring, then?
38 A. This is the revised settlement. This
g was not -- this settlement offer that I'm referring
10 to in this email was not the settlement that my
11 sister was referring to on that telephonic board
12 meeting.
13 Q. Okay.
14 MR. SEBRCY: So, Mr. Krum, I can tell by
15 the way my witness is slouching in her seat that
16 we're reaching the end here.
17 MR. XRUM: We'll be there in a minute.
18 BY MR. KRUM:
19 Q. So, that settlement -- that
20 documentation was not accepted by your brother,
21 correct?
22 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague.
23 MR. FERRARIO: Obviously. We're here.
24 THE WITNESS: That's correct.
25 Iy
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1 BY MR. KRUM:
2 Q. And then -- and then he was terminated
3 after that, right?
4 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague, lacks
5 foundation.
6 THE WITNESS: My brother was terminated
7 on June 12th.
8 MR. KRUM: Okay. So let's adjourn for
9 the day.
10 VIDECTAPE OPERATOR: This concludes the
11 deposition of Margaret Cotter, volume one, May 12,
12 2016, which consists of four media files.
13 The original media files will be
14 retained by Hutchings Litigation Services.
15 Off the video record at 6:30 P.M.
16
17 (Whereupon at 6:30 P.M. the
18 deposition proceedings were
19 continued to May 13, 2016 at
20 9:00 A.M.)
21 ¥ ok &
22
23
24
25
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1 REPCRTER'S CERTIFICATE
2
3 I, PATRICIA L. HUBBARD, do hereby certify:
4
5 That I am a duly qualified Certified
6 Shorthand Reporter in and for the State of California,
7 holder of Certificate Number 3400, which is in full

B force and effect, and that I am authorized to
9 administer caths and affirmations;
10
11 That the foregoing deposition testimony of
12 the herein named witness, to wit, MARGARET COTTER, was
13 taken before me at the time and place herein set
14 forth;
15
16 That prior to being examined, MARGARET
17 COTTER was duly sworn or affirmed by me to testify the
18 truth, the whole truth, and nothing kut the truth;
19
20 That the testimony of the witness and all
21 objections made at the time of examination were
22 recorded stenographically by me and were thereafter
213 transcribed by me or under my direction and
24 supervision;

25

Litigation Services | 800-330-1112
www.litigationservices.com

052

JA4200



MARGARET COTTER, VOLUME I - 05/12/2016

10

11

12

13

14

s

16

157

18

19

20

21

23

23

24

25

Page 281

That the foregecing pages conteain a full,
true and accurate record of the proceedings and

testimony to the best of my skill and ability;

I further certify that I am not a relative
or employee or attorney or counsel of any of the
parties, nor am I a relative or employee of such
attorney or counsel, nor am I financially interested

in the outcome of this action.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have subscribed my

name this 16th day of May, 2C16.

A .
J @lsead )G
/ AN &

PATRICIA L. HUBBARD, CSR #3400

yome

Litigation Services | B800-330-1112
www.litigationservices.com

053

JA4201



10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

JAMES J. COTTER, JR.,
individually and
derivatively on behalf
Reading International,
Inc.,

o}
Hh

e e e o et t mm® t t ot St st Tt et ot ot St St

Case No. A-15-718860-B
Plaintiff,
Coordinated with:
vs.
Case No. P-14-082842-E
MARGARET COTTER, et al.,

Defendants.
and

READING INTERNATIONAL,
INC., a Newvada
corporation,

Nominal Defendant

VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF MARGARET COTTER
TRAKEN ON MAY 13, 2016

VOLUOME I1

REPORTED BY:

PATRICIA L. HUBBARD, CSR #3400

054

JA4202



MARGARET COTTER, VOLUME II - 05/13/2016

g4 o U s W

w

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 368
suggestion by one of the directors, Bill Gould might

have said, "Jim, how about we keep you as president
and we get a new C.E.0.?2"

And I then said, "Jim, and then you can
get your training over the next five years and gain
more experience and possibly you become C.E.O. in
another five years."

And I remember my brother thanked
everyone and said he'll think about it.

Q. That's your recocllection as to how that
meeting ended?

A. Yes.

Q. And then the next meeting occurred how
much later?

A. I don't recall the date or how far it
was. But I believe at that meeting that there was
more discussion on his termination and the reasons
why.

And there came a time when there was
a -- a discussion about possibly ending it all,
meaning we would end the trust litigation, we would
end, you know, our disputes within the company.

And we dismissed the non-Cotters at some
point, and my brother, I and my sister sat in a room

and we talked about the company, working together.
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1 We talked about the —- the trust dispute that we
2 had.
3 Aand we -- T mean I think this was going
4 on for like three or four hours.
5 And we reached a settlemeﬁt that we all
6 agreed upon. We called the board back -- or the
7 board told us that we would reconvene at 6:00. And
at 6 o'clock we told the board that we all reached
9 an agreement.
10 And the board congratulated us and said
11 let's move forward.
12 Q. And then what happened?
13 A. I think that our =-- my lawyer, my
14 sister's lawyer and 1 -- mine, our trust attorney
15 put together a settlement offer that -- that we had
16 given him in writing saying this is what we all
17 decided.
18 He put it -- he put together an
19 agreement, and he forwarded it over to my brother’s
20 attorney, to his trust attorney.
21 Q. Sussman to Streisand, yours teo his?
22 A. Sussman to Streisand, correct.
23 Q. I'm sorry. Please continue.
24 A. And T don't —— I don't know what
25 happened with that settlement, but then there was a
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REPORTER'S CERTIFICATE

I, PATRICTA L. HUBBARD, do hereby certify:

That I am a duly qualified Certified
Shorthand Reporter_in and for the State of California,
holder of Certificate Number 3400, which is in full
force and effect, and that I am authorized to

administer caths and affirmations;

That the foregoing deposition testimony of
the herein named witness, to wit, MARGARET COTTER, was
taken before me at the time and place herein set

forth;

That prior to being examined, MARGARET
COTTER was duly sworn or affirmed by me to testify the

truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth;

That the testimony of the witness and all
objections made at the time of examination were
recorded Stenographicaily by me and were thereafter
transcribed by me or under my direction and

supervision;
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That the foregoing pages contain a full,

true and accurate record of the proceedings and

testimony to the best of my skill and ability;

I further certify that I am not a relative
or emplcyee or attorney or counsel of any of the
parties, nor am I a relative or emplcyee of such
attorney or counsel, nor am I [inancially interested

in the cutcome of this action.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have subscribed my

name this 17th day of May, 2016.
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Fhving Mavgaret the vote was his wy of "lardiag” the theee of you toowerk together, Asking o changs that 8 »
asomtarier, Again, vou need fo compromize your Twads” a3 thay have bean williog tedo. # you san ok
together than # becomes & nomeiisue and sveniaally vour angd ber RKids wil! have the vote, What's wrang with
shat?

F, For now you aeed ASAP to sgree onthe nomineey for the Board going forward, As Drold you moniths sga,
changss an necessary aad you need some quelity peape with expertise in fioids wherg % nesded and
ncking. You alds need to get rid of divighee parsons.

1 {do betieve that i you gan up what you sonsider “control”™ for now 10 work cosperatively withvyour sistars,
vaa wilf fing that v will have 8 B0 more commonality than you thisk. Yoo ol wand the same thingy: 2 vibant
growing dusioass. Aftee frust s sstablished your tan all go back e whers you want (o i,

& §ahink i you make the propte and reeded contessians, they seght well relent on haviag Goy in the
moatings as ey Lon enslly see thare is groat animosiy hetwaen the b of yie

S, Rotinm ! recopgnes you ark not dealing Frooy slrength right otsy sod be wdling by oosiprsrsie & they
are cationad and sessonalde people who have been hurt and demeaned and vy reed o balp hedl the feily,
theneine yous will by oy for the reat of yeasr B, they assd pour mother will be hart aand posie ohdodean will
iose p golden oppontunity,

. | o willing 1o help but Pd svueh prefor that you dend 3 B aad work R aut betwean you to busdd the taust
that s necessary e thet you don't lnse contrad of the company, as you grasantly have,
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1 lacks fcoundation. )
2 THE WITNESS: I didn't -- I don't recall
3 that part of the -- of the meeting after we were --
4 ended.
5 BY MR. KRUM:
6 Q. Do you recall that the -- that that
7 evening there was a conference call during which
B 'Ellen Cotter reported that she and Margaret on one
9 hand and Jim Cotter, Jr., on the other hand had
10 reached a tentative settlement that resolved the
11 trust and estate litigation and disputes between
12 them and included certain items relating to the
13 governance of RDI?
14 MR. SEARCY: Obijection. Vague.
15 THE WITNESS: I recall a phone call or
16 something saying they had reached an agreement. I
17 don't recall what they had reached or what it
18 involwved, but an agreement whereby they would work
19 together going forward.
20 BY MR. KRUM:
21 Q. And do you recall that as a result of
22 that, the vote to terminate Jim Cotter, Jr., as
23 president and C.E.O. was not had?
24 A, Correct, it was not had then.
25 Q. And do you recall that a week or ten
Litigation Services | 800-330-1112
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days later when ne agreement between Ellen and

Margaret Cotter on one hand and Jim Cotter, Jr., on
the other had come to pass or into existence that
the supposed board meeting was reconvened on

June 12, comma -- June 12, 2015 and that the vote
was had and he was terminated as president and
C.E.0.7?

A. Yes.

MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague, assumes
facts.

THE WITNESS: I recall that, yes.
BY MR. KRUM:

Q. And did you ever communications with
Ellen or Margaret Cotter during the course of these
supposed board meetings regarding whether a
settlement of any sort had been reached with Jim
Cotter, Jr.?

MR. SEARCY: Objection. Argumentative.
THE WITNESS: I may have.
BY MR. KRUM:

Q. What's your best recollection about what
vou communicated with them and what they
communicated to you?

A. T can'"t recall directly. My

communications by that time were all with Jim
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Cotter, Jr.

But I know there were other emails.

Q. And what communications did you have
with Jim Cotter, Jr., regarding a resolution with
his sisters during the time frame commencing with
the supposed board meeting of May 20, 2015, through
the supposed board meeting of June 12, 20157

MR. SEARCY: Objection. Argumentative.

THE WITNESS: I was told that -- and it
may have been by one of the Cotter sisters, that --
and in fact at a meeting, one of the last meetings
we had, my recollection is Bill Gould suggested that
Jim take the title of president, giving up the
C.E.C. He refused.

Then Margaret Cotter -- and that may
have been the May 29th -- said, "No. Keep the title
of C.E.0., and we'll have a committee, executive
committee, Margaret, Ellen, Jimmy" -- and initially
they said Guy Adams -- and he would keep the title
because it was important to him.

And I communicated with him. He --
usually my communications were not me advising. It
was him asking my advice or they'd ask my advice. 1
didn't want to lecture them and tell them what to

do.
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1 I -- I said to him at one point, "Take
2 it. You have nothing to lose. You're going to get
3 terminated if you don't. If you can work it out
4 with your sisters, it will go on and I will support
5 you. I'll even make a motion to see if the company
6 will reimburse the legal fees."
7 I did not want him to go.
8 And you, I'm sure, see emails in there
o to that effect. Even though I voted -- was voting
10 against him, I wanted him to stay as C.E.O.
11 BY MR. KRUM:
12 Q. If you wanted him to stay as C.E.O. --
13 A. Right.
14 Q. -- why did you vote against him?
15 A. Because I wanted him to stay as C.E.O.,
16 working with his sisters who were work -- willing to
17 work with him for the benefit cf the company.
18 And to me it was a wonderful soluticn,
19 and it had no adverse impact. If it didn't work
20 out, then we would deal with it. But he would work
21 with them and -- as an executive committee.
22 He told me that he didn't want Guy Adams
23 on there. And I told him, "I'll do my best to make
24 sure that he isn't on that; just you and your
25 sisters."
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And if they could work together, that's

all we wanted.

Q. Are you drawing a distinction, Mr. Kane,
between Ellen and Margaret working with Jim
Cotter, Jr., as distinct from working for him?

MR. SEARCY: Objecticn. Vague.

THE WITNESS: I don't think I ever made
that distinction, but I think he would glean and
learn a lot working with them.

After all they were the operating
executives of this company.

BY MR. KRUM:

Q. And did you understand that -- strike
that.

But that resolution did not come to pass
because Jim Cotter, Jr., rejected it, correct?

MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague.

THE WITNESS: He rejected it, yes.

(Whereupon Ms. Bannett left the

deposition proceedings at this

time.)

BY MR. KRUM:

Q. And he got himself terminated, right?

MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague.

THE WITNESS: Yes.
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That the foregoing pages contain a full,

true and accurate record of the proceedings and

testimony to the best of my skill and ability;

1 further certify that I am not a relative
or emplcyee or attorney or counsel of any of the
parties, nor am I a relative or employee.of such
attorney or counsel, nor am I financially interested

in the outcome of this action.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF¥, I have subscribed my
name this 4th day of May, 2016.

Y

s S ;’ (-r":/ /
(A :7), 7
;.—"‘b./,;.,ifdau_!’ L“%Zf—/“"’d‘-w( —~
/ S

PATRICIA L. HUBBARD, CSR #3400
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remain as executives of the company, then they were

going to have to put that aside when dealing with
company issues.

Obviously, as this e-mail speaks out, the
litigation or the circumstance surrounding litigation
raised all sorts of issues. But, vyou know, as I said
earlier, my view from a strict point —-- corporate
point of view was that, leaving aside the issue of
how it would affect shareholding, it wasn't really a
matter that it should impinge on the operation of the
company .

Q. Did you and Bill Gould meet with ——
separately with Jim Cotter, Jr., on the one hand,
and then Margaret and Ellen, either together or
individually, at Mr. Gould's offices, at some
point, in and around March of 20157

MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague.

A. I recollect those meetings. I can't say I
remember exactly when they were, but I'm sure they
would have been around that time.

BY MR. KRUM:

Q. Well, let me backtrack. How did those
meetings come to pass?

Al The —-- my memory is that there had been

some discussions between all of the independent
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directors as to how to progress matters. And that

we had resolved to establish -- I think this is the
occasion where a further statement was tc establish
this ombudsman, or whatever the term was, very
difficult to find a term for it.

But we wanted to say to all three Cotters
that we had resolved as independent directors to
ask me to do what I could to assist in progressing
matters as a representative of the independent
directors. So my recollection is that we asked Jim
and the others to come in separately to hear that
and to gauge their reaction.

Q. And by "the others," you are referring to
Margaret and Ellen?

A. Yes, I think that's right. I mean,
certainly we -—- I can't quite remember whether
Margaret was physically there, but certainly we
communicated with both cf them.

Q. What was -— what was communicated to —— to
Ellen and to Margaret, whether together or
separately?

A. I don't recollect the detail, but it would
have been along the lines of the resolution by the
independent directors to —— of the independent

directors having asked me to spend some time --
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1 THE REPORTER: I'm sorry. Directors to?
2 THE WITNESS: Of the independent directors
3 had asked me to spend some time, to see if I could
4 advance matters as a representative of the board
5 between the three Cotters.
6 BY MR. KRUM:
7 Q. When you say "advance matters between the
8 three Cotters," to what does that refer?
9 A. Well, I think I —- Bill and T were, and I
10 think all the independent directors assumed to
11 observe the difference between governance and
12 management. So I think we took the view that the
13 CEO and the senior executives needed some
14 assistance to move forward with plans and managing
15 the company.
16 So primarily, my view, it's a matter of
17 assisting in a corporate sense. But, again,
18 clearly there were the personal issues between the
19 Cotters, that were going to be there anyway. So
20 predominantly for me it was important not to
21 overstep the matter of —-- between governance and
22 management. And, secondly, to concentrate more on
23 doing, addressing corporate issues, rather than the
24 persconal issues.
25 Q. By "corporate," you are referring to plans
Litigation Services | 800-330-1112
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1 and strategic plans and budgets, those sort of Fage 36
2 things?

3 A. Yes. And ensuring that the executives

4 could function together as a team and not be —- and
5 put aside differences and act as proper corporate

6 executives.

7 Q. What did you and/or Mr. Gould tell Ellen
8 and/or Margaret, if anything, regarding the length
9 of time you would be serving in the role of
10 ombudsman?

11 A. The intent was to see if this approach

12 would work over a period of time until the end of
13 —— until June, end of June is my recollection. And
14 at that point, if we hadn't made progress, 1f the
15 prcgress was not made, then the matter would have
16 to be relooked at.
17 Q. When you say that was the intent, was that
18 timetable what was communicated by you and/or Bill
19 Gould to one or both of Ellen and Margaret?

20 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague.
21 A. I don't recollect specifically that, but
22 I'm sure that's what would have been said.
23 BY MR. KRUM:
24 Q. Was Mr. -- was Jim Cotter told that by
25 you?
Litigation Sexrvices | 800-330-1112

www.litigationservices.com

076

JA4228




TIMOTHY STOREY - 08/03/2016

Page 37

1 A. I don't specifically recollect saying
2 that, but I'm sure that would have been said. It
3 was a —— it was an important part of the decision
4 the independent directors made as to how to —-— how
5 to try and progress things.
6 Q. I'm sorry. What was an important part of
7 the decision that the independent directors made?
8 A. That we had a reasonably —— we had a
9 reascnable time frame in which we could see -- we
10 can see that the process was working, that they
11 were getting on, that things were moving forward.
12 Clearly, if that wasn't achieved, then we would
13 have to reloock at how we thought it best that the
14 management of the company should progress.
15 Q. Was it your understanding, at the time,
16 Mr. Storey, that each of the five non-Cotter
17 directors had agreed that you would serve in the
18 role as ombudsman to the end of June and that an
19 assessment would be made at that point?
20 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Lacks foundation.
21 It's vague. Calls for speculation.
22 A. It was the resolution we made.
23 BY MR. KRUM:
24 Q. When you say it was the resolution you
25 made, do you mean that was the —— that that was
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what the five non-Cotter directors discussed andPEiqe 7
agreed?
MR. SEARCY: Objection. Lacks fcundation.
A. It was what we agreed.

BY MR. KRUM:

Q. Did you ever hear or learn, oOr were you
ever told that any of the five non-Cotter directors
ever claimed that they had never approved you
serving the ombudsman role?

A. My answer to that is that they all agreed.
T would never have taken what I thought was a
pretty unusual position. I would not have taken
that role without clear endorsement by all of the
independent board members. I was getting —-- you
know, I had lots of other things to do. I didn't
really anticipate -- well, I was happy to do as
requested to see if we could advance things. But I
would never have taken the role had I thought there
was any -- any question of not all of us agreeing
to it.

Q. Did Mr. Adams ever say to you, at any
point in time, in words or substance, that he had
not agreed to you serving in the ombudsman role?

A. I don't recollect any such statement. 1In

fact, my recollection, he was on phone calls

Litigation Services | 800-330-1112
www.litigationservices.com

078

JA4230




TIMOTHY STOREY - 08/03/2016

O 0 J o ;s W

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

Page 65
paragraph?

A. I do.

Q. And do you see that in the third line, and
carrying over to the fourth line, you say as
follows: "As directors, we can't just do what a
shareholder asks or do what we think a shareholder
might want, not to mention that at the moment there
remains significant uncertainty as to the ultimate
identity of some shareholders."

Do you see that?

A. I do.

Q. Was it your view that one or more of the
non—-Cotter directors were, in part, or in total,
doing what they thought Ellen and Margaret wanted?

MR. SEARCY: Objection. Lacks foundation.
calls for speculation.

A. Ed Kane had expressed to me, on a number
of occasions, that we should -- that Margaret and
Ellen were the shareholders and that they had
control and that we needed to take direction from
shareholders. And my point was that -- or my view
to that was that we weren't to act at the direction
of shareholders and that we needed to make
decisions as a board.

And as I say in this part of the comment
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in this note, is to say we need to act as a board,

and we need to act properly to come to a decision.
And we need to address ourselves to the appropriate
question. So, yes, my view was, at times, Mr. Kane
was of the view that we would simply —— we should
just simply Dbe acting as director -- well, acting
in a manner consistent with what he believed the
shareholder required.

BY MR. KRUM:

Q. And by the shareholders —-- shareholder,
you are referring to Ellen and Margaret?

MR. SEARCY: Objection. Argumentative and
vague. Lacks foundation.

A. Well, he —— I think he took that view, but
as I say here, there remains uncertainty as to the
ultimate identity of some shareholders. It seemed
to me that it was a difficult proposition to do,
even if that was an appropriate response. At this
point, given litigation, we didn't know who the --
we didn't know for certain who the shareholder was.
BY MR. KRUM:

Q. Mr. Storey, I show you what previously was
marked at Exhibit 131.

A. Yes, I have read the document.

Q. Did you send Exhibit 131 on or about the
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Page 75

1 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We are cn the record.
2 The time is 12:03.
3 BY MR. KRUM:
4 Q. Mr. Storey, the court reporter has handed
5 you what's been marked as Exhibit 416. Take as
6 much time as you would like to review the document.
7 The only portion I'm going to inquire is on page 6
8 of 8. That is the approval of the minute section,
9 so you would want to read that.
10 (Depcsition Exhibit 416 was marked for
11 identification by the reporter and is
12 attached hereto.)
13 A. Yes, I have read that section.
14 BY MR. KRUM:
15 Q. Okay. First of all, do you recall any of
16 the RDI board of directors, on or about August 4,
17 2015, the supposed minutes from prior meetings,
18 including May 21, and 29, and June 12, and 30, were
19 presented for approval?
20 A. I remember in general terms, yes.
21 Q. Do you recall Mr. Cotter making comments
22 to the effect that the minutes were not -- were not
23 accurate and that insufficient time had been
24 provided to reviewing comment on it?
25 A. I do;
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Q. And what, if anything, did you say with

respect to the minutes?

A. From memory, my view was that we were
receiving complex minutes a long time after the
meetings were held. The minutes kad clearly been
reviewed by a number of parties, including, as 1
understood, legal counsel; and that, frankly, I
neither had the time nor the inclination to go
through and attempt to change them so they
reflected more accurately what I thought had
occurred,

My view was that they had been unprepared
purposely, and not a lot of benefit was going to be
there, if I sat there and spent a considerable
amount of time trying to adjust them. So I didn't
want to do so and simply abstained for that reason.

Q. When you said, Mr. Storey, that you
thought they had been prepared purposely, you mean
purposely for some purpose other than to simply
memorialize what transpired?

MR. SEARCY: Objection. Calls for
opinion. Calls for speculation.

MS. HENDRICKS: Join.

A. I thought that they had been written

carefully, to ensure they properly reflected the
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A. You mean internal counsel or external?
Q. Either ocne.
A. My recollection is that I spoke -- I think

I spoke to Craig Tompkins to see where are the
minutes, or maybe Bill Ellis, I guess. But my
recollection is that the reascn the minutes weren't
being distributed was that they were going to --
MS. BANNETT: I'm just going to interrupt
to the extent that it reflects any conversation
that you had with counsel, don't reveal any
attorney-client communications.
THE WITNESS: No. No. You can -- ycu can
jump in.
A. Anyway, so I was told that the reason that
I wasn't seeing, or the minutes weren't available
promptly, is that they were going through an
approval process and equally, I think so, was going
to the chairman.
THE REPORTER: Going to?
THE WITNESS: The chairman, chairperson.
BY MR. KRUM:
Q. So did you look at the draft minutes for
the meetings of May 21, and 29, and June 12, 20157
A. Yes, I recollect I loocked at them, and I

thought that it would take me a considerable amount
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of time to try and make them reflect what I thought

had been said. And it seemed to me that I could do
all that and probably get ncwhere. 2And it was
going to be a pointless exercise for me, sitting on
the airplane for three hours or whatever, and that
it seemed better to simply abstain.

MR. KRUM: I will ask the court reporter
to mark as Exhibit 417 a one-page document bearing
production number GA 1439. It purports to be an
October 1%th e-mail from Ed Kane.

(Deposition Exhibit 417 was marked for

identification by the reporter and is

attached hereto.)

AL Yes, I have read that.

BY MR. EKRUM:

Q. Do you recognize the ;ubject matter of
Exhibit 417?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. What's your recollection as to, if any,
independent of Exhibit 417, as to how it came --
whether and how -~ whether it came to pass that
Ellen Cotter was paid an extra $50,000 on account
of matters referenced in Exhibit 417?

A. My recollecticn is that it was a view that

the company had given incorrect advice on various

Litigation Services | 800-330-1112
www.litigationservices.com

084

JA4236



TIMOTHY STOREY - 08/03/2016

10

11

12

14

15

16

17

18

1¢

20

21

22

23

24

25

Page BS
STATE CF CALIFORNIA )
SS.

—_—

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES )

I, GRACE CHUNG, RMR, CRR, CSR No. 6246, a
Certified Shorthand Reporter in and for the County
of Los Angeles, the State of California, do hereby
certify:

That, prior to being examined, the witness
named in the foregoing deposition was by me duly
sworn to testify the truth, the whole truth, and
nothing but the truth;

That said deposition was taken down by me
in shorthand at the time and place ‘therein named,
and thereafter reduced to typewriting by
computer-aided transcription under my direction.

I further certify that I am not interested
in the event of the action.

In witness whereof, I have hereunto subscribed my
name.
Dated: August 10, 2016

G

l

GRACE CHUNG, CSR NO. 67246
RMR, CRR, CLR
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International, Inc.,

Plaintiff,
V3.
MARGARET COTTER, ELLEN COTTER,
GUY ADAMS, EDWARD KANE, DCUGLAS
McEACHERN, TIMOTHY STOREY,
WILLIAM GOULD, and DOES 1
through 100, inclusive,

pefendants.

and

READING INTERNATIONAL, INC., a
Nevada corporation,

Nominal Defendant.

(Caption continued on next
page.)
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Case No.
A-15-719860-B

Coordinated with:

Case No.
P-14-082842-E
Case No.
A-16-735305-B

VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF TIMOTHY STOREY

Wednesday, August 3,

2016

Wednesday, California

REPORTED BY:

GRACE CHUNG, CSR No. 6426, RMR, CRR,

Job No.: 323867

CLR

086

JA4239



TIMOTHY STCREY - 08/03/2016

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

Page 66
in this note, is to say we need to act as a board,

and we need to act properly to come to a decision.
And we need to address ourselves to the appropriate
question. So, yes, my view was, at times, Mr. Kane
was of the view that we would simply —- we should
just simply be acting as director -- well, acting
in a manner consistent with what he believed the
shareholder required.

BY MR. KRUM:

Q. And by the shareholders -- sharehclder,
you are referring to Ellen and Margaret?

MR. SEARCY: Objection. Argumentative and
vague. Lacks foundation.

A. Well, he —— I think he tock that view, but
as I say here, there remains uncertainty as to the
ultimate identity of some shareholders. It seemed
+o me that it was a difficult proposition to do,
even if that was an appropriate response. At this
point, given litigation, we didn't know who the —-
we didn't know for certain who the shareholder was.
BY MR. KRUM:

Q. Mr. Storey, I show you what previously was
marked at Exhibit 131.

A. Yes, I have read the document.

Q. Did you send Exhibit 131 on or about the

Litigation Services | 800-330-1112
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Page 67
date it bears, May 20, 20157

A. I did.
Q. At the end of the first paragraph, you
refer to Guy's apparent view that no discussion is

necessary. Do you see that?

A. I do.
Q. To what does that refer?
A. I think the sequence here is that I spoke

to Doug McEachern, and as I said earlier, he
proffered his view, and I said to him, "You should
talk to our lawyer to understand our duties as
directors," which is why I have given him Neil --
Neil's number.

And, seccndly, I assume or I suspect that
this e-mail follows the discussion I had with Guy,
that I discussed earlier, about Guy's -- about his
view, even as both Ed and Guy were of the view that
there was no point in any discussicn at all, that
the matter was simply going to be put, and that was
that.

Q. Let me show you what previously has been
marked as Exhibit 98.

A. You wish me to read this document?

Q. Let me ask you a question first, and you

can take such time as you wish to read it.

Litigation Services | 800-330-1112
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STATE OF CALIFORNIA }

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES )

I, GRACE CHUNG, RMR, CRR, CSR No. 6246, a
Certified Shorthand Reporter in and for the County
of Los Angeles, the State of California, do hereby
certify:

That, prior to being examined, the witness
named in the foregoing deposition was by me duly
sworn to testify the truth, the whole truth, and
nothing but the truth;

That said depositicn was taken down by me
in shorthand at the time and place therein named,
and thereafter reduced to typewriting by
computer-aided transcription under my direction.

1 further certify that I am not interested
in the event of the action.

In witness whereof, I have hereunto subscribed my
name.

Dated: August 10, 2016

GRACE CHUNG, CSR NO. 5745
RMR, CRR, CLR
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EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY,

JAMES J. COTTER, JR.,
derivatively on behalf of

Reading International, Inc.,

Plaintiff,
vs.

MARGARET COTTER, ELLEN
COTTER, GUY ADAMS, EDWARD
KANE, DOUGLAS McEACHERN,
TIMOTHY STOREY, WILLIAM
GOULD, and DOES 1 through
100, inclusive,

Defendants,
and

READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.,

a Nevada corporation,

Nominal Defendant.

Complete caption, next page.
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NEVADA

Case No.
A-15-719860-B

Case No.
P-14-082942-E

Related and
Coordinated Cases

VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF GUY ADAMS

LOS ANGELES, CALIFORNIA

FRIDAY, APRIL 29,

VOLUME 11

JOB NUMBER 305149

2016

REPORTED BY: LORI RAYE, CSR NO. 7052
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(Exhibit 82 was marked for

identification.)

THE WITNESS: Yes, I remember this.
BY MR. KRUM:

Q. You recognize Exhibit 8272

A. Yes.

Q. This is an email exchange you had with
Mr. Kane on May 18 and 19?

A. Yes.

Q. During the telephone conve;sation you had
with him on May -- Sunday or Monday, May 17 or 18,
did the two of you discuss other motions?

A. Evidently not.

Q. What was your understanding as of the
date of -- as of May 18 and 19, what the other
motions were or might be?

A. Well, there were like two other motioné.
One was the removal of Jim Junior as CEO and
president. Another motion —-- there were three
motions. One of them was to -- if you remove the
CEO, you have to appoint an interim CEO. And there
was & third motion which, T apologize, for the life
of me, T can't remember what it is. There must.bc
a board agenda or something with those items.

Q. The subject of interim CEQO, where did

Litigation Services | 1.800.330.1112
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Page 367
that stand as of May 19th?

A. Ellen, Margaret and Ed and Doug McEachern
were of the opinion, yes, on an interim basis.

Q. Yes what?

A. Yes to Guy Adams being the interim CEO on
a short-term basis.

Q. What about Ed Kane?

A. As interim?

Q. Okay. I'm sorry.

So how did you know that each of Ellen,
Margaret, Ed Kane and Doug McEachern were agreeable
to you being appointed CEO on an interim -- interim
CEO or a short-term basis?

MR. TAYBACK: Objection to the extent it's
asked and answered.

You can answer.

THE WITNESS: My recollection -- and I can't
remember if it was Ellen or Ed Kane —- one of them
told me and I followed up with a phone call to Doug
McEachern to confirm it. So that's how I knew.

BY MR. KRUM:

Q. Okay. When did you have the follow-up
phone call with Doug McEachern?

A. Help me —- what was the date of the

meeting, that meeting? We're up to May 19. What

Litigaticon Services | 1.800.330.1112
wWww.litigationservices.com
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Page 378
A. No.

Q. Did you have a practice of sitting down

and chatting with Ellen when you were in the

office?
A. Yes, when she'd come in my office.
Q. So directing your attention to those

three or four conversations when you were in RDI's
offices and you spoke to Ellen about the status of
the CEO search, doing them sequentially, if you're

able to do so, who said what in the first

conversation?
A. That's a real test of my memory but I'll
try.
I remember when she was -- we talked

about how we were paying for it and there was like
a psychological profile they would do in additicn.
Since we weren't hiring the feal estate guy, there
was some things about the financial arrangement
there. And she told me about that. That was one
conversation, prcbably one of the earlier ones.
Then the -- I had another conversation
with her about the candidates that were -- the
résumés that were coming in, and she commented to
me about the, quote, Some of them want more than a

million dollars.

Litigation Services | 1.800.330.1112
www.litigationservices.com
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Page 379

1 And then maybe the third conversation we
2 had about it was, I'm not on the committee, it's

3 not my business, but I gave her my thoughts about

4 it, as I mentioned yesterday in my testimony, that
5 the only concern I had was the person we get would
6 be with us for a while and not just looking to make
7 a notch on his belt, come aboard -- for example,

8 come aboard, stay for a year or two, sell an asset,
9 do something to jazz the stock up and then he would
10 leave and go to a bigger company; we'd be his

11 training ground.

12 And I just suggested to her that she look
13 for a candidate who would have longevity of these
14 candidates that she was looking at. When I had
15 that conversation, I had no notion she was putting
16 her name in the hat at the time. That was the last
17 conversation I had with her.

18 IT'm sorry. Then a pericd of time, which
19 I don't remember, went by and she says, You know,
20 I'm looking at these people and I think I can do
21 the job. T want to put my name in the hat.
22 I said, Well, you can't be on the
23 committee if you do that. She says, Yeah, I'm
24 going to resign. I said, Okay, it's up to the

25 committee.

Litigation Services | 1.800.330.1112
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CERTIFICATE OF REPORTER

STATE OF CALIFORNIA )
) SS:
COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES )

I, Lori Raye, a duly commissioned and
licensed court reporter for the State of
Czlifornia, do hereby certify:

That I reported the taking of the deposition
of the witness, GUY ADAMS, commencing on Friday,
April 29, 2016 at 9:10 a.m.;

That prior to being examined, the witness was,
by me, placed under cath to testify to the truth;
that said deposition was taken down by me
stenographically and thereafter transcribed;
that said deposition is a complete, true and
accurate transcription of said stenographic notes.

I further certify that I am not a relative or
an employee of any party to said action, nor in
anywise interested in the outcome thereof; that a
request has been made to review the transcript.

In witness whereof, I have hereunto

subscribed my name this 2nd] day of May 2016.
N Ay

LORI RAYE
CSR No. 7052
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NESDING

INTERMATIONAL

June 15, 2015

James J. Coflter, Jr.
311 Homewood Rd
Les Angeles, CA 30049

Dear Jim:

As you are avare, your Employment Agreement (the “Agreement”} with Reading international,
Inc. (the “Company’), and your employment with and position as President and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, has been terminated effectve Friday, June 12, 2015. Fursuant to
Section 11 of your Agreement, this termination obligates you lo resign immediately from the
Board of Directors of the Company. This letter shaill serve as notice that your failure o resign
from the Board of Direclors places you in material breach of your Agresment. You have 30
days from today to cure this breach by submifting your written resignation from the Board of
Directors. Failure to do so within 30 days wili resuit in you forfeiting any compensation or
benefits you might otherwise have been entitled to under your Agreemeant.

You must also immediately return any Company property, documents, or data that you may
have in your possession. You may arrange for the return of these llems, as well as for your
personal belongings at the office to be coliected, by having your attorney contact the Company’s
attorney, Gary MclLaughlin at Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld (310-728-3353}.

This letier is without prejudice fo any of the Company’s rights or remedies, all of which are

exprassly raservad.

Very Truly Yours,
IS ViV o
TR LY
Z}M“ fs{?{(— ;/:;__,_M.\,
N

EHan M. Cotter

Reading irtarnational, Ins.
4100 Cenger Divive, Suite F00
Los Angeles. Califarniz 58045

wyww.readingrdi.cem
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549
FORM 8-K

_ Current Report
Pursuant to Section 13 or 15{d) of the Securities Exchange Actof 1934

Brate of Report {Dste of Bavliest Event Reportedy: Jupe 12, 2048

READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.
{Fxact Name of Registran a8 Specified i ity Charter)

{State or Other Juriachetion of Incarperation)

1-Raxs G3- 388314
{Commssion File Nipnber) (LRA, F,mpi?\ger denttfication
D
£100 Center Drive
Suite 20
L.0s Angeles, Califorma 5045

{Address of Princips]l Executive {Zip Code)

Offices)
(213} 235-2240

{Repistrant’s Telephone Number, Including Area Code}

W
{Former Name or Former Address, if Changed Since Last Report

Check the a fate box helow if the Form 8K filing is intended to
simultansously satisfy the filing obligation of the rewstrant under any of the
following provisions {see Ueneral Instruction A2 below’:

L} ~ Writfen commaunizations pursnant to Rule 425 under the Sscurities Awt
{17 CFR 230425y
] Soliciting mterial pursuant 1o Rule 14a-12 arder the Bxchange Act (17
CFR 240.140-12).
& Pre-commencement conununications purseant to Rule 14d-2(b} under
the Exchange Act {17 CFR 240.14d-2(b}) {,
&3 Fre-conpmencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4{c) under
the Exchanpe Act (17 CFR 240.130-4(0}). .
exg 2 7
DATE (gt
SR R LK By
it s 500 QRIS A Kistf? 153400007 S04 1500002 10 20 1506 Mem PATRIC li [ B&Rﬁ s
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ITEM 5.02 Departure of Directors or Certain Officers; Election of

Direetors; Appointment of Certain Officers; Compensatory Arrangements
of Certain rers

On June 12, 2015, the board of directors {the “Board”) of Reading International,
inc. ("we,” “our” “us,” “Reading” or the “company”) terminated the employment
of fames }. Cotter, Ir. as our President and Chief Executive Officer, effective
immediately. The Company currently intends to engage the assistance of a
leading executive search firm to identify a permanent President and Chief
Executive Officer, which will consider both internal and external candidates.

On june 12, 2015, our Board appointed Ellen Marie Cotter, 49, Chairperson of the
8oard and the Chief Operating Officer of our Domestic Cinemas Division, to serve
as our interim President and Chief Executive Officer. No new compensatory
arrangements were entered into with Ms. Cotter in connection with her
appointment as interim President and Chief Executive Officer.

Elten Cotter has been @ member of the Board since March 7, 2013, and on
August 7, 2014 was appointed as its Chairperson. Prior to joining our company in
1998, Ms. Cotter spent four years in private practice as a corporate attorney with
the law firm of White & Case in Manhattan. She is a graduate of Smith College
and holds 3 juris Doctorate from Georgetown Law School. Ms. Cotter is the sister
of james 1. Cotter, Jr. and Margaret Cotfer.

Under Mr. Cotter, ir’s employment agreernent with the company, he is entitled to
the compensation and benefits he was receiving at the time of 8 termination
without cause for 3 period of twelve months from notice of termination. At the
time of termination, Mr. Cotter Jr's annual salary was $335,000.

Under his employment agreement, Mr. Cotter, v, is required to tender his
resignation as a director of our company immediately upon the termination of his
employment. After a request to do so, Mr. Cotter, Jr. has not yet tendered his
resignation. The company considers such refusal as a material breach of M.
Cotter, Ir’s employment agreement, and has given him thirty (30) days in which
to resign. If he does not do so, the company will terminate further severance
payments, as permitted under the employment agresment.

No new compensatory arrangements were enterad into with Mr. Cotter, Ir.in
connection with his termination,

ITEM 8.1 OTHER EVENTS

On June 12, 2015, Mr. Cotter, Jr. filed a lawsuit against us and each of our other
directors in the District Court of the State of Nevada for Clark County, titled
James ). Cotter, Ir, individually and derivatively on behalf of Reading
tnternational, Inc. vs. Margaret Cotter, et. al. The lawsuit alleges, among other
allegations, that the other directors breached their fiduciary duties in taking the
actions to terminate Mr. Cotter, Jr. as President and Chief Executive Officer of the
company and that

i A Y R AR e . 2 . s
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Margaret Cotter and Flian Cotter aided and abetted the breach of such fiduciary
duties of the other directors. The lawsuit seeks damages and other refigf,
including an injunctive order restraining and enjoining the defendants from
taking further action to effectuate or implement the termination of Mr Cotter, ir,
as President and Chief Executive Officer of the company and a detsrmination that
Mr. Cotter, ir's termination as President and Chief Executive Officer is legally
ineffectual and of no foree or effect. The company believes that nurerous of the
factual alfegations included in the complaint ase inaccurate and untrue and
intends to vigorously defend against the clalms in this action. The company has
been informed that the other directors intend te seek indemuification from the
Company for any fosses arising under the Jawsuit, in which case the company will
tender a claim under its director and officers liability insurance policy.
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ITEM B0 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND EXHBITS
) G The following exhibit is teluded with this Report zad
incorporated berein by reference:
Exhibit No. Description
99.1 press release of Reading International, Inc. of hane 1§,
2015
SHONATURES

Puasusd to the requiresents of the Secuvities Exchange Aot of 1938, e
Regisyant has ety caused iy Repoet 1o be sigansd on its bobalf by the
yndersigned, theveunts thily sutherted.

Dratad: fune READING (NTERNATIONAL, INC

I8, 38
By f5f Witham 3
Eliis
Withiam 1. Eifig
General Counssl and Secretary
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Exhibit 99.1

Reading International Announces Appointment of Ellen
Cotter as Interim Chief Executive Officer

Los Angeles, California, {Business Wire) June 15, 2015 - Reading International,
Ine. {NASDAQ:RDI) announced today that its Board of Directors has appointed
Ellen M. Cotter as interim President and Chief Executive Officer, succeeding
james | Cotter. Ir. The Company currently intends to engage the assistance of 2
feading executive search firm to identify a permanent President and Chief
Executive Officar, which will consider both internal and external candidates,

Ms. Cotter is the Chalrman of the Board of Directors of the Company and has
served as the senior operating officer of the Company’s US cinemas operations
for the past 14 years. in addition, Ms. Cotter is a significant stockholder in the
Company.

Ms. Cotter commented, “lames Cottey; §r, who servad as our Company's
Chairman and Chief Exscutive Officer for over 20 years, grew Reading
international, Inc. to a major international developer and operator of multiplex
cinemas, live theaters and other commercial real estate asvets. ook forward to
santinuing his vision and commitroent to these businesses as we move forward
1o conduct our search for our next Chief Executive Officer. | will work diligently to
ensure that this transition is seamless to alf of our stakeholders

The Company plans to report its second guarter Bnancial results on or before
August 10, 2015,

About Ellan Cotter

Fllen M. Cotter has been a member of our Company’s Board of Birectors since
March 2013, and in August 2014 was appointed as Chairman of the Board. She
joined Reading international, inc. in 1998 and brings to the position her 17 years
of experience working in our Company’s cinema operations, both in the United
States and Australia. For the past 16 years, she has served as the senior aperating
officer of our Company’s domestic tinema operations. Ms, Cotter is a graduate of
Smith College and holds a Juns Doctorate from Geprgetown Law School, Prior to
joining our Company, Ms. Cotter was a corporate attorney with the law firm of
White & Case in New York, New York.

About Reading international, fnc.
Reading international (hitp://www.readingrdi.com} is in the business of owning
and operating cinemas and developing, owning and operating real estate assets.
Dur business consists primarily of:

*the development, ownership and operation of muitiplex cinemas in the
United States, Australia and New Zealand; and

=the development, ownership, and operation of retail and commerdial real
estate in Australia, New Zealand, and the United States, including
entertainment-themed retail canters {"ETRC®) in Australia and New Zealand
and live theater assats in Manhattan and Chicago in the United States,

Reading manages its worldwida business under various different brands:

Jreveepens AR e
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=iy the United States, under the
o Resding brand (http:/fwew readingoinenasus.com}; _
o Angelika Film Center brand (http:/fwww angelikafiimceentercom);
o Consolidatad Theatres brand {bttpi/Avww.consolidatedtheatres.coml
o City Cinemas brand (h;g):ﬂwww.ciminemas.mm};
o Beekman Theatre hrand {httpi//www.beskmantheatre comb
o The Paris Theatre brand {hitp://wweatheparistheatre com}y
o Liberty Theatres brand (hitp/flibecytheatrosusa.com/); and
o Village £ast Cinema brand fRitpy/fvillagesasitinemacom}

=i Austraila, undsr the
o Reading brand {bttp/hwwwreadingtinemas.com.ag); and
o Newmarket brand {fatpy/freadingnawmarbet.com. aul _
o Red Yargd Entertuinmest Contre {(hilp/ wnw radyardicomaaug

=in Yew Zealand, ander the
o Reading brand (g e resdingeinemas co.ny;
o Rialio braved {htpf fwoww sl col :
o Reading Properties brand {http/freadingproperties.conil
o Courtenay Central brand {ittpsfwwwosadingosurionay oo sl
0 Steer s’ Beer rostirant beaved {hivpffdeernbesnasnzl)

hMagls Contants
Arglrze Matyoaynskl
Tel 213-435-2240

Rito ey son gonArchivesindnar At T HHAIEUNONY MR T BN S DR (Bt 4008 T teen
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DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

JAMES J. COTTER, JR.
individually and derivatively
on behalf of Reading
International, Inc.,

Plaintiff,

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
VS. ) Index No. A-15-179860-B
)
MARGARET COTTER, ELLEN )
COTTER, GUY ADAMS, EDWARD )
KANE, DOUGLAS WILLIAM GOULD, )
and DOES 1 through 100, )
inclusive, )

)

Defendants. )

READING INTERNATIONAL, TINC.,
a Nevada corporation,

Nominal Defendant.

VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITICN COF ELLEN COTTER
New York, New York

Thursday, June 16, 2016

Reported by:
MICHELLE COX
JOB NO. 316936

123

JA4280



ELLEN COTTER - 06/16/2016

10

11

13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21

22

24

25

Page 175
MR. TAYBACK: Objection. Asked and
answered.
A No.
Q Se when you use the same phraseology

status to refer to the president and CEO in
Item 1 as you use to refer to Craig Tomkins and
Robert Smerling in Item 6, and yourself and
Margaret Cotter in Item 7, were you attempting
to obscure or conceal the fact that Item 1 was
actually about terminating Jim Cotter as
president and CEO?

MR. TAYBACK: Objection; argumentative,
compound .

You can answer.
A I mean, there was no intention on my part
to deceive anybody.
Q Well, in point of fact, prior to
distributing Exhibit 338, you already had had
discussions with Ed Kane, Guy Adams,
Doug McEachern and Margaret Cotter about
terminating Jim Cotter, Jr. as president and
CEO, correct?
A Prior to this meeting we did have
discussions about whether Jim would remain as

the CEO and president.

Litigation Services | 1.800.330.1112
www.litigationservices.com
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Q Well, you had discussions with each of --
Guy Adams, Ed Kane, Doug McEachern and
Margaret Cotter about terminating Jim Cotter,
Jr. as CEO prior to distributing Exhibit 338 on
May 19th, correct?

MR. TAYBACK: Objection. HAsked and

answered.
A Yes.
Q You had no such discussions with

Tim Storey, correct?

A I did have discussions with Tim Storey.

Q What discussions did you have with

Tim Storey and when did you have them?

A I had had discussions with Tim Storey
about Jim and his performance.

Q Okay. The question is: What discussions
did you have with Tim Storey, if any, prior to
distributing Exhibit 338 on May 19, 2015, about
terminating Jim Cotter, Jr. as president and
CEO?

A I don't remember the specific discussion
that I had with Tim.

Q Did you have any conversation with

Tim Storey prior to distributing Exhibit 338 on

May 19, 2015, in which the subject of

Litigation Services | 1.800.330.1112
www.litigationservices.com

125

JA4282



ELLEN COTTER - 06/16/2016

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 256
CERTIFICATE
STATE OF NEW YORK )
:ss

COUNTY OF NEW YORK }

I, MICHELLE COX, a Notary Public within
and for the State of New York, do hereby
certify:

That ELLEN CO17ER, the witness whose
deposition is hereinbefcre set forth, was duly
sworn by me and that such deposition is a true
record of the testimony given by the witness.

I further certify that I am not related to
any of the parties to this action by blood or
marriage, and that I am in no way interested in
the outcome of this matter.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, T have hereunto set my

hand this 29th day of June 2016.

Wﬁm

MICHELLE COX, CLI{

Litigation Services | 1.800.330.1112
www.litigationservices.com
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EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

JAMES J. COTTER, JR.,
derivatively on behalf of
Reading International, Inc.,
Case No.
Plaintiff, A-15-719860-B
vVS.

MARGARET COTTER, ELLEN
COTTER, GUY ADAMS, EDWARD
KANE, DOUGLAS McEACHERN,
TTMOTHY STOREY, WILLIAM
GOULD, and DOES 1 through
100, inclusive,

Case No.
P-14-082942~-E

Related and

Coordinated Cases

Defendants,
and

READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.,
a Nevada corpocration,

Nominal Defendant.

et e M e e e M et et et et e e T taet et et e e e e

Complete caption, next page.

VIDEQTAPED DEPOSITION OF GUY ADAMS
LOS ANGELES, CALIFORNIA
THURSDAY, APRIL 28, 2016

VOLUME I

REPORTED BY: LORT RAYEZ, CSR NO. 7052

JOB NUMBER: 305144
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Page 98
time?

A. I strongly suspected she had spoken with
Ed Kane.

Q. And had either you or Ed Kane spoken to
Doug McEachern about that?

A I haven't, no. I den't know if Ed did.

Q. Okay. When was the first time you spoke
with Doug McEachern about either terminating Jim
Junior as CEO or about a subject of -- the subject
of an interim CEO?

A. That I talked to McEachern? I would say
it was maybe -- again, I can conly approximately
guess. Maybe twc weeks before the meeting.

Q. And you're referring to the May 18th --
May 21st meeting, it was, wasn't it?

A. Yes. I don't know the exact date, but
yeah.

Q. So what else did Ellen say and what else
did you say during this approximate hour-plus
breakfast meeting?

A. My recollection, we talked about Jim
Junior and the CEO pesition, and Ellen, I guess,
talked to other people because she was feeling that
there was support for Jim Junior to be removed.

Q. What did she say that caused you to

Litigation Services | 1.800.330.1112
www.litigationservices.com
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conclude she had talked to other people about Jim

Junior being removed?

A. I don't know specifically what she said.
Maybe it was innuendos that she maybe talked to
McEachern, maybe. But it wasn't specific.

Q. Did you ever learn after the fact whether
that was the case?

A. Considering McEachern, when I did call
him, like two weeks before the vote, he said he was
on board with that. I suspect she called and
talked to him. I sure didn't. So I suspect -- T
suspect she did or maybe Ed Kane did. I don't
know.

Q. What else, if anything, did you discuss
with Ellen Cotter at the breakfast meeting at the
Peninsula in April?

A. Nothing further that I can remember at
this time.

Q. What, if anything, did she say about why
she wanted Jim Junior removed as CEO?

A, I think she felt he wasn't doing an
adeguate jcb as CEO.

.Q. Excuse me. My question is, what did she
say?

A. What did she say about -- I'm sorry.

Litigation Services | 1.800.330.1112
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CERTIFICATE OF REPORTER

STATE OF CALIFORNIA )
)58:
COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES )

T, Lori Raye, a duly commissicned and
licensed court reporter for the State of
California, do hereby certify:

That I reported the taking of the deposition
of the witness, GUY ADBMS, commencing on Thursday,
Apri; 28,2016, at 10:13 a.m.;

That prior to being examined, the witness was,
by me, placed under cath to testify to the truth;
that said deposition was taken down by me
stenographically and thereafter transcribed;
that said deposition is a complete, true and
accurate transcription of said stencgraphic notes.

T further certify that I am not a relative or
an employee of any party to said action, nor in
anywise interested in the outcome thereof; that a
request has been made to review the transcript.

In witness wherecof, I have hereunto
subscribed my name this 2ndg} day of May 2016.

Nl
LORI RAYE
CSR No. 7052

240
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DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

JAMES J. COTTER, JR.,
individually and
derivatively on behalf
Reading International,
Inc.,

Plaintiff,

V5.

MARGARET COTTER, =t al.

Defendants.

ana

of

READING INTERNATIONAL,
INC., & Nevada
corporation,

Neominal Defendant

)
)

)
}
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
}
)
)
)
)

Case No.

A-15-719860-B

Coordinated with:

Case No.

P-14-082942-E

VIDEQTAPED DEPOSITION OF WILLIAM GOULD

TAKEN ON JUNE 8,

VOLUME 1

JOB NUMBER 315485

REFORTED BY:

PATRICIA L. HUBBARD, CSR #3400

2016
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~ Margaret on one hand and Jim Cotter, Jr., on the

other hand, right?
A. Cecrrect.

Q. And then somebody moved and seconded the

motion to terminate Jim Cotter, Jr.; is that right?
A. Yes.
Q. And then a vote was had, and as among

the non-Cotter directors, each of Messrs. Kane and

Adams and McEachern voted to terminate?

A. That's correct.

Q And you and Mr. Gould voted against?
A. Yes.

Q And did Ellen and Margaret Cotter vote

or did they recuse themselves?

A. I don't remember.

Q. And do you recall that at that meeting
Ellen Cotter stated that it was -- Jim was required
by the terms of his executive employment agreement
to resign as a director if he were terminated as an
cfficer?

A. At that meeting I -— I'm not sure 1
remember at that meeting, but I do remember that
very well.

Q. And what did you say in response?

A. I said I didn't believe he was obligated

Litigation Services | 800-330-1112
www.litigationservices.com
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to resign as a director.

Q. And what was your explanation for that,

if any?
A. Well, I drafted the -- I drafted the
contract with -- with Jim. And it did say in there

he would resign. But what we intended that to mean
was his position as president.

He had been on this board for many
years. I mean it had no bearing at all, in my
opinion, on his reguirement that he resign as a
director.

Q. Did you communicate that view to -- you
communicated that view at a directors meeting?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you ever communicate that view to
Akin Gump lawyers?

A. Yes.

Q. Was that before or after Ellen Cotter on
or about June 15 sent a letter to Jim Cotter, Jr.,
demanding his resignation as a director?

MR. HELPERN: Objection. Form, lacks
foundaticn, assumes facts.

MR. SWANIS: Join.

THE WITNESS: Well, I want the —-—- I want

to just correct one thing.

Litigation Services | 800-330-1112
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I may have -- I may have been too glossy
on this one point. T communicated to Akin Gump, but

not directly. I think it was through Ellen and

Craig.

it was,

They asked my opinion. 2nd I told them what

that he was not obligated, in my opinion, to

resign as a director.

BY MR. EKRUM:

Q.

> O PO Fe P e

Okay. Thanks.

And my question is --

Yes.

-- when did that happen?

Shortly after the termination.
HWas it the same day?

I don't remember.

Was it the following Monday?

I can't recall the exact day 1t was.
Was it in person or by telephone?
I don't remember.

MR. KRUM: Okay. We're about out of

tape, so why don't we adjourn for the day.

MR. RHOW: Thank you.
MR. KRUM: Thank you for your time.
THE WITNESS: Thank you.

VIDEOTAPE OPERATOR: This concludes the

ceposition of William Gould, wvolume one, June 8,

Litigation Services | 800-330-1112
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1 REPORTER'S CERTIFICATE
2
3 I, PATRICIA L. HUBBARD, do hereby certify:
4
5 That I am a duly gualified Certified
6 Shorthand Reporter in and for the State of California,
7 holder of Certificate Number 3400, which is in full
8 force and effect, and that I am authorized to
9 administer oaths and affirmations;
10
11 That the fcregoing deposition testimony of
12 the herein named witness, to wit, WILLIAM GOULD, was
13 taken before me at the time and place herein set
14 forth;
15
16 That prior to being examined, WILLIAM
17 GOULD was duly sworn or affirmed by me to testify the
1B truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth;
19
20 That the testimony of the witness and all
21 objections made at the time of examination were
22 recorded stenocgraphically by me and were thereafter
23 transcribed by me or under my direction and
24 supervision;
25
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That the foregoing pages cocntain a full,

true and accurate record of the proceedings and

testimony to the best of my skill and ability;

I further certify that I am not a relative
or employece or attorney or ccunsel of any of the
parties, nor am I a relative or employee of such
attorney or counsel, nor am I financially interested

in the outcome cf this action.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have subscribed my

name this 13th day of June, 2016.

-

Y
A s

A IR o 7
Tl i el lanced]

‘f VAR

-{ [

PATRICIA L. HUBBARD, CSR #3400

- 5
P
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DEC
MARK G. KRUM (Nevada Bar No. 10913)
MKmum@LRRC.com

LEWIS ROCA ROTHGERBER CHRISTIE LLP

3993 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 600
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169

(702) 949-8200

(702) 949-8398 fax

Attorneys for Plaintiff
James J. Cotter, Jr.

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

JAMES J. COTTER, JR., individually and
derivatively on behalf of Reading International,
Inc.

Plaintiff,
V.

MARGARET COTTER, ELLEN COTTER,
GUY ADAMS, EDWARD KANE, DOUGLAS
McEACHERN, WILLIAM GOULD, JUDY
CODDING, MICHAEL WROTNIAK, and
DOES 1 through 100, inclusive,

Defendants.

and

READING INTERNATIONAL, INC., a Nevada
corporation;

Nominal Defendant.

T2 PARTNERS MANAGEMENT, LP, a
Delaware limited partnership, doing business as
KASE CAPITAL MANAGEMENT, et al.,

Plaintiffs,
Vs,

MARGARET COTTER, ELLEN COTTER,
GUY ADAMS, EDWARD KANE, DOUGLAS
McEACHERN, WILLIAM GOULD, JUDY
CODDING, MICHAEL WROTNIAK, CRAIG
TOMPKINS, and DOES 1 through 100,
inclusive,

2011077779 1

CASE NO. A-15-719860-B
DEPT. NO. XI
Coordinated with:

CASE NO. P-14-082942-E
DEPT. NO. X1

CASE NO. A-16-735305-B
DEPT. NO. X1

Jointly administered

DECLARATION OF PLAINTIFF
JAMES J. COTTER, JR. IN

OPPOSITION TO ALL INDIVIDUAL

DEFENDANTS' MOTIONS FOR

PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT

(AND GOULD JOINDERS)

|Business Court Requested: [EDCR 1.61]
[Exempt From Arbitration: declaratory

relief requested; action in equity]
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Defendants.

and

READING INTERNATIONAL, INC,, a
Nevada corporation,

Nominal Defendant.

1, James J. Cotter, Jr. hereby declare, under the penalty of perjury and the laws of Nevada,
as follows:

1. I am over cighteen (18) years of age. I have personal knowledge of the facts
contained in this declaration, except on those matters stated upon information and belief, and as to
those matters, I believe them to be true. If called upon to testify as to the contents of this
declaration, I am legally competent to do so in a court of law.

2 I am the Plaintiff in the above-captioned action. I am, and at all times relevant
hereto was, a shareholder of RDI T have been a director of RDI since on or about March 21, 2002.
I have been involved in RDI management since mid-2005, I was appointed Vice Chairman of the
RDI board of directors in 2007 and President of RDI on or about June 1, 2013. I was appointed
CEO by the RDI Board on or about August 7, 2014, immediately after James J. Cotter, Sr. (JIC,
Sr.) resigned from that position. I am the son of the late JIC, Sr., and the brother of defendants
Margaret Cotter (“MC”) and Ellen Cotter (“EC™). I presently own approximately 560,186 shares
of RDI Class A non-voting stock and options to acquire another 50,000 shares of RDI Class A
non-voting stock. I am also the co-trustee and beneficiary of the James J. Cotter Living Trust,
dated August 1, 2000, as amended (the "Trust"), which owns 2,115,539 shares of RDI Class A
(non-voting) stock and 1,123,888 shares of RDI Class B (voting) stock. The Trust became
irrevocable upon the passing of JJC, Sr. on September 13, 2014.

3. 1 submit this declaration in support of the oppositions to all of the motions for
summary judgment filed by one or more of the individual defendants in this action.

4. Nominal defendant Reading International, Inc. (RDI or Company) is a Nevada

corporation and is, according to its public filings with the United States Securities and Exchange

2011077779 1 2
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Commission (the "SEC"), an internationally diversified company principally focused on the
development, ownership and operation of entertainment and real estate asscts in the United States,
Australia and New Zealand. The Company operates in two business segments, namely, cinema
exhibition, through approximately 58 multiplex cinemas, and real cstate, including real estate
development and the rental of retail, commercial and live theater assets. The Company manages
world-wide cinemas in the United States, Australia and New Zealand. RDI has two classcs of
stock, Class A stock held by the investing public, which stock exercises no voting rights, and
Class B stock, which is the sole voting stock with respect to the election of directors. An
overwhelming majority (approximately eighty percent (80%)) of the Class A stock is legally
and/or beneficially owned by shareholders unrelated to me, EC or MC. Approximately seventy
percent (70%) of the Class B stock is subject to disputes and pending trust and estate litigation in
California between EC and MC, on the one hand, and me, on the other hand, and a probate action
in Nevada, Of the Class B stock, approximately forty-four percent (44%) is held in the name of the
Trust. RDI is named only as a nominal defendant in this derivative action.

5. 1 signed a verification of a Second Amended Verified Complaint (the “SAC”) in

this action. T stand by the substantive allegations of the SAC and incorporate them herein by

reference.
The Position of CEO at RDI
6. Certain of the motions for summary judgment brought by the individual defendants

in this action suggest that I was appointed CEO of RDI in August 2014 after what amounted to no
deliberation by the Board of Directors. That is absolutely false. In fact, as early as 2006, James J
Cotter, St. (“JJC, Sr.”), then the CEO and controlling sharcholder of RDI, had communicated to
the RDI board of directors his proposed succession plan for the positions of President and CEO.
That plan was for me to work under the direction of JJC, Sr. to learn the businesses of RDI,
including by functioning in a senior executive role.

7. Since 2005, I was involved in most RDI executive management meetings and
privy to most significant internal senior management memos. As mentioned above, T was

appointed Vice Chairman of the RDI board in 2007. The RDI Board appointed me President of

2011077779 1 3
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RDI on or about June 1, 2013, and I filled those responsibilitics without objection by the RDI
board of directors.

8. Soon after I became CEO, my sisters, Ellen, who was an executive at RDI in the
domestic cinema segment of the Company’s business, and Margaret, who managed RDI’s limited
live theater operations as a third-party consultant, both communicated to me and to members of
the RDI Board of Directors that they did not want to report to me as CEQ. In fact, neither of them
previously while working for or with the Company effectively had ever reported to anyone other
than our father, JJC, Sr. Margaret in particular resisted and effectively refused to report to me until
she no longer needed to do so, following my (purported) termination as President and CEO of the
Company. They also co-opted at least one employee, Linda Pham, who claimed at some point in
2014 that 1 had created a hostile work environment for her, which accusation was not well-taken
and, in any event, moot with the passage of time by Spring 2015, as director Kane acknowledged
at the time.

Disputes With My Sisters

9. My sisters and 1 had certain disputes with respect to matters of our father’s estate.
The most significant and contentious dispute concerned who would be the trustee or trustees of the
voting trust that, following our father’s death, holds approximately 70% of the voting stock of
RDI According to a 2013 amendment to his trust documentation, Margaret was to be the sole
trustee. Pursuant to a 2014 amendment to his trust documentation, Margaret and I were to serve
contemporaneously as co-trustees. In early February 2015, Ellen and Margaret commenced a
lawsuit in California state court challenging the validity of the 2014 amendment to our father’s
trust documents (the “California Trust Action™).

10. My sisters and I also had certain disputes with respect to RDI. Most generally, they
disagreed with my view and approach of running RDI like a public company, including hiring a
senior executive qualified to oversee the development of the Company’s valuable real estate and,
more fundamentally, operating the Company to increase its value for all shareholders, not just its

value to the Cotter family as controlling sharcholders.
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Threatened Termination and Termination

11.  Late in the day on May 19, 2015, I received from Ellen, as the chairperson of the
RDI Board of Directors, an agenda for a supposed special meeting of the RDI board on May 21,
2015, two days later. I leamned that the benignly described first item on the agenda, “status of
president and CEQ,” apparently referred to a secret plan of Ellen and Margaret, together with Ed
Kane, Guy Adams and Doug McEachern, to vote to remove me as President and CEO of RDL
However, that meeting commenced and concluded without the threatened vote being taken.

12.  Next, on or about May 27, 2015, the lawyer representing Ellen and Margaret in the
California Trust Action transmitted to my lawyer in that action a document that proposed to
resolve the disputes between my sisters and me, including with respect to who would be the
trustee of the voting trust and whether Margaret and Ellen would report to me as CEO of RDL (A
true and correct copy of the May 27, 2015 document, which was marked as deposition exhibit 322,
1s attached hereto as exhibit “A.”)

13.  On Friday, May 29, 2015, the (supposed) special board meeting of May 21 was to
resume. That morning, before the meeting, T met with Ellen and Margaret. At that meeting, they
told me that they were unwilling to mediate or to negotiate any of the terms of the May 27
document described above. They also told me that if I did not agree to resolve my disputes with
them on the terms set out in that document, that the RDI Board of Directors would vote at the
(supposed) meeting that day to terminate me as President and CEO.

14.  The (supposed) special board meeting commenced on May 29 and the issue of my
termination as President and CEQ was the subject. At this (supposed) special meeting, or another,
McEachern pressured me to resign as President and CEQ. Eventually, the non-Cotter members of
the RDI Board of Directors met with my sisters separately from me. Following that, the majority
of the non-cotter directors, namely, Mcssrs. Adams, Kane and McEachern, advised me that the
meeting would adjourn temporarily and resume telephonically at 6 p.m. They further advised that,
if I had not reached a resolution of disputes between me and my sisters by the time the (supposed)

special meeting reconvened telephonically at 6 p.m. that day, they would proceed with the vote to
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terminate me, meaning that the three of them would vote to terminate me as President and CEO of
RDI.

15.  That afternoon, Ellen and Margaret again refused to mediate and again refused to
negotiate. Ultimately, I indicated a willingness to resolve disputes based on the document
provided, subject to conferring with counsel. At or about 6 p.m., the (supposed) special RD1 board
meeting resumed telephonicélly, at which time Ellen reported to the five non-Cotter directors that
we had reached an agreement in principle to resolve our disputes, subject to conferring with
respective counsel. Ed Kane congratulated us and made a statement to the effect that he hoped that
1 was CEO of the Company for 30 years. No vote was taken on my termination.

16. On or about June 8, 2015, I communicated to my sisters that I could not agree to
the document their lawyer had transmitted to my lawyer on or about June 2, 2015. Ellen called a
(supposed) special board meeting for June 12, 2015, at which meeting each of Messrs. Adams,
Kane and McEachern made good on their threat to vote to terminate me and did so.

Director Interest and Independence

17.  One or more of the defendants” motions for summary judgment claim that SEC
filings by RDI describe the non-Cotter directors as “independent,” that I signed one or more of
those SEC filings and that I therefore admit that those directors are independent for the purposes
of this action. That is inaccurate. The term “independent” as used in RDI’s SEC filings do not
refer to matters of Nevada law. It referred usually to the fact that, pursuant to the terms of the
Company’s listing agreement with NASDAQ, the stock exchange on which RDI stock trades,
directors meet the standard of independence of NASDAQ. None of the director defendants have
ever suggested to me that they understood use of the term “independent” in RDI’s SEC filings to
communicate anything other than that non-Cotter directors were not members of the Cotter family
which, in one manner or another, controlled approximately 70% of the voting stock of RDL As
among members of the RDI Board of Directors, the term “independent” was used historically to
refer to directors who were not members of the Cotter family.

18.  Ed Kane was a life-long friend of n:ly father, having met when they were graduate

students. Kane was in my father’s wedding and was a speaker at my father’s funeral. Over my
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lengthy tenure as a director at RDI, 1 observed Kane as a director of RDI acting at all times as if
his job as a director was to carry out my father’s wishes. Kane admitted to me that he was not
independent for purposes other than the NASDAQ listing agreement and suggested after I became
CEOQO that the Company would benefit from independent directors knowledgeable about its two
principal businesses, cinemas and real estate.

19. On the contentious issue between me and my sisters regarding who would be the
trustee(s) of the voting trust, Kane communicated to me that his view was that it was my fathers’
wishes that Margaret alone be the trustee, and he pressured me to agree to that. At one point in the
context of discussions regarding terminating me as President and CEO of RDI, Kane said to me
angrily that he thought I “f*#*cd Margaret” by the 2014 amendment to my father’s trust
documentation, which amendment made me a co-trustee with Margaret of the voting trust.

20.  Kane remains very close with my sisters, who still call him “Uncle Ed™ (which 1
ceased doing after joining RDI). They continue to get together socially, including for family meals
during holiday periods, which is what they admittedly did around the Christmas holidays in 2015.

21.  Guy Adams is a long time friend of my father. After Adams effectively became
unemployed, my father attempted to provide him work and income. Eventually, my father through
a company he wholly-owned entered into an agreement with Adams to pay Adams $1000 per
month, That company now is part of my father’s estate, of which my sisters are executors, such
that they are in a position to control whether Adams is paid that money or not. Adams also has
carried interests in certain real estate in which my father invested. My sisters as executors of my
father’s estate are in position to see to it that Adams is or is not paid any monies he is owed on
account of those carried interests.

22.  Prior to on or about May 2015, Adam’s financial condition and, more particularly,
his dependence on or independence from my sisters, in terms of his financial situation, had not
arisen as a subject. When I suspected that Adams had agreed with my sisters to vote to terminate
me as President and CEO of RDI, that raised the issue of whether he was financially dependent on
them. 1 now know that he is. I learned from Adams’ sworn declarations in his California state

court divorce case that almost all of his income comes from RDI and from one or more companies
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that my sisters control. Adams is not independently wealthy. 1 asked him about his financial
dependence or independence at the (supposed) May 21, 2015 special board meeting, at which time
he refused to answer.

23.  Michael Wrotniak’s wife Trisha was Margaret’s roommate in her freshman year of
college at Georgetown University. Margaret and Trisha have been life-long best friends starting
with their first year in college together. Michael also went to Georgetown University where he
met his wife Trisha and also developed a very close friendship with Margaret in college. Given
that Margaret only has a few friends, her relationship with Trisha and Michael is extremely
important. Margaret has spent a lot of time with Michael and his wife over the years, as all three
live in metropolitan New York City. Margaret became like an aunt to Trisha and Michael’s
children. My sister Ellen and mother also know Trisha and Michael very well, and they have all
attended social events together in New York, such as birthday and cocktail parties my sister
Margaret has hosted at her apartment in New York City. Ibelieve Margaret’s oldest child refers to
Trisha and Michael as Aunt and Uncle. Michael’s communication with me as a director has been
very guarded, which I understand to reflect his knowledge of the lawsuit and his close relationship
with Margaret.

24.  Judy Codding has had a very close personal relationship with my mother for more
than thirty years. (Ellen lives with our mother, who has chosen my sisters’ side in the disputes
between us.) Ms. Codding has become close with my sisters Ellen and Margaret. On October 13,
2015, over breakfast I had with her, she expressed to me that RDI is a family business and that the
only people who should manage it should be one of the Cotters and that she would help make sure
of that, whether it be Ellen or me. Her reaction to the offer to purchase all of the stock of the
Company at a price in excess of what it trades in the market (the “Offer”), first made by
correspondence dated on or about May 31, 2015, reflected Ms. Codding’s unwavering loyalty to
Ellen. Before the board meeting at which the Board was going to discuss the Offer, she indicated
to me that there was no way that the Offer should even be considered (clearly having spoken to

Ellen about it before the board meeting).
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25.  Bill Gould was a professional acquaintance and friendly with my father for years.
Repeatedly since my termination as President and CEO, he has said to me that he has acquiesced
as an RDI director to conduct to which he objects and/or to conclusions with which he disagrees,
stating in words or substance that he must “pick his fights.”

26.  For example, at a board meeting at which the board was asked to approve minutes
from the (supposed) special board meetings of May 21 and 29, 2015 in June 12, 2015, at which I
objected because the minutes contained significant factual inaccuracies, at which I voted against
approving the minutes and at which Tim Storey abstained, reflecting that he that too thought the
minutes inaccurate (as he testified unequivocally in deposition in this case), Bill Gould voted to
approve the minutes. When I asked him afterwards why he had voted to approve inaccurate
minutes, he said that, although he could not remember the meetings well enough to state that the
minutes were accurate, he thought the ultimate descriptions of action taken, meaning the
termination of me, the appointment of Ellen as interim CEO and the repopulation of the executive
committee, were accurate, and that he did not want to fight about them.

27.  Also as an cxample, Bill Gould admitted to me that he thought the process
deficient, and the time inadequate, to make a genuinely informed decision about whether to add
Judy Codding to the RDI Board of Dircctors. At the board meeting when that happened, he
described the decision to add her as a director as having been “slammed down,” but he acquiesced.

28. It is clear to me that Bill Gould effectively has given up trying to do what he thinks
is the proper thing to do as an RDI director, and is and since June 2015 has been in “go along, get
along” mode. He first failed to cause any proper process to occur regarding my termination, and
allowed the ombudsman process (by which then director Tim Storey as the representative of the
non-Cotter directors was working with me and my sisters to enable us to work together as
professionals, which process was to continue into June 2015) to be aborted. That, together with the
forced “retirement” of Tim Storey, apparently so chastened Bill Gould that he became unwilling to
take a stand on any matter in which doing so would place him in disagreement with my sisters. For

example, he has acknowledged that Margaret lacks the experience and qualifications to hold the
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highly compensated job she now holds at RDI, but Bill Gould did not object to it or the
compensation being given to her.
The Executive Committee

29. My sisters first proposed an executive committee as a means to avoid reporting to
me or, as a practical matter, to anyone, in the Fall of 2014. 1 resisted that exccutive committee
construct, which was not implemented at that time. As part of the resolution of our disputes that
they attempted to force me to accept in May and June 2015, described above, they included an
executive committee construct that would have had them reporting to the executive committee that
they, together with Guy Adams who is financially beholden to them, would control. As part of
their seizurc of control of RDI, in addition to terminating me as President and CEOQ, they activated
and rcpopulated RDI’s Board of Directors executive committee. That executive committee
previously had never met and never made a decision. After it was activated and repopulated on
June 12, 2015, it was used as a means to exclude me and then director Tim Storey, and to a lesser
extent Bill Gould, from functioning as directors of RDI and, in some instances, even having
knowledge of matters that were handled by the executive committee that historically and
ordinarily were handled by RDI’s Board of Directors.
The Supposed CEO Search

30.  When RDI filed a Form 8-K with the SEC and issued a press release announcing
the termination of me as President and CEO, RDI also announced that it would engage a search
firm to conduct the search for a new President and CEO. The board empowered Ellen to select the
search firm. Ellen selected Korn Ferry (“KF”). She explained to the RDI Board of Directors the
she selected KF because KF offered a proprietary assessment tool, which would be used to assess
the three finalists for the position of President and CEQO, which assessment she asserted would
“de-risk” the search process. The Board agreed. Ellen also told the Board that the three final
candidates would be presented to the Board for interviews. The Board agreed. Ellen selected
herself, Margaret, Bill Gould and Doug McEachern to be members of the CEO search committee,

which the Board accepted without substantive discussion.
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1 31.  After the CEO search committee was put in place and KF engaged, the full board

2 || received effectively no information about whether and how the CEO search was proceeding. In the
3 || time frame from August through December 2015, Ellen for the CEQ search committee provided
4 || approximately two reports, the latter of which was in mid-December which, as it turned out, was
5 || after the process had been aborted and Ellen selected, at least preliminarily. Tim Storey objected

6 || to the full board not being apprised of the status of the CEO search, prior to his forced

-1

“retirement.”

8 32.  Ultimately, in early January 2016, the CEO search committee presented Ellen as
9 |l their choice for President and CEO. They did not offer, much less present, three finalists to the
10 || Board for interviews. They did not have KF perform its paid for, proprietary assessment of the

11 || finalists, or of anyone. Before that Board meeting, at which Ellen was made President and CEO,

% 12 || the material provided to the Board effectively amounted to a memorandum prepared by Craig
g o 13 || Tompkins, which memorandum claimed to summarize the reasons for the CEO search committee
E g 14 || selecting Ellen. The stated reasons are reasons thay no outside candidate could bave met. The
%f § 15 |f stated reasons are reasons that do not approximate, much less match, the criteria that the CEO
;gu § 16 || search committee created and KF memorialized as the criteria to identify candidates and
% E 17 || ultimately select a new President and CEO. The stated reasons for selecting Ellen were, as I heard
ggg 18 || them explained at the January board meeting, effectively distilled into a single consideration,
O § 19 || namely, that Ellen and Margaret were controlling shareholders.

%% 20 33.  Although I did not agree with the termination of me as President and CEO, and
g% 21 || thought and maintain that it was improper, 1 had hoped that the CEO scarch committec would
3’;? 22 || conduct a bona fide search and provide to the board for interview three qualified finalists, as had

23 || been agreed. 1 now know that not only did that not happen, but that the CEO search committee
24 || terminated the search, and effectively terminated KF, after meeting with Ellen as a declared
25 |i candidate for the positions of President and CEQ. Independent of the results of that process, which
26 || at the time I asserted did not serve the interests of the Company, that the process was manipulated
27 || and/or aborted in my view amounts to abdication of the board’s responsibilities.

28
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Actions to Secure Control and Use It to Pay those Who Have It

34.  In April 2015, I learned that Ellen and Margaret had exercised options they held
personally to acquire RDI class B voting stock and that, with the advice and assistance of Craig
Tompkins, a lawyer who was a consultant to the Company, they sought to exercise a supposed
option in my father’s name to acquire 100,000 shares of RDI Class B voting stock. The factual
context for the effort to exercise the supposed 100,000 share option is that a majority of the voting
stock controlled by my father was held in the name of his Trust, of which the three of us were
trustees. Because of that, Ellen and Margaret could not properly vote that stock without my
agreement. The stock that was held—not owned—in my father’s estate, which was controlled by
Ellen and Margaret as the executors, approximated the amount of RDI class B voting stock held
by third parties, including Mark Cuban. The point of the effort to exercise the supposed 100,000
share option was to ensure that Ellen and Margaret as executors would have more class B stock
then third parties, including Mark Cuban.

35.  There were a host of issues faced by the Company due to the request of Margaret
and Ellen to exercise these supposed 100,000 share option. For example, one threshold question
the Company would bave needed to have answered was whether the option was legally cffective.
That question was not answered. Another threshold question was whether the supposed 100,000
share option automatically had transferred to my father’s trust upon his death. That also was not
answered, to my knowledge. Possibly due to such unanswered questions, the compensation
committee of the Board did not authorize the exercise of the supposed 100,000 share option in
April. Margaret and Ellen therefore delayed to the 2015 annual shareholders meeting. After the
executive committee (at Ellen’s request) had set the annual shareholders meeting for November
{meaning that as a board member I had no say on the subject) and the record date for it in October
2015, Ellen had Kane and Adams as two of three members of the compensation committee
authorize the request to exercise the supposed 100,000 share option, which was done in September
shortly before a hearing in the Nevada probate case. I understand they did so so that the 100,000
shares supposedly could be registered with the Company in the name of Ellen and Margaret as

executors prior to the record date. The Company received no benefit from this, in fact suffered the
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